
1

MEETING: AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

DATE: Wednesday 18th March, 2020

TIME: 3.00 pm

VENUE: Birkdale Room - Southport Town Hall, Lord Street, Southport, PR8 
1DA

Member Substitute

Councillor Robinson (Chair)
Councillor Roche (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Brennan
Councillor Cluskey
Councillor McGinnity
Councillor O'Hanlon
Councillor Pugh
Councillor John Sayers
Councillor Shaw
Councillor Sir Ron Watson

Councillor Bradshaw
Councillor Carr
Councillor Dowd
Councillor Marshall
Councillor Yvonne Sayers
Councillor Irving
Councillor Evans
Councillor Spencer
Councillor Lewis
Councillor Brough

COMMITTEE OFFICER: Ruth Appleby
Democratic Services Officer

Telephone: 0151 934 2181
E-mail: ruth.appleby@sefton.gov.uk

  

If you have any special needs that may require arrangements to 
facilitate your attendance at this meeting, please contact the 
Committee Officer named above, who will endeavour to assist.

We endeavour to provide a reasonable number of full agendas, including reports at 
the meeting.  If you wish to ensure that you have a copy to refer to at the meeting, 
please can you print off your own copy of the agenda pack prior to the meeting.

Public Document Pack



2

This page is intentionally left blank.



3

A G E N D A

1.  Apologies for absence

2.  Declarations of Interest
Members are requested at a meeting where a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or personal interest arises, which is not 
already included in their Register of Members' Interests, to 
declare any interests that relate to an item on the agenda.

Where a Member discloses a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, 
he/she must withdraw from the meeting room, including from 
the public gallery, during the whole consideration of any item 
of business in which he/she has an interest, except where 
he/she is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of a 
dispensation.

Where a Member discloses a personal interest he/she must 
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or staff member 
representing the Monitoring Officer to determine whether the 
Member should withdraw from the meeting room, including 
from the public gallery, during the whole consideration of any 
item of business in which he/she has an interest or whether 
the Member can remain in the meeting or remain in the 
meeting and vote on the relevant decision.

3.  Minutes (Pages 5 - 8)
Minutes of the meeting held on 18 December 2019

4.  External Audit Planning Report - 2019/2020 (Pages 9 - 62)
Report of the Executive Director Corporate Resources & 
Customer Services

5.  Financial Procedure Rules (Pages 63 - 
140)

Report of the Executive Director Corporate Resources & 
Customer Services

6.  Treasury Management Position to January 2020 (Pages 141 - 
148)

Report of the Executive Director Corporate Resources & 
Customer Services

7.  Internal Audit Charter and the Internal Audit Plan 2020/21 (Pages 149 - 
178)

Report of the Executive Director Corporate Resources & 
Customer Services



4

8.  Corporate Risk Management (Pages 179 - 
198)

Report of the Executive Director Corporate Resources & 
Customer Services

9.  Risk and Audit Performance (Pages 199 - 
232)

Report of the Executive Director Corporate Resources & 
Customer Services

10.  Exclusion of Press and Public
The following reports are not Exempt/Confidential, but 
include appendices which contain exempt information as 
defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A under 
Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972. Namely,

 Item 11 –Appendices 1 and 2

Members are therefore requested to indicate whether or not 
they wish to discuss any matters referred to in the exempt 
appendices and accordingly, consider passing the following 
resolution:

That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act, 
1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for 
any items of business which might involve the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act. The Public Interest Test 
has been applied and favours exclusion of the information 
from the Press and Public.

11.  Write Off of Irrecoverable Debts > £10,000 (Pages 233 - 
252)

Report of the Executive Director Corporate Resources & 
Customer Services



THIS SET OF MINUTES IS NOT SUBJECT TO “CALL-IN”

13

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

MEETING HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, BOOTLE
ON  18 DECEMBER 2019

PRESENT: Councillor Robinson (in the Chair)

Councillors Brennan, Cluskey, McGinnity, O'Hanlon, 
Pugh, John Sayers, Shaw and Sir Ron Watson

24. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Roche.

25. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal 
interests were received.

26. MINUTES 

Councillor McGinnity indicated that he had been unable to attend the 
previous meeting due to his having been admitted into hospital and had 
informed the Labour Group secretary and therefore, requested that his 
apologies for that meeting be recorded.

RESOLVED: That

(1) Councillor McGinnity’s apologies for the previous meeting be noted 
and recorded; and
 

(2) subject to the above amendment, the Minutes of the meeting held 
on 9 September 2019 be approved.

27. SUBMISSION OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORKING 
GROUP FINAL REPORTS TO COUNCIL 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer which sought approval of the submission of Overview and Scrutiny 
Working Group Final Reports and recommendations to Cabinet and then 
Council for final approval.

The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer presented the report and 
answered questions on provision of background papers and the difficulties 
scrutinising decisions where reports are exempt.

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 18TH 
DECEMBER, 2019

14

RESOLVED:

That approval be given for Overview and Scrutiny Working Group Final 
Reports and recommendations to be submitted to Cabinet and then 
Council for final approval and that the Constitution be amended 
accordingly.   
 

28. TREASURY MANAGEMENT POSITION TO OCTOBER 2019 

Further to Minute No. 20 of 9 September 2019, the Committee considered 
the report of the Head of Corporate Resources which provided a review of 
the Treasury Management activities undertaken to 31 October 2019.  This 
was the second of the ongoing quarterly monitoring reports provided to the 
Audit and Governance Committee whose role it is to carry out scrutiny of 
treasury management policies and practices.

The Service Manager – Finance, presented the report and answered 
questions thereon.

RESOLVED: That

(1) the Treasury Management update to 31 October 2019 be noted; 
and

(2) the effects of decisions taken in pursuit of Treasury Management 
Strategy and the implications of changes resulting from 
regulatory, economic and market factors affecting the Council’s 
treasury management activities, be noted.

29. CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT 

Further to Minute No. 22 of 9 September 2019, the Committee considered 
the report of the Head of Corporate Resources on the updated Corporate 
Risk Register, indicating that since the last meeting the Corporate Risk 
Register had been fully updated with no new risks identified or escalated 
from the service risk registers and no changes in the risk scores.

The Committee also considered the Corporate Risk Management 
Handbook which had also been updated to include a revised scoring 
assessment and was presented for annual approval.

The Chief Internal Auditor presented the report and answered questions 
thereon.

Arising from discussion, Members indicated that it would be helpful if 
Heads of Service could be invited to future meetings of the Audit and 
Governance Committee where significant risks were identified in their 
service area.  The Chief Internal Auditor indicated that he would consult 
with the Head of Corporate Resources on the feasibility of this suggestion. 

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 18TH 
DECEMBER, 2019

15

In addition, Members requested that the format of the risk register be 
reviewed to improve the internal and external accessibility of the 
document.

RESOLVED:  That

(1) the contents of the Corporate Risk Register, particularly the 
nature of the major risks facing the Council and the controls and 
planned actions in place to mitigate these be noted; and

(2) the updated Corporate Risk Management Handbook be 
approved.

 

30. RISK AND AUDIT SERVICE PERFORMANCE REPORT 

Further to Minute No. 23 of 9 September 2019, the Committee considered 
the report of the Head of Corporate Resources which provided details of 
the performance and key activities of the Risk and Audit Service for the 
period 6 September 2019 to 6 December 2019.

The Chief Internal Auditor presented the report and answered questions 
thereon.

RESOLVED: That

(1) the progress of the delivery of the 2019/20 Internal Audit Plans and 
the activity undertaken for the period 6 September 2019 to 6 
December 2019 be noted; 

(2) the revisions in the Annual Internal Audit Plan be approved; and 

(3) the contributions made by the Health and Safety, Insurance, 
Assurance and Risk and Resilience Teams in managing key risks 
be noted.

31. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED: That in respect of the following item of business:

(1) the press and public be allowed to remain in the room during 
consideration of the report which was not exempt; and

(2) under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of 
appendices 1, 2 and 3 to the report on the grounds that they 
would involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in Paragraphs 3 and 7A of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.  The 
Public Interest Test has been applied and favoured exclusion of the 
information from the press and public.

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 18TH 
DECEMBER, 2019

16

32. WRITE OFF OF IRRECOVERABLE DEBTS >£10,000 

The Committee considered the report of the Head of Corporate Resources 
outlining outstanding debts over £10,000 and requesting authorisation 
from the Committee to write off the debts detailed in Appendices 1-3 of the 
report in accordance with the Council’s Constitution.

The Customer Centric Services Manager, Corporate Resources, 
presented the report and answered questions thereon. 

She advised the Committee that following advice from the Chief Legal and 
Democratic Officer one of the debts, detailed in Appendix 1 of the report, 
amounting to £44,131.58 had been removed from the list of Business 
Rates Write-Offs pending further checks and investigation.

Arising from discussion, Members suggested that further investigations be 
undertaken in respect of a Sundry Debt amounting to £46.240.57, listed in 
Appendix 2 to the report.

RESOLVED: That

(1) it be noted that following advice from the Chief Legal and 
Democratic Officer, a debt amounting to £44,131.58 had been 
removed from the list of Business Rates Write-Offs listed in 
Appendix 1 to the report; 

(2) the Head of Corporate Resources be requested to undertake further 
investigations into the debt recovery of one of the debts amounting 
to £46,240.57; and

(3) subject to (1) and (2) above, authorisation be given for the debts 
detailed within Appendices 1-3 to the report, amounting to 
£198,111.35, to be written off.

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



Report to: Audit and 
Governance 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 18 
March 2020

Subject: External Audit Planning Report - 2019/2020

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

To present a report by Ernst and Young LLP, the Council's external auditors, setting out 
an overview of the 2018/19 audit strategy including an assessment of key risks and a 
planned audit strategy in response to those risks.

Recommendation(s):
Audit and Governance Committee are asked to note the External Auditor’s Planning 
Report for 2019/2020.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):
To ensure Members are aware of the external auditor’s audit strategy for 2019/2020.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)
N/A

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
The costs of the external audit of the Council for 2019/2020 will be met from the General 
Fund budget available specifically for these costs.

(B) Capital Costs
N/A

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
None

Legal Implications:
None

Equality Implications:
None

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose: 

Protect the most vulnerable: Not applicable

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Not applicable

Commission, broker and provide core services: Not applicable

Place – leadership and influencer: Not applicable

Drivers of change and reform: Not applicable

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Not applicable

Greater income for social investment: Not applicable

Cleaner Greener: Not applicable

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD5988/20) is 
the author of this report.

The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4171/20) has been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

None

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee meeting.

Page 10

Agenda Item 4



Contact Officer: Paul Reilly
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 4106
Email Address: paul.reilly@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

EY Audit Planning Report 2019/2020

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The Council’s external auditor, Ernst and Young LLP (EY), will undertake the 
Council’s audit for 2019/2020.  Attached as an appendix is their Draft Audit Plan 
which sets out how they intend to carry out their responsibilities as auditor.

1.2 EY will outline any changes at the meeting (or confirm if there are no changes), as 
a result of ongoing planning and interim procedures, as a verbal update when 
presenting the Plan, and issue in final version once Members have had a chance 
to discuss and raise any issues with us at the meeting.

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



Sefton Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Audit planning report 
Year ended 31 March 2020

06 March 2020 

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 4



2

Private and Confidential 6 March 2020

Dear Audit and Governance Committee Members

Audit planning report

We are pleased to attach our Audit Plan which sets out how we intend to carry out our responsibilities as auditor. Its purpose is to provide the Audit 
and Governance Committee with a basis to review our proposed audit approach and scope for the 2019/20 audit in accordance with the 
requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the National Audit Office’s 2015 Code of Audit Practice, the Statement of 
Responsibilities issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) Ltd, auditing standards and other professional requirements. It is also to ensure 
that our audit is aligned with the Committee’s service expectations.

This plan summarises our initial assessment of the key risks driving the development of an effective audit for the Council, and outlines our planned 
audit strategy in response to those risks. Our planning procedures remain ongoing; we will inform the Audit and Governance Committee if there any 
significant changes or revisions once we have completed these procedures.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Audit and Governance Committee and management, and is not intended to be and 
should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.
We welcome the opportunity to discuss this report with you on 18 March 2020 as well as understand whether there are other matters which you 
consider may influence our audit.

Yours faithfully 

Hassan Rohimun

For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP

The Members of the Audit and Governance Committee

Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council

Magdalen House

30 Trinity Road

Bootle

L20 3NJ

P
age 14

A
genda Item

 4



3

Contents

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) issued the “Statement of responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies”. It is available from the PSAA website (https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-
quality/statement-of-responsibilities/)).The Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of engagement between appointed auditors and audited bodies. It summarises where the different 
responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies begin and end, and what is to be expected of the audited body in certain areas. 
The “Terms of Appointment and further guidance (updated April 2018)” issued by the PSAA sets out additional requirements that auditors must comply with, over and above those set out in the National 
Audit Office Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and in legislation, and covers matters of practice and procedure which are of a recurring nature.
This report is made solely to the Audit and Governance Committee and management of Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council in accordance with the statement of responsibilities. Our work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the Audit and Governance Committee and management of Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council those matters we are required to state to them in this report and for 
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Audit and Governance Committee and management of Sefton Metropolitan 
Borough Council for this report or for the opinions we have formed. It should not be provided to any third-party without our prior written consent.

Overview of our 
2019/20 audit 
strategy

01 Audit risks02 Audit 
materiality

04 Scope of our 
audit

05

Appendices09Audit team06 Audit 
timeline07 Independence08

Value for 
Money risks

03

V
F
M

Please use this text in the footer 
if the audit body opted out of the 

As part the Auditor Engagement 
process, we have agreed with you 
the respective responsibilities of 
auditors and audited bodies. 
Copies of the Engagement Letter 
and Terms and Conditions of our 
appointment are available from 
the Chief Executive or via the 
bodies minutes on their website. 

This Statement of responsibilities 
serves as the formal terms of 
engagement between appointed 
auditors and audited bodies. It 
summarises where the different 
responsibilities of auditors and 
audited bodies begin and end, and 
what is to be expected of the 
audited body in certain areas.

The Terms and Conditions of our 
appointment contained within the 
Engagement Letter sets out 
additional requirements that 
auditors must comply with, over 
and above those set out in the 
National Audit Office Code of 
Audit Practice (the Code) and 
statute, and covers matters of 
practice and procedure which are 

This report is made solely to the 
Audit and Governance Committee 

in 
accordance with the statement of 
responsibilities. Our work has 
been undertaken so that we might 

Governance Committee, and 

matters we are required to state 
to them in this report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law we do not 
accept or assume responsibility 

Audit 
and Governance Committee and 

for this 
report or for the opinions we have 
formed. It should not be provided 

party without our 

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 4

https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilities/


4

Overview of our 2019/20 audit  
strategy

01 01

P
age 16

A
genda Item

 4



5

Overview of our 2019/20 audit strategy

Audit risks and areas of focus 

The following ‘dashboard’ summarises the significant accounting and auditing matters outlined in this report. It seeks to provide the Audit and Governance 
Committee with an overview of our initial risk identification for the upcoming audit and any changes in risks identified in the current year.  

Risk / area of 
focus

Risk identified 
Change from 

PY
Details

Risk of fraud in 
revenue and 
expenditure 
recognition

Fraud risk/ 
Significant risk

No change in 
risk or focus

Under ISA 240 there is a presumed risk that revenue may be misstated due to improper revenue 
recognition. In the public sector, this requirement is modified by Practice Note 10 issued by the Financial 
Reporting Council, which states auditors should also consider the risk that material misstatements may 
occur by the manipulation of expenditure recognition. We consider that the risk manifests in year end 
revenue and expenditure subject to manipulation, specifically estimates for accruals of income and 
expenditure, provisions and pensions which affect the balance sheet and the income statement.  Section 2, 
‘audit risks’ sets out our consideration of where this risk manifests in more detail. 

Valuation of assets 
and liabilities in the 
Local Government 
Pension Scheme

Significant risk

Increase in 
risk or focus

The accounting entries relating to the Local Government Pension Schemes are underpinned by significant 
assumptions and estimates, which increases the risk of misstatement and error. We will assess the 
assumptions and the valuation of scheme assets used by the actuary in determining the IAS 19 accounting 
transactions. Our assessment will include a review of the ongoing impact of the McCloud and GMP 
judgements. The risk is increased due to significant adjustments in the prior year (resulting from the cases 
mentioned), the impact of the triennial review of the pension scheme relevant for 2019-20 and the 
proposed changes in deficit payments and pre-payment of estimated future service costs.

Valuation of 
Property, Plant 
and Equipment

Significant risk
No change in 
risk or focus

The Council re-values assets to reflect the valuation position at year end. The valuation process is based on 
professional estimation techniques, which increases the risk of misstatement and error. In the prior year we 
reported an error which was below our materiality threshold, as a result this year we will engage our 
valuation experts to assess the valuation basis for the Council’s asset base and review the indexation rates 
used. We will also consider engaging our valuation experts to review the valuation of investment properties.

Investments and 
subsidiaries

Inherent risk

Increase in risk 
or focus

The Council have a material wholly owned subsidiary and therefore produce group accounts as well as 
Council entity accounts. Our audit opinion is therefore required to cover the group as well as the entity 
financial statements and notes.

This year, based on planning procedures, Sefton New Directions Limited is deemed to be material to the 
group. The Council also have other subsidiaries and joint working arrangements that require management 
judgement for disclosure and consolidation. 

Misstatements due 
to fraud or error

Fraud risk

No change in 
risk or focus

As identified in ISA 240, management is in a unique position to perpetrate fraud because of their ability to 
manipulate accounting records directly or indirectly and prepare fraudulent financial statements by 
overriding controls that would otherwise appear to be operating effectively. 

We have not identified any specific fraud risks in our planning, however we will continue to update our risk 
assessment throughout our audit.

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 4



6

Overview of our 2019/20 audit strategy (continued)

Audit risks and areas of focus

The following ‘dashboard’ summarises the significant accounting and auditing matters outlined in this report. It seeks to provide the Audit and Governance 
Committee with an overview of our initial risk identification for the upcoming audit and any changes in risks identified in the current year.  

Risk / area of focus Risk identified Change from PY Details

Going Concern Inherent risk
Increase in risk or 

focus

This auditing standard has been revised in response to enforcement cases and well-publicised 
corporate failures where the auditor’s report failed to highlight concerns about the prospects 
of entities which collapsed shortly after.

New accounting standards -
IFRS 16

Inherent risk

Increase in risk or 
focus

IFRS 16 Leases was issued by the IASB in 2016. Its main impact is to remove (for lessees) the 
traditional distinction between finance leases and operating leases. Finance leases have 
effectively been accounted for as acquisitions (with the asset on the balance sheet, together 
with a liability to pay for the asset acquired). In contrast, operating leases have been treated 
as “pay as you go” arrangements, with rentals expensed in the year they are paid. IFRS 16 
requires all substantial leases to be accounted for using the acquisition approach, recognising 
the rights acquired to use an asset.

P
age 18

A
genda Item

 4



7

Overview of our 2019/20 audit strategy

Materiality

Planning
materiality

£11.49m
Performance 

materiality

£8.62m
Audit

differences

£0.57m

Materiality for our audit of the Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council entity financial statements has been set at £11.49m, which 
represents 1.8% of the prior years gross expenditure on provision of services. 

Performance materiality has been set at £8.62m, which represents 75% of materiality.

We will report all uncorrected misstatements relating to the primary statements (comprehensive income 
and expenditure statement, balance sheet, movement in reserves statement, cash flow statement and 
collection fund) greater than £0.57m.  Other misstatements identified will be communicated to the 
extent that they merit the attention of the Audit and Governance Committee.

Group Materiality

Planning
materiality

£11.51m
Performance 

materiality

£8.63m
Audit

differences

£0.57m

Materiality for our audit of the Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council Group financial statements has been set at £11.51m, which 
represents 1.8% of the prior years gross expenditure on provision of services. Sefton MBC is the only significant component for the group 
and we will carry out our audit of the Council as an entity in line with this audit plan. Our audit of the group financial statements includes 
review of the work of the auditor of the non-significant subsidiary, Sefton New Directions Limited, and the EY audit team completed the 
audit work on the consolidation,  

Performance materiality has been set at £8.63m, which represents 75% of materiality.

We will report all uncorrected misstatements relating to the primary group statements (comprehensive 
income and expenditure statement, balance sheet, movement in reserves statement, cash flow 
statement and collection fund) greater than £0.57m.  Other misstatements identified will be 
communicated to the extent that they merit the attention of the Audit and Governance Committee.

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 4



8

Overview of our 2019/20 audit strategy 

Audit scope

This Audit Plan covers the work that we plan to perform to provide you with:

▪ Our audit opinion on whether the financial statements of Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 31 March 2020 
and of the income and expenditure for the year then ended; and

▪ Our conclusion on the Council’s arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

We will also review and report to the National Audit Office (NAO), to the extent and in the form required by them, on the Council’s Whole of Government Accounts 
return.

Our audit will also include the mandatory procedures that we are required to perform in accordance with applicable laws and auditing standards.

When planning the audit we take into account several key inputs:

▪ Strategic, operational and financial risks relevant to the financial statements;
▪ Developments in financial reporting and auditing standards;
▪ The quality of systems and processes;
▪ Changes in the business and regulatory environment; and,
▪ Management’s views on all of the above.

By considering these inputs, our audit is focused on the areas that matter and our feedback is more likely to be relevant to the Council. 

Taking the above into account, and as articulated in this audit plan, our professional responsibilities require us to independently assess the risks associated with 
providing an audit opinion and undertake appropriate procedures in response to that. Our Terms of Appointment with PSAA allow them to vary the fee dependent on 
“the auditors assessment of risk and the work needed to meet their professional responsibilities”. PSAA are aware that the setting of scale fees  has not kept pace with 
the changing requirements of external audit with increased focus on, for example, the valuations of land and buildings, the auditing of groups, the valuation of pension 
obligations, the introduction of new accounting standards such as IFRS 9 and 15 in recent years as well as the expansion of factors impacting the value for money 
conclusion. Therefore to the extent any of these or any other risks are relevant in the context of Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council’s audit, we will discuss these with 
management as to the impact on the scale fee.

our work, e.g., additional 

due to financial reporting P
age 20

A
genda Item

 4



9

Audit risks02 01

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 4



10

Risk assessment

We have obtained an understanding of your strategy, reviewed your principal risks as identified in your 2019 Annual Report and Accounts and combined it with our 
understanding of the sector to identify key risks that impact our audit. 

The following ‘dashboard’ summarises the significant matters that are relevant for planning our year-end audit: 

Audit risks

Risk assessment

Higher

Lower Higher

F
in

a
n

ci
a

l 
st

a
te

m
e

n
t 

im
p

a
ct

Probability of occurrence

5

1
4

6

Significant risks

1 Revenue Recognition
2 Pensions valuation
3 PPE valuation
4 Management override

Other financial statement risks

5 Investments and subsidiaries
6 Going concern
7 New accounting standards

3

2

7

P
age 22

A
genda Item

 4



11

Audit risks

Our response to significant risks 

What will we do?

We will carry out substantive procedures in response to this risk. The

procedures designed to address the identified risk are set out below:

• Document our understanding of the processes and controls in place to

mitigate the risks.

• Identify and walk through those processes and controls, confirming our

understanding.

• Review income and expenditure recognition policies and confirm

consistency of application through performance of testing

• Identify significant accounting estimates for revenue and expenditure,

discussing assumptions and calculation methodology with management

• Test the identified significant accounting estimates to confirm

appropriateness and consistency with supporting records considering

evidence of bias

• Sample test material revenue (other income) and operating expenditure 
streams with a focus on assets and liabilities at the year-end

• Testing of revenue cut-off at the period end date

• Conduct testing to identify unrecorded liabilities at the year-end

• Testing a sample of Property Plant and Equipment additions to confirm

that the expenditure has been appropriately capitalised

Testing of revenue and expenditure will be supported through the use of

data analytics tools to support sample selection. The data analysis tools

enable the full population of other income and operating expenditure to be 
included within the sample population. The population will be filtered to 
enable testing to focus on higher risk areas, high value and unusual 
transactions.

Financial statement impact

Misstatements that occur in 
relation to the risk of fraud in 
revenue and expenditure 
recognition could affect the income 
and expenditure accounts and the 
surplus or deficit recorded at the 
year end.
The highest misstatement risks 
relating to estimates and 
judgements at the year end have a 
balance sheet and I&E impact as 
the debtor/income and 
creditor/expenditure accounts are 
adjusted by the same amounts.

We have set out the significant risks (including fraud risks denoted by*) identified for the current year audit along with the rationale and expected audit approach.
The risks identified below may change to reflect any significant findings or subsequent issues we identify during the audit.

have an element of management 

(management bias, management 

What is the risk?

Under ISA 240 there is a presumed risk that 
revenue may be misstated due to improper 
revenue recognition. In the public sector, this 
requirement is modified by Practice Note 10 
issued by the Financial Reporting Council, which 
states that auditors should also consider the risk 
that material misstatements may occur by the 
manipulation of expenditure recognition. 

Due to the nature and value of income which 
comprises of Government Grants, income from 
Council Tax and Business Rates, it is our view is 
that the risk is not significant in this area, but is 
relevant to other income and operating 
expenditure that is subject to manipulation at 
year end.

We consider that the risk impacts on the 
following account balances:
• Year-end trade payables and the calculation 

of estimates (being pensions estimates, 
accruals and provisions) which impact on the 
completeness and valuation assertions.

• Year-end trade receivables and accruals 
which impacts on the existence and valuation 
assertions. 

• Operating expenditure transactions during 
the financial year and around the year end 
which impacts on  both the occurrence and 
completeness assertions.

• Improper capitalisation of revenue 
expenditure in order to reduce the impact on 
the general fund

Risk of fraud in revenue and 
expenditure recognition

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 4



12

Audit risks

Our response to significant risks (continued)

What will we do?

We will:
• Liaise with the auditors of the Pension Fund,  to obtain 

assurances over the information supplied to the actuary in 
relation to the Council;

• Assess the work of the Pension Fund actuary, including the 
assumptions they have used, by relying on the work of 
PWC - Consulting Actuaries commissioned by the National 
Audit Office for all Local Government sector auditors, and 
considering any relevant reviews by our EY actuarial team; 

• Test the variation in the pension fund assets used by the 
actuary in reporting to the Council against the actual year 
end asset valuation,

• Consider the basis for the actuary valuation of the assets 
in their report to the Council, and 

• Review and test the accounting entries and disclosures 
made within the Council’s financial statements in relation 
to IAS19.

Financial statement impact

Significant material figures are 
included in the financial statements 
in relation to the LGPS, which are 
subject to estimation, judgement 
and external expert advice.

We have set out the significant risks (including fraud risks denoted by*) identified for the current year audit along with the rationale and expected audit approach.
The risks identified below may change to reflect any significant findings or subsequent issues we identify during the audit.

What is the risk?

The Council’s pension fund deficit is a material estimated 
balance and the Code requires that this liability be disclosed 
on the Council’s balance sheet. At 31 March 2019 this 
totalled £466 million.

The information disclosed is based on the IAS 19 report 
issued to the Council by the actuary to the Merseyside 
Pension Scheme. In 2018/19 the final figures included 
adjustments for the McCloud and GMP judgements which 
increased the liabilities recognised.

Accounting for this scheme involves significant estimation 
and judgement and therefore management engages an 
actuary to undertake the calculations on their behalf. ISAs 
(UK) 500 and 540 require us to undertake procedures on 
the use of management experts and the assumptions 
underlying fair value estimates.

We consider that this risk is associated to the following 
specific areas:

• Improper capitalisation or incorrect estimation of liabilities 
of the fund

• Incorrect estimation of the asset balances of the pension 
fund allocated to the Council

• Improper application of the pension estimate adjustments 
to the year end financial statements.

Risk of error in valuation of 
pension fund assets and 
liabilities in the Local 
Government Pension Scheme

P
age 24

A
genda Item

 4



13

Audit risks

Our response to significant risks (continued) 

What will we do?

We will carry out the following substantive procedures in response to this 
risk:

• Consider the work performed by the Council’s valuers, including the 
adequacy of the scope of the work performed, their professional 
capabilities and the results of their work;

• Sample test key asset information used by the valuers in performing 
their valuation (e.g. floor plans to support valuations based on price 
per square metre);

• Consider the annual cycle of valuations to ensure that assets have been 
valued within a 5 year rolling programme as required by the Code for 
PPE and annually for investment property; 

• Review assets not subject to valuation in 2019/20 to confirm that the 
remaining asset base has been subject to impairment review;

• Consider changes to useful economic lives as a result of the most 
recent valuation; and

• Test that accounting entries have been correctly processed in the 
financial statements.

As part of our approach we will consider the need to engage internal EY 
valuation experts to appraise the approach and assumptions used by the 
Council’s valuer, particularly in relation to investment or market rent 
properties, such as the Council’s investment in the Strand.

What is the risk?

The fair value of Property, Plant and Equipment 
(PPE) and Investment Properties (IP) represent 
significant balances in the Council’s accounts 
and are subject to valuation changes, 
impairment reviews and depreciation charges.

Management is required to make material 
judgemental inputs and apply estimation 
techniques to calculate the year-end balances 
recorded in the balance sheet, including the use 
of work from valuation experts.

Valuation of land and buildings

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 4



14

Audit risks

Our response to significant risks (continued) 

What will we do?

We recognise the risk of misstatements due to fraud or error as potentially 
occurring in income and expenditure recognition, including related 
estimates and judgements, or in material and significant accounting 
estimates relating to pensions, as identified in our significant risks.

Whilst we have not identified any specific fraud risks in our planning, our 
audit methodology include the following general procedures which 
addresses the presumed risk:

• Identifying fraud risks during the planning stages.

• Inquiry of management about risks of fraud and the controls put in 
place to address those risks.

• Understanding the oversight given by those charged with governance 
of management’s processes over fraud.

• Consideration of the effectiveness of management’s controls designed 
to address the risk of fraud.

• Determining an appropriate strategy to address those identified risks 
of fraud.

• Testing the appropriateness of journal entries recorded in the general 
ledger and other adjustments made in the preparation of the financial 
statements

• Assessing accounting estimates for evidence of management bias.

• Evaluating the business rationale for significant unusual transactions.

have an element of management 

(management bias, management 

What is the risk?

The financial statements as a whole are not free 
of material misstatements whether caused by 
fraud or error.

As identified in ISA (UK) 240, management is in 
a unique position to perpetrate fraud because of 
its ability to manipulate accounting records 
directly or indirectly and prepare fraudulent 
financial statements by overriding controls that 
otherwise appear to be operating effectively. We 
respond to this fraud risk on every audit 
engagement.

We have not identified any specific fraud risks in 
our planning, however we will continue to 
update our risk assessment throughout our 
audit.

Misstatements due to fraud or 
error

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 4



15

Audit risks

Other areas of audit focus

What is the risk/area of focus? What will we do?

Investments and subsidiaries

The Council have a material wholly owned 
subsidiary and therefore produce group 
accounts as well as Council entity accounts. 
Our audit opinion is required to cover the 
group as well as the entity financial 
statements and notes.

The Council also have other subsidiaries and 
joint working arrangements that require 
management judgement. 

Judgements are required covering:

• Composition of the group accounts;

• disclosure requirements for subsidiaries 
included and excluded from the group 
accounts;

• Application of group accounting policies to 
the activity of subsidiaries; and 

• The application of consolidation and 
elimination adjustments.

We will take a substantive approach to the audit of the group accounts and in relation to the risks arising from the 
Council’s involvement with subsidiaries and joint ventures.

This year, based on planning procedures, Sefton New Directions Limited is deemed to be material to the group. 

In addition to our audit of Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council as the significant entity in the group, we will:

• Assess management’s judgements on components included in the group accounts, and the evidence supporting 
these decisions;

• Issue group instructions to the auditor of Sefton New Directions Limited (Hazlewoods LLP), including our 
assessment of risks at the group level and application of materiality to the subsidiary;

• Review the work of the subsidiary auditor where this relates to a significant risk for the group;

• Test the consolidation and elimination adjustments applied to the group accounts; and

• Review the application of group accounting policies across the group entities for consistency.

We have identified other areas of the audit, that have not been classified as significant risks, but are still important when considering the risks of material
misstatement to the financial statements and disclosures and therefore may be key audit matters we will include in our audit report.

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 4



16

Audit risks

Other areas of audit focus

What is the risk/area of focus? What will we do?

Going Concern Compliance with ISA 570

This auditing standard has been revised in response to enforcement cases 
and well-publicised corporate failures where the auditor’s report failed to 
highlight concerns about the prospects of entities which collapsed shortly 
after.

The revised standard is effective for audits of financial statements for 
periods commencing on or after 15 December 2019, which for the 
Council will be the audit of the 2020/21 financial statements. The revised 
standard increases the work we are required to perform when assessing 
whether the Council is a going concern. It means UK auditors will follow 
significantly stronger requirements than those required by current 
international standards; and we have therefore judged it appropriate to 
bring this to the attention of the Audit and Governance Committee.

The CIPFA Guidance Notes for Practitioners 2019/20 accounts states 
‘The concept of a going concern assumes that an authority’s functions 
and services will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future. The provisions in the Code in respect of going concern reporting 
requirements reflect the economic and statutory environment in which 
local authorities operate. These provisions confirm that, as authorities 
cannot be created or dissolved without statutory prescription, they must 
prepare their financial statements on a going concern basis of 
accounting.’

‘If an authority were in financial difficulty, the prospects are thus that 
alternative arrangements might be made by central government either 
for the continuation of the services it provides or for assistance with the 
recovery of a deficit over more than one financial year. As a result of this, 
it would not therefore be appropriate for local authority financial 
statements to be provided on anything other than a going concern basis.’

The revised standard requires:

• auditor’s challenge of management’s identification of events or conditions 
impacting going concern, more specific requirements to test management’s 
resulting assessment of going concern, an evaluation of the supporting evidence 
obtained which includes consideration of the risk of management bias;

• greater work for us to challenge management’s assessment of going concern, 
thoroughly test the adequacy of the supporting evidence we obtained and evaluate 
the risk of management bias. Our challenge will be made based on our knowledge 
of the Authority obtained through our audit, which will include additional specific 
risk assessment considerations which go beyond the current requirements;

• improved transparency with a new reporting requirement for public interest 
entities, listed and large private companies to provide a clear, positive conclusion 
on whether management’s assessment is appropriate, and to set out the work we 
have done in this respect. While the Council are not one of the three entity types 
listed, we will ensure compliance with any updated reporting requirements;

• a stand back requirement to consider all of the evidence obtained, whether 
corroborative or contradictory, when we draw our conclusions on going concern; 
and

• necessary consideration regarding the appropriateness of financial statement 
disclosures around going concern.

The revised standard extends requirements to report to regulators where we have 
concerns about going concern.

We will discuss the detailed implications of the new standard with finance staff during 
2019/20 ahead of its application for 2020/21.

response to recent enforcement 

adoption possible. We expect to 
fully adopt the new standard for 

consideration of management’s 

We have identified other areas of the audit, that have not been classified as significant risks, but are still important when considering the risks of material
misstatement to the financial statements and disclosures and therefore may be key audit matters we will include in our audit report.

P
age 28

A
genda Item

 4



17

Audit risks

Other areas of audit focus (continued)
What is the risk/area of focus? What will we do?

IFRS16 – leases

IFRS 16 Leases was issued by the IASB in 2016. Its main impact is to remove (for 
lessees) the traditional distinction between finance leases and operating leases. 
Finance leases have effectively been accounted for as acquisitions (with the asset on 
the balance sheet, together with a liability to pay for the asset acquired). In contrast, 
operating leases have been treated as “pay as you go” arrangements, with rentals 
expensed in the year they are paid. IFRS 16 requires all substantial leases to be 
accounted for using the acquisition approach, recognising the rights acquired to use 
an asset.

Implementation of IFRS 16 will be included in the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code) for 2020/21. This Code has yet to 
published, but in July 2019 CIPFA/LASAAC issued ‘IFRS 16 leases and early guide for 
practitioners’. 

This early guidance provides comprehensive coverage of the requirements of the 
forthcoming provisions, including:

• „ the identification of leases

• „ the recognition of right-of-use assets and liabilities and their subsequent 
measurement

• „ treatment of gains and losses

• „ derecognition and presentation and disclosure in the financial statements,

• „ the management of leases within the Prudential Framework.

The guidance also covers the transitional arrangements for moving to these new 
requirements, such as:

• „ the recognition of right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases previously 
accounted for as operating leases by lessees

• „ the mechanics of making the transition in the 2020/21 financial statements 
(including the application of transitional provisions and the preparation of 
relevant disclosure notes).

IFRS 16 – leases introduces a number of significant changes which go beyond 
accounting technicalities. For example, the changes have the potential to 
impact on procurement processes as more information becomes available on 
the real cost of leases. 

The key accounting impact is that assets and liabilities in relation to 
significant lease arrangements previously accounted for as operating leases 
will need to be recognised on the balance sheet.

Although the new standard will not be included in the CIPFA Code of Practice 
until 2020/21, work will be necessary to secure information required to 
enable authorities to fully assess their leasing position and ensure compliance 
with the standard from 1 April 2020.

In particular, full compliance with the revised standard for 2020/21 is likely 
to require a detailed review of existing lease and other contract 
documentation prior to 1 April 2020 in order to identify:

• all leases which need to be accounted for

• the costs and lease term which apply to the lease

• the value of the asset and liability to be recognised as at 1 April 2020 
where a lease has previously been accounted for as an operating lease.

We will discuss progress made in preparing for the implementation of IFRS 16 
– leases with the finance team over the course of our 2019/20 audit.

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 4



18

Value for Money Risks03 01V
F
M

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 4



19

Value for Money

Background

We are required to consider whether the Council has put in place ‘proper arrangements’ to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness on its use of resources. This is known as our value for money conclusion. 

For 2019/20 this is based on the overall evaluation criterion:

“In all significant respects, the audited body had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed 
decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people”

Proper arrangements are defined by statutory guidance issued by the National Audit Office. They comprise 
your arrangements to:

▪ Take informed decisions;
▪ Deploy resources in a sustainable manner; and
▪ Work with partners and other third parties.

In considering your proper arrangements, we will draw on the requirements of the CIPFA/SOLACE framework 
for local government to ensure that our assessment is made against a framework that you are already required 
to have in place and to report on through documents such as your annual governance statement.

We are only required to determine whether there are any risks that we consider significant, which the Code of 
Audit Practice defines as:

“A matter is significant if, in the auditor’s professional view, it is reasonable to conclude that the matter would 
be of interest to the audited body or the wider public”

Our risk assessment supports the planning of sufficient work to enable us to deliver a safe conclusion on 
arrangements to secure value for money and enables us to determine the nature and extent of further work 
that may be required. If we do not identify any significant risks there is no requirement to carry out further 
work.  We consider business and operational risks insofar as they relate to proper arrangements at both sector 
and organisation-specific level.  In 2019/20 this has included consideration of the steps taken by the Council to 
consider the impact of Brexit on its future service provision, medium-term financing and investment values.  
Although the precise impact cannot yet be modelled, we anticipate that Councils will be carrying out scenario 
planning and that Brexit and its impact will feature on operational risk registers.

Our risk assessment has therefore considered both the potential financial impact of the issues we have 
identified, and also the likelihood that the issue will be of interest to local taxpayers, the Government and other 
stakeholders. This has resulted in the identification of the significant risks noted on the following page which we 
view as relevant to our value for money conclusion.

V
F
M

Proper arrangements for 
securing value for money  

Informed 
decision making 

Working with 
partners and 
third parties

Sustainable 
resource 

deployment

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 4



20

Value for Money 

Value for Money Risks

V
F
M

What is the significant value for money risk?
What arrangements 
does the risk affect?

What will we do?

Maintaining Financial sustainability

The Council are operating in a continued environment of financial challenge and 
savings requirements across the sector, with pressure from demand led services in 
both adult and children's services resulting in expenditure in excess of budget in 
2018/19.

The Council set a one year budget for 2019/20 while awaiting the outcome of the 
central spending review to inform longer term planning and have now set a one 
year budget for 2020/21. The Council have a revised forward looking MTFS to 
2022/23 but acknowledge the uncertainties in the national funding position and 
the assumptions that have been made to set this strategy.

The 2019/20 forecast outturn is a £3m overspend against budget, driven 
principally by cost of high need in children’s social services £1.3m net overspend 
and a projected underachievement of savings of £1m, to be offset by use of 
reserves including the £1m budget pressure reserve created to support any 
shortfall and one off use of retained business rate reserve. 

Reports to members on the outturn and forecast also recognise the impact of non-
recurrent savings supporting the 2019/20 outturn, which result in additional 
savings to be identified in future years. 

Over the medium term, a budget gap of £32m is identified in cumulative terms to 
2022/23 before decisions on funding options and council tax are considered, with 
the impact of budget decision options and potential additional funding resulting in 
a total £24m gap across the three years to 2022/23. This is before any Council 
Tax and Adult Social Care Precept decisions are made and any additional service 
delivery options are considered, which could cover a significant proportion of the 
identified budget gap.

Additionally, management recognise that the levels of reserves and General Fund 
Balance are assessed by the CIPFA financial resilience tool as at the higher risk end 
(lower balance) when compared to similar organisations and plan to increase this 
resilience over the medium term.
As such, the identification and realisation of savings in the Medium Term Financial 
Plan remain critical to maintaining the level of reserves and financial sustainability.

Take informed 
decisions & Deploy 
resources in a 
sustainable manner

Our approach will focus on the arrangements that the 
Council has in place to plan for, monitor and report on 
financial resilience in the medium term and the impact of 
the 2019/20 outturn position.

Our procedures will include:
• Reviewing the actions which the Council is undertaking 
to ensure there is a sustainable position as part of setting 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy
• Considering current financial standing and the 
availability of reserves to fund future expenditure
• Considering the 2019/20 outturn performance against 
budget, the proportion of recurrent and non recurrent 
savings achieved in the year, actions taken to support the 
forecast deficit and the impact on the current MTFS
• Considering the appropriateness of assumptions used 
by the Council in setting the budget and Medium Term 
Financial Strategy.

P
age 32

A
genda Item

 4



21

Value for Money 

Value for Money Risks

V
F
M

What is the significant value for money risk?
What arrangements 
does the risk 
affect?

What will we do?

Dedicated Schools Grant deficit position

In 2018/19 the closing Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) balance 
was a deficit of £230k following net overspend of £745k in the 
year. Overspends are projected for 19/20 with projected year 
end deficit of over £2m. Given the increase in actual and 
projected deficit the Council need to demonstrate robust plans 
for recovering the deficit and returning to a sustainable position, 
while managing the demands on high needs costs. 

Take informed 
decisions & Deploy 
resources in a 
sustainable manner

Our approach will focus on:

• The arrangements in place to monitor, report and respond to the 
increasing deficit position

• The budget setting and MTFS implications of recovering the deficit
• The reporting requirements and formal sharing of the recovery plan as 

the deficit is projected to exceed the 1% threshold for carrying a deficit, 
over which a formal plan of action to recover a break even position is 
required to be submitted to the Department for Education.    

Department for Education Improvement Notice

In June 2019 DFE improvement notice in relation to a failure to 
make sufficient progress against areas of weakness identified in 
the special educational needs and disability (SEND) provision. 

The risks are that the Council does not appropriately respond to 
the recommendations, or that in responding to these priorities 
the required resources result in underperformance against 
savings requirements impacting the financial sustainability plans 
the Council have in place.

Work with partners 
and other third 
parties

Our approach will focus on:

• The arrangements in place to  respond to the recommendation in the 
SEND improvement plan

• The monitoring of the financial impact of responding to the 
recommendations

• Arrangements to report and monitor outstanding actions.

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 4



22

Audit materiality04 01

P
age 34

A
genda Item

 4



23

Materiality

For planning purposes, materiality for 2019/20 has been set at £11.49m for our audit
of the Council. This represents around 1.8% of the Council’s prior year gross
expenditure on provision of services. It will be reassessed throughout the audit
process. We have provided supplemental information about audit materiality in
Appendix D. We have also set our planning materiality for the group accounts and
communicated the SNDL component performance materiality to the component
auditor.

Audit materiality

Gross expenditure
on provision of services

£638m
SMBC Planning

materiality

£11.49m

SMBC Performance 
materiality

£8.62m
Audit

differences

£0.57m

Materiality

Planning materiality – the amount over which we anticipate misstatements 
would influence the economic decisions of a user of the financial 
statements. We have set Group planning materiality at £11.51m and entity 
materiality at £11.49m.

Performance materiality – the amount we use to determine the extent of 
our audit procedures. We have set performance materiality at 
£8.62m which represents 75% of planning materiality. 

Component performance materiality range – we determine component 
performance materiality as a percentage of Group performance materiality 
based on risk and relative size to the Group. 

Audit difference threshold – we propose that misstatements identified 
below this threshold are deemed clearly trivial. The same threshold for 
misstatements is used for component reporting. We will report to you all 
uncorrected misstatements over this amount relating to the comprehensive 
income and expenditure statement, balance sheet and collection fund that 
have an effect on income or that relate to other comprehensive income.

Other uncorrected misstatements, such as reclassifications and 
misstatements in the cashflow statement and movement in reserves 
statement or disclosures, and corrected misstatements will be 
communicated to the extent that they merit the attention of the Audit and 
Governance Committee, or are important from a qualitative perspective. 

Specific materiality – We have set a materiality of £1k for remuneration 
disclosures , related party transactions, members’ allowances, audit fees 
and exit packages which reflects our understanding that an amount less 
than our materiality would influence the economic decisions of users of the 
financial statements in relation to these areas.

Key definitions

We request that the Audit and Governance Committee confirm its understanding of, 
and agreement to, these materiality and reporting levels.

Governance Committee may not 
explicitly agree to these materiality 
and reporting levels, and whilst we 
may obtain an understanding of the 
expectations of those charged with 
governance regarding the detection 
of misstatements in the financial 
statements which may cause us to 

appropriate considering the factors 

consider information obtained from 
meetings and other discussions with 
those charged with governance, we 
do not ask them to indicate the 
types or amounts of misstatements 
that they would consider material or 
to determine materiality to be used 

Guidance: Whilst we may obtain an 
understanding of the expectations 
of those charged with governance 

misstatements in the financial 
statements which may cause us to 

increase it above the amount 
appropriate considering the factors 

Audit and Governance Committees 
have an important role to play in 
ensuring that the materiality levels 
set are appropriate, to understand 
the basis and benchmarks used for 
the materiality levels, including how 

expectations of the users, and how 
they affect the level of audit work 

When setting out the qualitative 
factors which were considered 

materiality, ensure these reflect the 
needs and expectations of the users 

SNDL Component
performance
materiality

£0.86

Group Planning
materiality

£11.51m

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 4



24

Scope of our audit05 01

P
age 36

A
genda Item

 4



25

Objective and Scope of our Audit scoping

Under the Code of Audit Practice our principal objectives are to review and report on the Council’s financial statements and arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources to the extent required by the relevant legislation and the requirements of the Code.

We issue an audit report that covers:

1. Financial statement audit 

Our objective is to form an opinion on the financial statements under International Standards on Auditing (UK). 

We also perform other procedures as required by auditing, ethical and independence standards, the Code and other regulations. We outline below the procedures we 
will undertake during the course of our audit.

Procedures required by standards
• Addressing the risk of fraud and error;
• Significant disclosures included in the financial statements;
• Entity-wide controls;
• Reading other information contained in the financial statements and reporting whether it is inconsistent with our understanding and the financial statements; and
• Auditor independence.

Procedures required by the Code
• Reviewing, and reporting on as appropriate, other information published with the financial statements, including the Annual Governance Statement; and
• Reviewing and reporting on the Whole of Government Accounts return, in line with the instructions issued by the NAO 

2. Arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness (value for money)

We are required to consider whether the Council has put in place ‘proper arrangements’ to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness on its use of resources.

Scope of our audit

Our Audit Process and Strategy

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 4



26

Audit Process Overview

Our audit involves: 
• Identifying and understanding the key processes and internal controls; and

• Substantive tests of detail of transactions and amounts.

For 2019/20 we plan to follow a substantive approach to the audit as we have concluded this is the most efficient way to obtain the level of audit assurance required 
to conclude that the financial statements are not materially misstated. 

Analytics:
We will use our computer-based analytics tools to enable us to capture whole populations of your financial data, in particular journal entries. These tools:
• Help identify specific exceptions and anomalies which can then be subject to more traditional substantive audit tests; and 

• Give greater likelihood of identifying errors than random sampling techniques.

We will report the findings from our process and analytics work, including any significant weaknesses or inefficiencies identified and recommendations for 
improvement, to management and the Audit and Governance Committee. 

Internal audit:
We will regularly meet with the Head of Internal Audit, and review internal audit plans and the results of their work. We will reflect the findings from these reports, 
together with reports from any other work completed in the year, in our detailed audit plan, where they raise issues that could have an impact on the financial 
statements.

Scope of our audit

Our Audit Process and Strategy (continued)

P
age 38

A
genda Item

 4



27

Group scoping

Our audit strategy for performing an audit of an entity with multiple locations is risk based. We identify components as:
1. Significant components: A component is significant when it is likely to include risks of material misstatement of the group financial statements, either

because of its relative financial size to the group (quantitative criteria), or because of its specific nature or circumstances (qualitative criteria). We 
generally assign significant components a full or specific scope given their importance to the financial statements. We consider Sefton Metropolitan 
Borough Council as an entity a significant component for the Group accounts.

2. Not significant components: The number of additional components and extent of procedures performed depended primarily on: evidence from significant 
components, the effectiveness of group wide controls and the results of analytical procedures. 

For all other components we perform other procedures to confirm that there is no risk of material misstatement within those locations. These procedures are detailed 
below. There is no longer a concept of ‘out of scope’ and we therefore design ‘other procedures’ over these locations that address the risk of material misstatement. 

Scope of our audit

Scoping the group audit

Scoping by Entity

Our preliminary audit scopes by number of locations we have adopted are set 
out below. We provide scope details for each component within Appendix E. 

Full scope audits

Specific scope audits

Review scope audits

Specified procedures

1 A

0 B

0 C

0 D

1 E Other procedures

Scope definitions

Full scope: locations where a full audit is performed to the materiality levels 
assigned by the Group audit team for purposes of the consolidated audit. 
Procedures performed at full scope locations support an interoffice conclusion on 
the reporting package.  These may not be sufficient to issue a stand-alone audit 
opinion on the local statutory financial statements because of the materiality used 
and any additional procedures required to comply with local laws and regulations. 

Specific scope: locations where the audit is limited to specific accounts or 
disclosures identified by the Group audit team based on the size and/or risk profile 
of those accounts.  

Review scope: locations where procedures primarily consist of analytical 
procedures and inquiries of management. On-site or desk top reviews may be 
performed, according to our assessment of risk.

Specified Procedures: locations where the component team performs procedures 
specified by the Group audit team in order to respond to a risk identified.

Other procedures: For those locations that we do not consider material to the 
Group financial statements in terms of size relative to the Group and risk, we 
perform other procedures to confirm that there is no risk of material misstatement 
within those locations. These procedures include review of the subsidiary auditors 
group return, review of the consolidation process and analytical review. The group 
accounts include Sefton New Directions Limited. This component contributes 
around 0.15% of the Group’s expenditure once consolidation eliminations have 
been applied.

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 4



28

Scope of our audit

Scoping the group audit (continued) 

Group audit team involvement in component audits

Auditing standards require us to be involved in the work of our component teams. We have listed our planned involvement below.

Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council as a stand alone entity is considered the significant component and a full scope entity for which we complete the audit 
procedures as set out in the other sections of this audit plan. 
This covers over 99.8% of the group accounts income and expenditure.

Auditing standards require us to be involved in the work of component teams. For 2018/19 this will relate to the audit of Sefton New Directions Limited, undertaken 
by Hazlewoods LLP. 
We have listed our planned involvement below:

We will provide specific instruction to Hazlewoods LLP setting out our expectations regarding the detailed procedures over income recognition; 
We will set up an initial meeting with the component team to discuss the content of the group instructions; 
We will consider the need to perform a file review of component team’s work where appropriate; and 
We will review the reporting pack from the component auditor on procedures performed and findings. 

As a result of our discussions with management we do not expect any other entities to be consolidated in to the group accounts. Management have agreed to provide 
their assessment of other subsidiaries to confirm that they are not intended to be consolidated on grounds of immateriality to the group.

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 4



29

Audit team06 01

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 4



30

Audit team

Audit team 

Hassan Rohimun

Associate Partner

Charlie McIntyre

Audit Senior

Richard Tyler

Senior Manager

EY Actuarial team
Members of EY 
GPS Assurance 

Team

EY Technical Network

EY Valuations 
team

Audit team structure:

P
age 42

A
genda Item

 4



31

Audit team

Use of specialists
Our approach to the involvement of specialists, and the use of their work:

When auditing key judgements, we are often required to rely on the input and advice provided by specialists who have qualifications and expertise not possessed by the 
core audit team. The areas where either EY or third party specialists provide input for the current year audit are:

Area Specialists

Valuation of Land and Buildings EY Valuations Team

Pensions disclosure EY Actuaries

In accordance with Auditing Standards, we will evaluate each specialist’s professional competence and objectivity, considering their qualifications, experience and 
available resources, together with the independence of the individuals performing the work.

We also consider the work performed by the specialist in light of our knowledge of the Council’s business and processes and our assessment of audit risk in the particular 
area. For example, we would typically perform the following procedures:

• Analyse source data and make inquiries as to the procedures used by the specialist to establish whether the source data is relevant and reliable;

• Assess the reasonableness of the assumptions and methods used; 

• Consider the appropriateness of the timing of when the specialist carried out the work; and

• Assess whether the substance of the specialist’s findings are properly reflected in the financial statements.

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 4



32

Audit timeline07 01

P
age 44

A
genda Item

 4



33

Audit timeline

Below is a timetable showing the key stages of the audit and the deliverables we have agreed to provide to you through the audit cycle in 2019/20.

From time to time matters may arise that require immediate communication with the Audit and Governance Committee and we will discuss them with the Audit and 
Governance Committee Chair as appropriate. We will also provide updates on corporate governance and regulatory matters as necessary.

Timeline

Timetable of communication and deliverables

Audit phase Timetable
Audit and Governance Committee 
timetable

Deliverables

Planning:

Risk assessment and setting of scopes

November

December Audit and Governance Committee

January

Walkthrough of key systems and 
processes

Testing of routine processes and 
controls

Interim audit testing

February

March Audit and Governance Committee Audit Planning Report

April

May

Year end audit

Audit Completion procedures

June Audit and Governance Committee

Year end audit

Audit Completion procedures

July Audit and Governance Committee Audit Results Report

Audit opinions and completion certificates

August - October Audit and Governance Committee Annual Audit Letter

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 4



34

Independence08 01

P
age 46

A
genda Item

 4



35

Independence

The FRC Ethical Standard and ISA (UK) 260 “Communication of audit matters with those charged with governance”, requires us to communicate with you on a timely basis 
on all significant facts and matters that bear upon our integrity, objectivity and independence. The Ethical Standard, as revised in June 2016, requires that we 
communicate formally both at the planning stage and at the conclusion of the audit, as well as during the course of the audit if appropriate.  The aim of these 
communications is to ensure full and fair disclosure by us to those charged with your governance on matters in which you have an interest.

In addition, during the course of the audit, we are required to communicate with you whenever any significant judgements are made about threats to objectivity and 
independence and the appropriateness of safeguards put in place, for example, when accepting an engagement to provide non-audit services.

We also provide information on any contingent fee arrangements , the amounts of any future services that have been contracted, and details of any written proposal to 
provide non-audit services that has been submitted;

We ensure that the total amount of fees that EY and our network firms have charged to you and your affiliates for the provision of services during the reporting period, 
analysed in appropriate categories, are disclosed.

Required communications

Planning stage Final stage

► The principal threats, if any, to objectivity and 
independence identified by Ernst & Young (EY) 
including consideration of all relationships between 
the you, your affiliates and directors and us;

► The safeguards adopted and the reasons why they 
are considered to be effective, including any 
Engagement Quality review;

► The overall assessment of threats and safeguards;

► Information about the general policies and process 
within EY to maintain objectivity and independence.

► Where EY has determined it is appropriate to apply 
more restrictive independence rules than permitted 
under the Ethical Standard [note: additional 
wording should be included in the communication 
reflecting the client specific situation]

► In order for you to assess the integrity, objectivity and independence of the firm and each covered person, 
we are required to provide a written disclosure of relationships (including the provision of non-audit 
services) that may bear on our integrity, objectivity and independence. This is required to have regard to 
relationships with the entity, its directors and senior management, its affiliates, and its connected parties 
and the threats to integrity or objectivity, including those that could compromise independence that these 
create.  We are also required to disclose any safeguards that we have put in place and why they address 
such threats, together with any other information necessary to enable our objectivity and independence to 
be assessed;

► Details of non-audit services provided and the fees charged in relation thereto;

► Written confirmation that the firm and each covered person is  independent and, if applicable, that any 
non-EY firms used in the group audit or external experts used have confirmed their independence to us;

► Written confirmation that all covered persons are independent;

► Details of any inconsistencies between FRC Ethical Standard and your  policy for the supply of non-audit 
services by EY and any apparent breach of that policy; 

► Details of any contingent fee arrangements for non-audit services provided by us or our network firms; 
and

► An opportunity to discuss auditor independence issues.

Introduction

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 4



36

Independence

We highlight the following significant facts and matters that may be reasonably considered to bear upon our objectivity and independence, including the principal threats, 
if any.  We have adopted the safeguards noted below to mitigate these threats along with the reasons why they are considered to be effective. However we will only 
perform non –audit services if the service has been pre-approved in accordance with your policy.

Self interest threats

A self interest threat arises when EY has financial or other interests in the Council.  Examples include where we receive significant fees in respect of non-audit services; 
where we need to recover long outstanding fees; or where we enter into a business relationship with you.  At the time of writing, there are no long outstanding fees. 

We believe that it is appropriate for us to undertake permissible non-audit services and we will comply with the policies that you have approved.  

None of the services are prohibited under the FRC's ES or the National Audit Office’s Auditor Guidance Note 01 and the services have been approved in accordance with 
your policy on pre-approval.  The ratio of non audit fees to audits fees is not permitted to exceed 70%.

At the time of writing, the current ratio of non-audit fees to audit fees is approximately 17%. No additional safeguards are required. 

A self interest threat may also arise if members of our audit engagement team have objectives or are rewarded in relation to sales of non-audit services to you.  We 
confirm that no member of our audit engagement team, including those from other service lines, has objectives or is rewarded in relation to sales to you, in compliance 
with Ethical Standard part 4.

There are no other self interest threats at the date of this report.

Overall Assessment

At the planning stage, the only non-audit services that we expect to undertake are the certification of the Council’s housing benefit return and teachers pension end of 
year certificate (EOYC).

Overall, we consider that the safeguards that have been adopted appropriately mitigate the principal threats identified and we therefore confirm that EY is independent 
and the objectivity and independence of Hassan Rohimun, your audit engagement partner and the audit engagement team have not been compromised.

Relationships, services and related threats and safeguards

P
age 48

A
genda Item

 4



37

Independence

Self review threats

Self review threats arise when the results of a non-audit service performed by EY or others within the EY network are reflected in the amounts included or disclosed in 
the financial statements.

There are no self review threats at the date of this report. 

Management threats

Partners and employees of EY are prohibited from taking decisions on behalf of management of the Council.  Management threats may also arise during the provision of 
a non-audit service in relation to which management is required to make judgements or decision based on that work.

There are no management threats at the date of this report. 

Relationships, services and related threats and safeguards

Other threats

Other threats, such as advocacy, familiarity or intimidation, may arise.

There are no other threats at the date of this report. 

P
age 49

A
genda Item

 4



38

Independence

Summary of key changes

• Extraterritorial application of the FRC Ethical Standard to UK PIE and its worldwide affiliates 

• A general prohibition on the provision of non-audit services by the auditor (or its network) to a UK PIE, its UK parent and worldwide subsidiaries
• A narrow list of permitted services where closely related to the audit and/or required by law or regulation
• Absolute prohibition on the following relationships applicable to UK PIE and its affiliates including material significant investees/investors:

• Tax advocacy services
• Remuneration advisory services
• Internal audit services
• Secondment/loan staff arrangements

• An absolute prohibition on contingent fees.
• Requirement to meet the higher standard for business relationships i.e. business relationships between the audit firm and the audit client will only be permitted if it is 

inconsequential.
• Permitted services required by law or regulation will not be subject to the 70% fee cap.
• Grandfathering will apply for otherwise prohibited non-audit services that are open at 15 March 2020 such that the engagement may continue until completed in 

accordance with the original engagement terms. 
• A requirement for the auditor to notify the Audit and Governance Committee where the audit fee might compromise perceived independence and the appropriate 

safeguards.
• A requirement to report to the Audit and Governance Committee details of any breaches of the Ethical Standard and any actions taken by the firm to address any 

threats to independence. A requirement for non-network component firm whose work is used in the group audit engagement to comply with the same independence 
standard as the group auditor. Our current understanding is that the requirement to follow UK independence rules is limited to the component firm issuing the audit 
report and not to its network. This is subject to clarification with the FRC.

New UK Independence Standards
The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) published the Revised Ethical Standard 2019 in December and it will apply to accounting periods starting on or after 15 March 
2020. A key change in the new Ethical Standard will be a general prohibition on the provision of non-audit services by the auditor (and its network) which will apply to UK 
Public Interest Entities (PIEs). A narrow list of permitted services will continue to be allowed. While Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council in not a UK PIE, we will continue to 
monitor our independence and include below a summary of the standard for information.

Next Steps

We will continue to monitor and assess all ongoing and proposed non-audit services and relationships to ensure they are permitted under FRC Revised Ethical Standard 
2016 which will continue to apply until 31 March 2020 as well as the recently released FRC Revised Ethical Standard 2019 which will be effective from 1 April 2020. We 
will work with you to ensure orderly completion of the services or where required, transition to another service provider within mutually agreed timescales.
We do not provide any non-audit services which would be prohibited under the new standard.

P
age 50

A
genda Item

 4



39

Independence

EY Transparency Report 2019

Ernst & Young (EY) has policies and procedures that instil professional values as part of firm culture and ensure that the highest standards of objectivity, independence 
and integrity are maintained. 

Details of the key policies and processes in place within EY for maintaining objectivity and independence can be found in our annual Transparency Report which the firm 
is required to publish by law. The most recent version of this Report is for the year end 30 June 2019: 

https://www.ey.com/Publication/vwLUAssets/ey-uk-2019-transparency-report/$FILE/ey-uk-2019-transparency-report.pdf

Other communications

P
age 51

A
genda Item

 4

https://www.ey.com/Publication/vwLUAssets/ey-uk-2019-transparency-report/$FILE/ey-uk-2019-transparency-report.pdf


40

Appendices09 01

P
age 52

A
genda Item

 4



41

Appendix A

Fees

Planned fee 
2019/20

Scale fee
2019/20

Final Fee
2018/19

£ £ £

Total Fee – Code work (1) 97,711 97,711 104,211

Additional work impact (3) TBC

Total audit TBC 104,211

Other non-audit services not 
covered above
• Housing Benefits (2)
• TPA EOYC

11,500
6,500

N/A
N/A

11,500
6,500

Total other non-audit services 18,000 18,000

Total fees TBC 122,211

The duty to prescribe fees is a statutory function delegated to Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) by the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government.  

This is defined as the fee required by auditors to meet statutory responsibilities under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in accordance with the requirements of 
the Code of Audit Practice and supporting guidance published by the National Audit Office, the financial reporting requirements set out in the Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting published by CIPFA/LASAAC, and the professional standards applicable to auditors’ work.

All fees exclude VAT

The agreed fee presented is based on the following assumptions:

➢ Officers meeting the agreed timetable of deliverables;

➢ Our accounts opinion and value for money conclusion being unqualified;

➢ Appropriate quality of documentation is provided by the Council; and

➢ The Council has an effective control environment.

If any of the above assumptions prove to be unfounded, we will seek a variation 
to the agreed fee. This will be discussed with the Council in advance.

Fees for the auditor’s consideration of correspondence from the public and 
formal objections will be charged in addition to the scale fee.

(1) The 18/19 Code work includes an additional fee of £6,500, which relates to 
additional work reviewing the pensions liability impact of the McCloud and GMD 
judgements during the year. We have agreed the variation with officers, but are 
awaiting approval from PSAA.

(2)  For 19/20 the planned fee represents the base fee, i.e. not including any 
extended testing. For 2018/19 we found one error which required additional 
testing and will be required to be tested in 19/20 as an additional test in line with 
the guidance for following up prior year issues.

➢ The need to engage EY Real Estate to review the valuation of investments in the 
Strand (completed on alternate year basis to reduce fee, and not completed in 
2018/19). £TBC

➢ Review of Subsidiary audit working papers and consolidation not included in 
base scale fee and requiring additional procedures from the regulator. £TBC

➢ Impact of enhanced pension assurance programme following the triennial 
valuation in the year and the pensions judgements in 2018/19 that materially 
affected the liabilities reported. £TBC

➢ Additional work that will be required to address the value for money risks 
identified. £TBC

➢ Impact of new auditing and accounting standards in relation to Going Concern 
and IFRS 16, leases. £TBC

In addition, we are driving greater innovation in the audit through the use of 
technology. The significant investment costs in this global technology continue to 
rise as we seek to provide enhanced assurance and insight in the audit. 

(3) For 2019/20, the scale fee will be impacted by a range of factors (see page 7) 
which will result in additional work. We set out an estimate of the potential 
additional fee and the issues we have identified at the planning stage which will 
impact on the fee include:

P
age 53

A
genda Item

 4



42

Appendix A

Fees
Summary of key factors

1. Status of sector: Financial reporting and decision making in local government has become increasingly complex, for example from the growth in 

commercialisation, speculative ventures and investments. This has also brought increasing risk about the financial sustainability / going concern of bodies given the 

current status of the sector.

2. Audit of estimates: There has been a significant increase in the focus on areas of the financial statements where judgemental estimates are made. This is to 

address regulatory expectations from FRC reviews on the extent of audit procedures performed in areas such as the valuation of land and buildings and pension 

assets and liabilities. 

3. Regulatory environment: Parliamentary select committee reports, the Brydon and Kingman reviews, plus within the public sector the Redmond review and the 

new NAO Code of Audit practice, are all shaping the future of Local Audit.  These regulatory pressures all have a focus on audit quality and what is required of 

external auditors.

4. Resourcing: As a result of the above, public sector auditing has become less attractive as a profession, especially due to the compressed timetable, regulatory 

pressure and greater compliance requirements. This has contributed to higher attrition rates in our profession over the past year and the shortage of specialist 

public sector audit staff and multidisciplinary teams (for example valuation, pensions, tax and accounting) during the compressed timetables. 

We need to invest over a five to ten-year cycle to recruit, train and develop a sustainable specialist team of public sector audit staff. We and other firms in the 

sector face intense competition for the best people, with appropriate public sector skills, as a result of a shrinking resource pool. We need to remunerate our 

people appropriately to maintain the attractiveness of the profession, provide the highest performing audit teams and protect audit quality. We acknowledge that 

local authorities are also facing challenges to recruit and retain staff with the necessary financial reporting skills and capabilities.  This though also exacerbates the 

challenge for external audits, as where there are shortages it impacts on the ability to deliver on a timely basis. 

To respond to these factors we have to:

• Increase our sample sizes, seek higher levels of corroborative evidence and engage with our internal specialists on a wider array of matters;

• Increase our investment in data analytics tools to allow us to test more transactions to a greater level of detail and enhance audit quality; and

• Invest in our audit quality infrastructure, as a firm our compliance costs have doubled as a proportion of revenue over the past five years.

P
age 54

A
genda Item

 4



43

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Terms of engagement Confirmation by the Audit and Governance Committee of acceptance of terms of 
engagement as written in the engagement letter signed by both parties.

The statement of responsibilities serves as the 
formal terms of engagement between the 
PSAA’s appointed auditors and audited bodies. 

Our responsibilities Reminder of our responsibilities as set out in the engagement letter The statement of responsibilities serves as the 
formal terms of engagement between the 
PSAA’s appointed auditors and audited bodies.

Planning and audit 
approach 

Communication of the planned scope and timing of the audit, any limitations and the 
significant risks identified.

Audit planning report

Significant findings from 
the audit 

• Our view about the significant qualitative aspects of accounting practices including 
accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures

• Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit

• Significant matters, if any, arising from the audit that were discussed with management

• Written representations that we are seeking

• Expected modifications to the audit report

• Other matters if any, significant to the oversight of the financial reporting process

Audit results report

Appendix B

Required communications with the Audit and Governance Committee
We have detailed the communications that we must provide to the Audit and Governance Committee.

P
age 55

A
genda Item

 4



44

Appendix B

Required communications with the Audit and Governance Committee 
(continued)

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Going concern Events or conditions identified that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, including:

• Whether the events or conditions constitute a material uncertainty

• Whether the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate in the preparation and 
presentation of the financial statements

• The adequacy of related disclosures in the financial statements

Audit results report

Misstatements • Uncorrected misstatements and their effect on our audit opinion, unless prohibited by 
law or regulation 

• The effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods 

• A request that any uncorrected misstatement be corrected 

• Corrected misstatements that are significant

• Material misstatements corrected by management 

Audit results report

Fraud • Enquiries of the Audit and Governance Committee to determine whether they have 
knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud affecting the entity

• Any fraud that we have identified or information we have obtained that indicates that a 
fraud may exist

• A discussion of any other matters related to fraud

Audit results report

Related parties • Significant matters arising during the audit in connection with the entity’s related parties 
including, when applicable:

• Non-disclosure by management 

• Inappropriate authorisation and approval of transactions 

• Disagreement over disclosures 

• Non-compliance with laws and regulations 

• Difficulty in identifying the party that ultimately controls the entity 

Audit results report

P
age 56

A
genda Item

 4



45

Appendix B

Required communications with the Audit and Governance Committee 
(continued)

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Independence Communication of all significant facts and matters that bear on EY’s, and all individuals 
involved in the audit, objectivity and independence

Communication of key elements of the audit engagement partner’s consideration of 
independence and objectivity such as:

• The principal threats

• Safeguards adopted and their effectiveness

• An overall assessment of threats and safeguards

• Information about the general policies and process within the firm to maintain objectivity 
and independence

Audit Planning Report and Audit Results 
Report

P
age 57

A
genda Item

 4



46

Appendix B

Required communications with the Audit and Governance Committee 
(continued)

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

External confirmations • Management’s refusal for us to request confirmations 

• Inability to obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence from other procedures

Audit results report

Consideration of laws and 
regulations 

• Audit findings regarding non-compliance where the non-compliance is material and 
believed to be intentional. This communication is subject to compliance with legislation 
on tipping off

• Enquiry of the Audit and Governance Committee into possible instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that may have a material effect on the financial 
statements and that the Audit and Governance Committee  may be aware of

Audit results report

Internal controls • Significant deficiencies in internal controls identified during the audit Management letter/audit results report

Group audits • An overview of the type of work to be performed on the financial information of the 
components

• An overview of the nature of the group audit team’s planned involvement in the work to 
be performed by the component auditors on the financial information of significant 
components

• Instances where the group audit team’s evaluation of the work of a component auditor 
gave rise to a concern about the quality of that auditor’s work

• Any limitations on the group audit, for example, where the group engagement team’s 
access to information may have been restricted

• Fraud or suspected fraud involving group management, component management, 
employees who have significant roles in group-wide controls or others where the fraud 
resulted in a material misstatement of the group financial statements

Audit planning report

Audit results report

P
age 58

A
genda Item

 4



47

Appendix B

Required communications with the Audit and Governance Committee 
(continued)

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Representations Written representations we are requesting from management and/or those charged with 
governance

Audit results report

Material inconsistencies 
and misstatements

Material inconsistencies or misstatements of fact identified in other information which 
management has refused to revise

Audit results report

Auditors report • Any circumstances identified that affect the form and content of our auditor’s report Audit results report

Fee Reporting • Breakdown of fee information when the  audit plan is agreed

• Breakdown of fee information at the completion of the audit

• Any non-audit work 

Audit planning report

Audit results report

Certification work Summary of certification work undertaken Certification report

P
age 59

A
genda Item

 4



48

Appendix C

Additional audit information

Our responsibilities  required 
by auditing standards

• Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

• Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group and Council’s internal control.

• Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by management.

• Concluding on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting. 

• Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the 
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the 
Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. Reading other information contained in the financial 
statements, the Audit and Governance Committee reporting appropriately addresses matters communicated by us to the Audit and 
Governance Committee and reporting whether it is materially inconsistent with our understanding and the financial statements; and

• Maintaining auditor independence.

Other required procedures during the course of the audit

In addition to the key areas of audit focus outlined in section 2, we have to perform other procedures as required by auditing, ethical and independence standards and 
other regulations. We outline the procedures below that we will undertake during the course of our audit.

P
age 60

A
genda Item

 4



49

Appendix C

Additional audit information (continued)

Purpose and evaluation of materiality 

For the purposes of determining whether the accounts are free from material error, we define materiality as the magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, 
individually or in the aggregate, in light of the surrounding circumstances, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of the users of the financial 
statements. Our evaluation of it requires professional judgement and necessarily takes into account qualitative as well as quantitative considerations implicit in the 
definition. We would be happy to discuss with you your expectations regarding our detection of misstatements in the financial statements. 

Materiality determines:

• The locations at which we conduct audit procedures to support the opinion given on the Group financial statements; and

• The level of work performed on individual account balances and financial statement disclosures.

The amount we consider material at the end of the audit may differ from our initial determination. At this stage, however, it is not feasible to anticipate all of the 
circumstances that may ultimately influence our judgement about materiality. At the end of the audit we will form our final opinion by reference to all matters that could 
be significant to users of the accounts, including the total effect of the audit misstatements we identify, and our evaluation of materiality at that date.

P
age 61

A
genda Item

 4



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Audit and 
Governance 
Committee

Date of Meeting: 18 March 2020

Subject: Financial Procedure Rules
Report of: Executive Director 

of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No 

Summary:

This report seeks the Committee’s approval for revisions to the Financial Procedure
Rules as set out and referral to Council for approval.

Recommendation(s):

That the Committee:

(1)  Consider and approve the revision to the Financial Procedure Rules set out in
Appendix 1 to this report.

(2)  Refer the duly amended Financial Procedure Rules to Council for approval.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

To enable the Council to adopt the recommended revisions to Financial Procedure 
Rules.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

As part of the annual review of the Councils constitution, the Council’s Financial 
Procedure Rules (FPR) have been the subject of review. This has resulted in a number 
of proposed minor revisions, which are now presented for consideration by Audit & 
Governance Committee and referral to Council for their consideration and approval.

No alternative options have been considered.

Page 63

Agenda Item 5



What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

There are no additional costs arising directly from this report.

(B) Capital Costs

Not Applicable

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

There are no additional resource implications associated with this report. Existing
staffing resources will be involved in financial management and will be required to 
comply with the FPRs.

Legal Implications:

Production of this report has been considered in line with Section 151 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the Local Government Act 2003 together 
with other relevant legislation as detailed within the Financial Procedure Rules.

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Effective management of the Council’s financial affairs supports each theme of the 
Council’s Core Purpose.

Protect the most vulnerable:
See comment above
Facilitate confident and resilient communities:
See comment above
Commission, broker and provide core services:
See comment above
Place – leadership and influencer:
See comment above
Drivers of change and reform:
See comment above
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:
See comment above
Greater income for social investment: 

Page 64

Agenda Item 5



See comment above
Cleaner Greener
See comment above

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The review of the Financial Procedure Rules has been led by a multi-disciplinary team
including officers from financial management, internal audit and senior officers within the
Council. The final document as included within this report has also been the subject of 
review and initial approval by the Council’s Monitoring Officer, prior to presentation to 
members.

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD5989/20)and 
the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4172/20) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Not Applicable

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee / Council meeting.

Contact Officer: Andrew Bridson
Telephone Number: 0151 934 4096
Email Address: andrew.bridson@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report:

Appendix 1 – Revised Financial Procedure Rules

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Financial Procedure Rules

1.1 As part of the annual review of the Council’s Constitution, the Council’s Financial
Procedure Rules have been the subject of review.
 

Page 65

Agenda Item 5



1.2 This review has been led by a multi-disciplinary team including officers from 
financial management, internal audit and senior officers within the Council. The 
final document as included within this report has also been the subject of review 
and initial approval by the Council’s Monitoring Officer, prior to presentation to 
members.

1.3 As would be expected, large elements of the previous version of the Financial 
Procedure Rules remain as previously approved, however certain changes are 
proposed and are discussed below. These changes align with the Council’s 
structure, Framework for Change programme and the aims of the Financial 
Procedure Rules such that:

 They provide the framework for managing the financial affairs 
of the Council;

 They define the roles and responsibilities of members and 
officers;

 They facilitate the effective operation of Council activity; and
 They provide a framework for the delivery of an effective 

internal control environment.

1.4 Having reviewed the Financial Procedure Rules there are a number areas that are 
reflected in the updated schedule and the changes have been summarised below:

Changes as a result of Organisational redesign

1.5 The Financial Procedure Rules have been updated to take account of changes to 
roles and responsibilities and job titles within the Council including those approved 
by Cabinet on the 5th December 2019.

Earmarked Reserves and Contingencies (paragraph 51)

1.6 Earmarked Reserves and Contingencies are set up for specific purposes and as 
such their use will be in accordance with the approved usage. Reserves and 
contingencies are already reviewed as part of each budget cycle and the annual 
closure of accounts process. The previous version of the Financial Procedure 
Rules did not specify the frequency of the review and so the update is required to 
bring this into line with good practice.

Capital Block Allocations (paragraph 53)

1.7 Council approves the inclusion of capital block grant allocations within the Capital 
Programme as part of the annual budget report. The update within the document 
will define the approval route for schemes within such blocks.

1.8 Any allocations over and above £1m will still require approval from full Council. 

1.9 Regular budget monitoring will remain in place and will continue to be presented 
to Cabinet on a monthly basis in order that progress against delivery can be 
monitored in order to inform effective decision making.

Page 66

Agenda Item 5



Section 106 (paragraph 57-60)

1.10 In order to support the delivery of schemes that are supported via s106 funding 
and which is administered from within the Communities service the Finance 
Procedure Rules have been updated with regard to this delegation. 

1.11 Approval limits will be agreed with the Section 151 Officer and have been included 
in both the revised FPR’s and within the services own scheme of financial 
delegation. This will further increase the efficiency of the process with it being akin 
to normal service expenditure that has been fully delegated.  

1.12 The reporting process will be in accordance with the Council’s normal and 
established monthly monitoring process.

Capital Expenditure (paragraph 94)

1.13 The current de minimis level for capitalisation is set at £10,000. The proposed 
amendment will enable this limit to be varied at the discretion of the Section 151 
Officer. This will provide additional flexibility, for example, where funding is derived 
from a capital grant.

Assets (paragraph 154)

1.14 Cabinet, on the 9th January 2020, were provided with details of assets that have 
been identified as being available for disposal and the proposed approach to this 
exercise. The disposal programme aims to support the Council’s objectives e.g. 
delivery of the Local Plan and to maximise the capital sums available in order to 
contribute to the Framework for Change, ‘Cost of Change Budget’ and the 
projects within the Growth and Investment programme

1.15 An amendment to the FPRs has been made to require that the Service Manager – 
Property Services ensures that there is a current (annually reviewed) Asset 
Management Strategy and Asset Disposal Policy in place in order to support this 
exercise.

Charging for Income (paragraphs 206)

1.16 The revised FPRs delegate approval of fees and charges to the respective 
Cabinet Member. This will provide greater flexibility for service areas to ensure 
that fees are set at the most appropriate level and are reviewed and adjusted in a 
timely manner in advance of each financial year. These decisions will be 
published.

Credit Cards, Debit Cards and Purchase Cards (paragraph 239)

1.17 A minor amendment has been made to this section to state that Purchase 
Cards/Credit Cards/Debit Cards should only be used for legitimate Council 
business by the person who has been allocated the card and whose name the 
card is in. This will support the control and associated risk management in this 
area.

Page 67

Agenda Item 5



Sponsorship Arrangements (paragraphs 279 to 282)

1.18 Sponsorship is defined as - “An agreement between the Council and the sponsor, 
where the Council receives either money or a benefit in kind for an event, 
campaign or initiative from an organisation or individual which in turn gains 
publicity or other benefits”.

1.19 The FPRs have been updated to reference the Sponsorship Policy, the Code of 
Conduct and the associated approval route and financial approval levels. This 
amendment will support the objectives as detailed within the policy including 
protection of the Council’s position and reputation and ensuring that best value is 
obtained from any agreements.

Page 68

Agenda Item 5



Chapter 9 
Officers 

 

1 
 

 

 
  

Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council 

Constitution 

MARCH 2020 

 

Page 69

Agenda Item 5



 

2 
 

CHAPTER 10 – FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES 

A.  INTRODUCTION 

 

1 Finance and Contract Procedure Rules provide the framework for 
managing the Council’s financial affairs. They apply to every Member and 
Officer of the Council and anyone acting on its behalf, including School 
Governors operating under local delegation arrangements. All decision 
makers need to ensure that they are not only empowered under the 
Constitution to make every decision that they propose to make, but that 
they are also authorised under these Rules to incur the financial 
consequences of every decision that they make.  

 

2 The Rules identify the financial responsibilities of the full Council, Cabinet, 
Overview and Scrutiny Members, statutory officers and the Executive 
Directors and Heads of Service. A written record shall be kept of all 
decisions taken under these Rules which are taken using delegated 
powers 

 

3 All Members and staff have a general responsibility for taking reasonable 
action to provide for the security of the assets under their control, and for 
ensuring that the use of these resources is legal, is warranted, properly 
authorised, provides value for money and achieves best value and is in 
the interest of the Council’s citizens. 

 

4 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for maintaining a regular review of 
the Finance Procedure Rules and submitting any additions or changes 
necessary to the full Council for approval. The Head of Strategic Support 
is responsible for maintaining a regular review of the Contract Procedure 
Rules and submitting any additions or changes necessary to the full 
Council for approval. The Section 151 Officer is also responsible for 
reporting, where appropriate, breaches of the Finance and Contract 
Procedure Rules to Audit and Governance Committee.  

 

5 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for ensuring 
that all staff in their Services are aware of the existence and content of the 
Council’s Finance and Contract Procedure Rules and other internal 
regulatory documents and that they comply with them, as required by the 
Council’s Code of Conduct for Employees and this Constitution. Failure to 
comply with the Code of Conduct will be dealt with in accordance with the 
Council’s Disciplinary Policy and Procedure. These documents will be 
located on the Sefton intranet for reference. Where staff do not have 
access to the intranet, Executive Directors and Heads of Service must 

Page 70

Agenda Item 5



 

3 
 

ensure that an adequate number of copies of the relevant policies are 
available for reference within their Services. 

 

6 The Section 151 Officer, is responsible for issuing advice and guidance to 
underpin the Finance and Contract Procedure Rules that Members, 
officers and others acting on behalf of the Council are required to follow. 
 
 

7 The Rules are not intended to cover every eventuality, but the spirit of the 
Rules must always be followed. Where there is any uncertainty in matters 
of interpretation, advice should be sought from the Section 151 Officer 
before decisions or actions are taken. 

 

B.  FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

 

WHY IS THIS IMPORTANT? 

 

8 Financial Management covers all financial accountabilities in relation to 
the running of the Council, including the policy framework and budget. 

 

WHAT’S COVERED IN THIS SECTION? 

 

9 The roles and responsibilities of: 
 The full Council 
 The Cabinet 
 The committees delegated by Cabinet 
 Statutory officers; and 
 Executive Directors and Heads of Service 

10 Other financial accountabilities: 
 Virement 
 Supplementary estimates 
 Treatment of year end balances 
 Accounting policies 
 Accounting records and returns 
 The Annual Statement of Accounts 

 

 

 

Page 71

Agenda Item 5



 

4 
 

THE FULL COUNCIL 
 

11 The responsibilities of the full Council are set out in Chapter 4 of the 
Constitution. In respect of financial matters, this includes approving the 
Budget within which the Cabinet operates.  

 

12 The Budget comprises the allocation of financial resources to different 
services and projects, proposed contingency funds, the Council Tax 
base and Council Tax rate, and decisions relating to the control of the 
Council’s borrowing requirement, and the allocation and control of 
capital expenditure. 

 

THE CABINET 
 

13 The Cabinet’s responsibilities, in respect of financial matters include: 

 

a. developing and reviewing the Council’s plans and policies 
b. advising on budget setting 
c. ensuring proper arrangements exist for the effective and efficient 

management of the Council’s executive affairs 
d. monitoring and auditing the lawful, proper and efficient conduct of 

the Council’s financial affairs, including the extent to which budgets 
and financial policies are being met and any appropriate remedial 
action; and  

e. ensuring officers exercising delegated powers on behalf of the 
Cabinet discharge their responsibilities efficiently and effectively. 

 

CABINET MEMBERS 
 

14 Individual Cabinet Members have specific decision making powers 
which are set out in Chapter 5 of the Council’s Constitution. Cabinet 
Members responsibilities in respect of financial matters include: 

 

a. the proper administration of the Council’s services 
b. ensuring adequate staffing, premises and other resources are in 

place to secure agreed standard and target outcomes within the 
scope of their portfolio 

c. ensuring budget control and financial monitoring within the scope 
of their portfolio 

d. making recommendations to the Cabinet in respect of strategic 
policy concerning matters within their portfolio. 

 

Page 72

Agenda Item 5



 

5 
 

15 Cabinet Members must consult with relevant officers before exercising 
their delegated decision making powers. In doing so, the individual 
Member must take account of legal and financial liabilities and risk 
management issues that may arise from the decision and that they 
have authority to incur the financial consequences of that decision. 

 

COMMITTEES 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 
 

16 Overview and Scrutiny Committees are responsible for discharging the 
Council’s functions under Section 9F to 9FU of the Local Government 
Act 2000, including: 

 

a. scrutinising Cabinet decisions before or after they have been 
implemented; and  

b. establishing task and finish reviews as they see fit. 

 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 

17 The Audit and Governance Committee has right of access to all of the 
information necessary to effectively discharge its responsibilities and 
can consult directly with internal and external auditors. 

 

18 The committee responsibilities are detailed in Chapter 7 of the 
Constitution.  

 

STATUTORY OFFICERS 

CHIEF OFFICERS 
 

19 Chief Officers are the Chief Executive, Executive Directors or any 
Head of Service to whom there has been specific delegation in writing 
by the Council or the Chief Executive. 

 

20 In accordance with the management structure of the Council, Chief 
Officers will be referred to as follows: 

 

Page 73

Agenda Item 5



 

6 
 

a. Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service) 
b. Executive Directors  
c. Heads of Service 

 
21 The Chief Executive is the Head of the Council’s Paid Service. The 

responsibilities of the Chief Executive are set out in full in Chapter 10 
of the Council’s Constitution and will include: 

 

a. leading and directing the strategic management of the Council 
b. ensuring the effective pursuit and achievement of the Council’s 

objectives 
c. ensuring the Council’s activities are carried out with maximum 

effectiveness and efficiency. 

 

22 The Chief Executive must report to and provide information for full 
Council, the Cabinet, the Overview and Scrutiny Committees and other 
committees.  

 

MONITORING OFFICER  

 

23 The Council’s Monitoring Officer pursuant to Section 5 and 5A of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (as amended) is responsible 
for exercising the functions of that role. This includes reporting, in 
consultation with the Chief Executive and Section 151 Officer to the full 
Council (or to the Executive in relation to an Executive function), if he 
or she considers that any proposal, decision or omission would give 
rise to unlawfulness or if any decision or omission has given rise to a 
finding of maladministration. Such a report will have the effect of 
stopping the proposal or decision being implemented until the report 
has been considered by Cabinet. 

 

24 The Monitoring Officer must ensure that Cabinet decisions and the 
reasons for them are made public. He or she must also ensure that 
Council Members are aware of decisions made by the Cabinet and of 
those made by officers who have delegated responsibility. 

 

25 The Monitoring Officer is responsible for advising all Members and 
officers about who has authority to take a particular decision. 

 

Page 74

Agenda Item 5



 

7 
 

26 The Monitoring Officer is responsible for advising the Cabinet or full 
Council about whether a decision is likely to be considered contrary or 
not wholly in accordance with the Policy Framework. 

 

27 The Monitoring Officer (together with the Section 151 Officer) is 
responsible for advising the Cabinet or full Council about whether a 
decision is likely to be considered contrary to or not wholly in 
accordance with the budget. Actions that may be ‘contrary to the 
budget’ include: 

 

a. initiating a new policy which may have financial implications that 
cannot be contained within existing budgets 

b. committing expenditure in future years that exceeds Medium Term 
Financial Plan assumptions 

c. agreeing budget transfers that exceed approved virement limits 
d. causing the total expenditure financed from Council tax, grants and 

corporately held reserves to increase, or to increase by more than 
a significant amount (“Significant” to be defined by the Section 151 
Officer or their representative). 

 

28 The Monitoring Officer is responsible for maintaining an up-to-date 
Constitution. 

 

RESPONSIBLE FINANCIAL OFFICER (SECTION 151 OFFICER) 

 

29 The Section 151 Officer is the financial adviser to the Council, the 
Cabinet and officers and is the Council’s ‘responsible financial officer’ 
under the Accounts and Audit Regulations. He or she is responsible for 
the proper administration of the Council’s affairs as specified in, and 
undertaking the duties required by, Section 151 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, Section 114 of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1988, the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, the Local 
Government Act 2003 and all other relevant legislation. 

 

30 The Section 151 Officer is responsible generally, for discharging, on 
behalf of the Council, the responsibilities set out in the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Statement on the 
Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government, including: 

 

a. in conjunction with the Executive Directors and Heads of Service, 
the proper administration of the Council’s financial affairs 

Page 75

Agenda Item 5



 

8 
 

b. setting and monitoring compliance with financial management 
standards 

c. advising on the corporate financial position and on the key financial 
controls necessary to secure sound financial management 

d. providing financial information 
e. preparing the revenue budget and capital programme 
f. treasury management. 

 

31 Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 includes a 
requirement for the Section 151 Officer to report to the full Council, 
Cabinet and external auditor if the Council or one of its officers: 

 

a. has made, or is about to make, a decision which involves incurring 
unlawful expenditure 

b. has taken, or is about to take, an unlawful action which has 
resulted or would result in a loss or deficiency to the Council 

c. is about to make an unlawful entry in the Council’s accounts 

 

32 Section 114 of the 1988 Act also requires: 

 

a. the Section 151 Officer to nominate a properly qualified Member of 
staff to deputise should he or she be unable to perform the duties 
under section 114 personally. The designated deputy for this 
purpose is the Service Manager (Finance). 

b. the Authority to provide the Section151 Officer with sufficient staff, 
accommodation and other resources – including legal advice 
where this is necessary – to carry out the duties under section 114 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1988. 

 

MONEY LAUNDERING REPORTING OFFICER 

 

33 The Section 151 Officer is appointed as the Council’s Money 
Laundering Reporting Officer and will maintain and advise on Anti-
Money Laundering procedures. 

 

34 They will be responsible for notifying the National Crime Agency (NCA) 
of any suspected cases of money laundering committed within the 
accounts of the Council as soon as possible and fulfil other duties as 
defined by legislation or regulation related to the post. Simultaneously, 
the Cabinet Member for Regulatory Compliance and Corporate 

Page 76

Agenda Item 5



 

9 
 

Services will be kept informed of any notifications to NCA and of any 
issues arising from them. 

 

EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP TEAM AND STRATEGIC LEADERSHIP 
BOARD 

 

35 The officer management arrangements for the Council are overseen by 
an Executive Leadership Team comprising the Chief Executive and 
Executive Directors including the Section 151 Officer. Each member of 
the Executive Leadership Team is accountable to the Chief Executive 
for ensuring that Council Services are managed in accordance with the 
objectives, plans, policies, programmes, budgets and processes of the 
Council. 

 

36 The Strategic Leadership Board includes the Executive Leadership 
Team and all of the Executive Directors and Heads of Service. The 
Strategic Leadership Board is responsible for ensuring that the 
Council’s Services are managed in accordance with the Council’s 
strategic objectives and within the agreed policy and budget 
framework.  

 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND HEADS OF SERVICE  

 

37 Powers are delegated to Executive Directors and Heads of Service, 
who will establish, operate and keep under review Local Schemes of 
Delegation, to cascade powers and responsibilities to Service 
Managers and other subordinate officers. Every such sub-delegation 
will be recorded in writing within a Local Scheme of Delegation. The 
sub-delegation of functions shall not in any way diminish the overall 
responsibility and accountability of the delegator. Executive Directors, 
Heads of Service and their managers should provide leadership, act 
with integrity, be open and transparent as possible, regarding financial 
performance and risks. 

 

38 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for and 
accountable for the financial management arrangements within their 
service area. They shall manage the development of budget policy 
options with a detailed assessment of financial implications within the 
budget process and resource framework agreed by the Council. 

 

Page 77

Agenda Item 5



 

10 
 

39 Executive Directors and Heads of Service will establish, operate and 
annually review Local Schemes of Delegation, in consultation with the 
Section 151 Officer, to ensure that: 

 

a. the day to day financial management of services within their 
directorate is carried out in a secure, efficient and effective manner, 
and in accordance with the Finance Procedure Rules and 
associated relevant guidance. 

b. expenditure is contained within the service’s overall approved 
budget and that individual budget heads are not overspent, by 
monitoring the budget and taking appropriate and timely corrective 
action where significant variances are forecast and if necessary, 
seeking specific in year approval for the transfer of resources 
between budgets. 

c. regular reports in an approved format are made to Cabinet on 
projected expenditure against budget and performance against 
service outcome targets. 

d. prior approval is sought at the appropriate level for new proposals 
that create financial commitments in future years, change existing 
policies, initiate new policies or materially extend or reduce the 
Council’s services. 

e. resources are only used for the purposes for which they were 
intended. 

f. compliance with the scheme of virement set out at paragraphs 41 -
48 below. 

g. risks are appropriately assessed, reviewed and managed. 
h. all members of staff are fully trained, aware of and comply with the 

requirements of Financial Procedure Rules, including the Contract 
Procedure Rules. 

i. all allegations of suspected fraud, corruption and financial 
irregularity are promptly reported to the Section 151 Officer and 
Chief Internal Auditor and that any local investigations are 
undertaken thoroughly, consistently and impartially. 

 

40 Schemes of Financial Delegation will set out all financial 
responsibilities and approval limits as delegated by the Executive 
Directors and Heads of Service to Service Managers, and any sub-
delegations within services. Authorised Officers are those officers 
given specific delegated authority by their Executive Directors and 
Head of Service as documented in that service’s Scheme of Financial 
Delegation. The financial limits specified in the Scheme of Financial 
Delegation will be used to control access to financial systems and on- 
line transaction approvals. The Section 151 Officer will provide advice 
and prescribed format to Executive Directors and Heads of Services to 
facilitate the completion of the Schemes of Financial Delegation. The 
Section 151 Officer to review and approve all Schemes of Financial 
Delegation on an annual basis. 

Page 78

Agenda Item 5



 

11 
 

 

MANAGING EXPENDITURE 

 

SCHEME OF VIREMENT 

 

41 A virement constitutes the movement of existing approved budgets 
from one area to another and is not an increase in overall budgets 
through the addition of new monies. 

 

42 The Scheme of Virement is intended to enable the Cabinet, Executive 
Leadership Team and Strategic Leadership Board and their staff to 
manage budgets with a degree of flexibility within the overall policy 
framework determined by the full Council, and therefore to optimise the 
use of resources. 

 

43 The full Council is responsible for agreeing limits for virement of 
expenditure between budget headings. 

 

44 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for agreeing 
in-year virements within delegated limits; in consultation with the 
Section 151 Officer where required and ensuring that written records of 
any changes are maintained 

 

45 Key controls for the scheme of virement are: 

 

a. it is administered by the Section 151 Officer within guidelines set 
by the full Council. Any departure from this scheme requires the 
approval of the full Council. 

b. the overall budget is agreed by the Cabinet and approved by the 
full Council. Executive Directors, Heads of Service and budget 
managers are therefore authorised to incur expenditure in 
accordance with the estimates that make up the budget. Income 
received cannot be used to defray expenditure. 

c. for the purposes of this scheme, a budget head is considered to be 
a division of service as identified in the approved Budget Report, 
or, as a minimum, at an equivalent level to the standard service 
subdivision as defined by CIPFA’s Service Expenditure Analysis 

d. virement does not create additional overall budget liability 
e. no virements are permitted from ring fenced budgets 

Page 79

Agenda Item 5



 

12 
 

 

46 Some revenue virements are essentially of an administrative nature, 
for example, implementation of restructuring and reorganisation 
proposals that have already received the appropriate level of officer 
and Member approval; routine changes to the structure of the chart of 
accounts or changes to notional accounting budgets which are 
required for reporting purposes but which do not impact on the 
Councils cash expenditure. Where the virement is of an administrative 
nature, Member approval is not required and approval limits will be 
based on the Scheme of Delegation. Administrative virements that 
exceed these limits will be approved by the Section 151 Officer. 

 

47 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are expected to exercise 
their discretion in managing their budgets responsibly and prudently. 
For example, they should aim to avoid supporting recurring 
expenditure from one-off sources of savings or additional income, or 
creating future commitments, including full-year effects of decisions 
made part way through a year, for which they have not identified future 
resources. Executive Directors and Heads of Service must plan to fund 
such commitments from within their own budgets. 

 

48 Where transfers are a single transaction they must be affected as such 
and must not be undertaken as two or more smaller transactions. 
Approval limits for virements are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 80

Agenda Item 5



 

13 
 

REVENUE AND CAPITAL VIREMENTS  

 

Virement Amount (within portfolio) Approval Level 

  

Up to and including £100,000 The relevant Executive Director or 
Head of Service 

  

In excess of £100,000 up to and £250,000 The relevant Executive Director or 
Head of Service in consultation   with 
the Cabinet Member and the Section 
151 Officer 

  

In excess of £250,000 up to and including 
£1,000,000 

The relevant Cabinet Member in 
consultation with Cabinet Member for 
Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Service (or the Leader of the Council if 
the matter concerns the Cabinet 
Member Regulatory, Compliance and 
Corporate Services) 

  

Over £1,000,000 (where virement is Cabinet 

within budget framework)  

  

Over £1,000,000 (where virement is Council 

outside budget framework)  

  

 

 

 

Page 81

Agenda Item 5



 

14 
 

Virement Amount (between 
portfolios) 

Approval Level 

  

Up to and including £250,000 The relevant Executive Director or 
Head of Service in consultation with the 
Cabinet Members and the Section 151 
Officer 

  

In excess of £250,000 up to and 
including£1,000,000 

The relevant Cabinet Members in 
consultation with Cabinet Member for 
Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Service (or the Leader of the Council if 
the matter concerns the Cabinet 
Member Regulatory, Compliance and 
Corporate Services Portfolio). 

  

Over £1,000,000 (where virement is Cabinet 

within budget framework)  

  

 

SUPPLEMENTARY REVENUE ESTIMATES 

 

49 Where services wish to undertake an activity not originally identified in 
the budget or incur additional revenue expenditure on an existing 
activity where this is fully funded (for example through additional 
specific grant allocations), approval must be sought for a 
supplementary revenue estimate in accordance with the table 
(paragraph 50) below. The Section 151 Officer must be consulted to 
establish that any additional grant funding identified can be legitimately 
linked to the expenditure in question and the net impact of the proposal 
must be neutral on the Councils overall budget. 

 

50  Approval limits for fully funded supplementary revenue estimates are 
 as follows:  

 

Page 82

Agenda Item 5



 

15 
 

Supplementary Estimate Amount Approval Level 

  

Up to and including £100,000 The relevant Executive Director or 
Head of Service 

  

In excess of £100,000 up to and including 
£250,000 

The relevant Executive Director or 
Head of Service in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member and the Section 151 
Officer 

  

In excess of £250,000 up to and including 
£500,000 

The relevant Cabinet Member in 
consultation with Cabinet Member for 
Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Service (or the Leader of the Council if 
the matter concerns the Cabinet 
Member Regulatory, Compliance and 
Corporate Services) and the Section 
151 Officer 

  

In excess of £500,000 up to and including Cabinet 

£1,000,000  

  

Over £1,000,000 Council 

  

 

 

51 During the financial year, all earmarked reserves and contingencies 
will be reviewed at least once. In the event that funding can be 
released the approval limits for the utilisation of this funding for either a 
supplementary revenue or capital estimate are as follows: 

 

 

Page 83

Agenda Item 5



 

16 
 

 Approval Level 

Supplementary Estimate 

  

  

Amount From Earmarked 

From Contingencies  

Reserves   

   

Up to and including 
£250,000 

Section 151 Officer Section 151 Officer 

   

In excess of £250,000 
up to and including 
£500,000 

Section 151 Officer in 
consultation with the Chief 
Executive 

Section 151 Officer in 
consultation with the Chief 
Executive 

   

In excess of £500,000 
up to and including 
£1,000,000 

Cabinet Section 151 Officer in 
consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for 
Regulatory Compliance 
and Corporate Services 

   

Over £1,000,000 Council with 
recommendation from 
Cabinet 

Cabinet 

   

 
 

52 Supplementary revenue estimates which are to be funded wholly or in 
part from general reserves or general purpose funding (i.e. Council Tax 
or non-ring fenced grant) must be approved by Council regardless of 
value. 

 

Page 84

Agenda Item 5



 

17 
 

   SUPPLEMENTARY CAPITAL ESTIMATES 

 

53 Council approves the inclusion of capital block grant allocations within 
the capital programme. The respective Cabinet Members in 
conjunction with the Council’s Section 151 Officer have delegated 
authority to allocate capital grants to capital projects to be included 
within the capital programme up to a level of £1m per individual 
scheme. Schemes above this threshold will require approval by 
Council. 
 

54 Supplementary capital estimates which are fully funded from external 
resources (e.g. specific grant; developer’s contributions) must be 
approved in accordance with paragraph 55 below. 

 

55 Capital budget increases funded wholly or in part from additional 
Council resources such as capital reserves, borrowing and capital 
receipts, regardless of value, must be approved by Council. Council 
approval is also required where there are significant revenue 
implications for future year’s budgets. 

 

56 Approval limits for supplementary capital estimates are as follows: 

 

     Supplementary Estimate Amount                      Approval Level 

  

Up to and including £100,000 Section 151 Officer in 
consultation with the Chief 
Executive 

  

In excess of £100,000 up to and 
including £250,000 

Section 151 Officer in 
consultation with Cabinet 
Member for Regulatory 
Compliance and Corporate 
Services 

  

In excess of £250,000 up to and 
£1,000,000 

Cabinet 

Page 85

Agenda Item 5



 

18 
 

Over £1,000,000 Council with recommendation 
from 

 Cabinet 

  

 

SECTION 106 

 

57 Full delegation with respect of the allocation of Section 106 balances is 
given to the Head of Communities. 

58 The Head of Communities will ensure that any expenditure commitments 
are in accordance with each individual agreement and the associated 
legislative requirements. The Head of Communities will make arrangements 
for adequate records to be kept to meet the reporting requirements of the 
Annual Infrastructure Funding Statement. 

59 Approval limits will be set by the Head of Communities and agreed with the 
Section 151 Officer and will be recorded within the Schemes of Financial 
Delegation for the service area. 

60 Reporting will be in accordance with the Council’s normal and established 
monthly monitoring process. 

 

       TREATMENT OF YEAR END BALANCES 

 

61 The full Council is responsible for agreeing procedures for carrying 
forward under-and overspendings on budget headings. 

 

62 A budget heading is considered to be a division of service as identified 
in the approved Budget Report, or, at an equivalent level to the 
standard service subdivision as defined by CIPFA’s Service 
Expenditure Analysis. 

 

63 Any revenue underspending at the year-end may be carried forward, 
subject to the agreement of the Cabinet. The Section 151 Officer will 
identify and make recommendations about the carry forward of 
underspends to Cabinet as part of the budget monitoring reporting 

Page 86

Agenda Item 5



 

19 
 

process. All carry forward proposals must be supported by an 
appropriate business case demonstrating that the underspend was 
planned and that the resources carried forward will be earmarked for a 
specific and appropriate purpose. Executive Directors and Heads of 
Service should include provisional indications of likely carry forward 
requests as part of their in year budget and performance monitoring. 
Before approval is sought for a carry forward, Executive Directors and 
Heads of Service should ensure that there are no unfunded 
overspends within their service. It is extremely unlikely that proposed 
carry forwards will be approved if there are unfunded overspends 
elsewhere within the service. 

 

64 Capital block provisions are allocations within which the full cost value 
of approved schemes must be contained. Any uncommitted sum at the 
year-end may be carried forward subject to consideration by Cabinet. 
Any uncommitted sum which is not justified on this basis will be 
returned to Council balances. Equally, any overspending will be carried 
forward as the first call on the following year’s provision. 

    ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

65 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for selecting appropriate 
accounting policies; exercising oversight of financial and accounting 
records and systems; and preparing and publishing reports containing 
statements on the overall finances of the Council including the annual 
statement of accounts. 

 

66 The key controls for accounting policies are: 

 

a. systems of internal control are in place to ensure that financial 
transactions are lawful 

b. suitable accounting policies are selected and applied consistently 
c. accurate and complete accounting records are maintained 
d. financial statements are prepared which present fairly the financial 

position of the Council and its expenditure and income 

 

67 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for: 

 

a. selecting suitable accounting policies and ensuring that they are 
applied consistently 

b. exercising supervision over financial and accounting records and 
systems 

Page 87

Agenda Item 5



 

20 
 

c. preparing and publishing reports containing the statements on the 
overall finances of the Council including the Council’s Annual 
Report and Accounts 

 

68 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for ensuring 
that all staff within their directorates receive any relevant financial 
training which has been approved by the Section 151 Officer, and that 
they are aware of and adhere to the accounting policies, procedures 
and guidelines set by down by the Section 151 Officer.  

 

ACCOUNTING RECORDS AND RETURNS 

 

69 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for determining and approving 
the accounting procedures and records for the Council. 

 

70 All accounts and accounting records will be compiled by the Section 
151 Officer or under his/her direction. The form and content of records 
maintained in other directorates will be approved by the Section 151 
Officer. 

 

71 The key controls for accounting policies are: 

 

a. calculation, checking and recording of sums due to or from the 
Council will be separated as completely as possible from their 
collection or payment 

b. officers responsible for examining and checking cash transaction 
accounts will not process any of these transactions themselves 

c. reconciliation procedures are carried out to ensure transactions 
are correctly recorded 

d. procedures are in place to enable accounting records to be 
reconstituted in the event of systems failure 

e. prime documents are retained in accordance with legislative and 
other requirements. 

 

 

 

 

Page 88

Agenda Item 5



 

21 
 

THE ANNUAL STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

 

72 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for ensuring that the annual 
statement of accounts is prepared in accordance with the Code of 
Practice on Local Council Accounting in the United Kingdom 
(CIPFA/LASAAC) and signing them in accordance with the Accounts 
and Audit Regulation 2015. Approval of the statutory accounts has 
been delegated by Council to the Audit and Governance Committee. 

 

FINANCIAL PLANNING 

WHY IS THIS IMPORTANT? 

 

73 The full Council is responsible for agreeing the Council’s Budget, which 
will be proposed by the Cabinet. In terms of financial planning, the key 
elements are: 

 

a. the Medium Term Financial Plan – sets out: 

 

 what the Council wants to achieve in the short and medium 
term 

 how services will change in the light of priorities, performance, 
resources, workforce planning needs and consideration of risks 

 investment required to deliver change 
 how much services will cost in overall terms and to service 

users 
b. the Budget – this is the financial expression of the Council’s 

Business Plan. It sets out the allocation of resources to services 
and projects, the level of contingency funding, the Council Tax 
base and Council Tax rate, borrowing limits and capital financing 
requirements. 

c. the Capital Programme – Capital expenditure involves acquiring or 
enhancing fixed assets with a long-term value to the Council, such 
as land, buildings, and major items of plant, equipment or 
vehicles. Capital assets shape the way services are delivered in 
the long term and create financial commitments for the future in 
the form of financing costs and revenue running costs. 

d. the Capital Strategy and Treasury Management Strategy – which 
sets out the arrangements for the management of the Council’s 
borrowing, lending, cash flows and investments 

e. specific Strategies which have a financial implication 

 

Page 89

Agenda Item 5



 

22 
 

POLICY FRAMEWORK 

 

74 The full Council is required by law, to agree a Policy Framework. 

 

75 The full Council is also responsible for approving procedures for 
agreeing variations to approved budgets, plans and strategies forming 
the Policy Framework. 

 

76 The full Council is responsible for setting the level at which the Cabinet 
may reallocate budget funds from one service to another. The Cabinet 
is responsible for taking in-year decisions on resources and priorities in 
order to deliver the Policy Framework within the financial limits set by 
the Council. 

 

BUDGET PLAN 

 

77 Each year the Section 151 Officer is responsible for preparing a budget 
plan for the Council including an approved revenue budget, capital 
programme, treasury management strategy (new capital strategy) and 
reserves strategy detailing the financial and service scenario and the 
policy and expenditure changes required to respond to this scenario. 

 

78 Executive Directors and Heads of Service will support this process by 
assessing and advising on the service scenario and policy and 
expenditure options for revenue and capital, in their area of 
responsibility, in a form determined by the Section 151 Officer.  

 

79 The Cabinet, advised by the Section 151 Officer, Executive Directors 
and Heads of Service, will develop a budget package including 
financing options, policy and expenditure options and capital 
programme. This will be subject to scrutiny by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee before the Cabinet finalises its recommendations 
to Council. The final Budget policy and Council Tax will be determined 
by Council. 

 

 

 

Page 90

Agenda Item 5



 

23 
 

REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING AND CONTROL REVENUE 
EXPENDITURE 

 

80 Revenue expenditure is broadly defined as any expenditure incurred 
on the day to day running of the Council. Examples of revenue 
expenditure include salaries, energy costs, and consumable supplies 
and materials.  

 

MONITORING AND CONTROL 

 

81 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for providing appropriate 
financial information to enable budgets to be monitored effectively. He 
or she must monitor and control expenditure against budget allocations 
at a corporate level and report to the Cabinet on the overall position on 
a regular basis. 

 

82 It is the responsibility of Executive Directors and Heads of Service to 
control income and expenditure within their area and to monitor 
performance, taking account of financial information and guidance 
provided by the Section 151 Officer. They must report on variances 
within their own areas. They must also take any action necessary to 
avoid exceeding their budget allocation and alert the Section 151 
Officer to any potential overspending or under-achievement of income 
budgets in a timely manner. 

 

83 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for the following: 

 

a. Establishing an appropriate framework of budgetary management 
and control which ensures that: 
 budget management is exercised within annual budget 

allocations unless the full Council agrees otherwise 
 timely information on receipts and payments is made available, 

which is sufficiently detailed to enable officers to fulfil their 
budgetary responsibilities 

 expenditure is committed only against an approved budget head 
 all officers responsible for committing expenditure comply with 

relevant guidance, and Finance and Contract Procedure Rules 
 each cost centre has a single named manager, determined by 

the relevant Executive Director and Head of Service. As a 
general principle, budget responsibility should be aligned as 
closely as possible to the decision-making processes that 
commits expenditure 

Page 91

Agenda Item 5



 

24 
 

 significant variances from approved budgets are investigated 
and reported by budget managers regularly 

b. Administering the Council’s scheme of virement 
c. Submitting reports to the Cabinet and to the full Council, in 

consultation with the relevant Executive Director or Head of 
Service, where they are unable to balance expenditure and 
resources within existing approved budgets under their control 

d. Preparing and submitting reports on the Council’s projected income 
and expenditure compared with the budget on a regular basis. 

 

84 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for the 
following: 

 

a. Maintaining budgetary control within their Services, in adherence to 
the principles of paragraph 88, and ensuring that all income and 
expenditure is properly recorded and accounted for 

b. Ensuring that an accountable budget manager is identified for each 
item of income and expenditure under their control. As a general 
principle, budget responsibility should be aligned as closely as 
possible to the decision-making that commits expenditure. 

c. Ensuring that spending remains within the service’s overall 
approved budget, and that individual budget heads are not 
overspent, by monitoring the budget and taking appropriate and 
timely corrective action where significant variations from the 
approved budget are forecast. 

d. Ensuring that a monitoring process is in place to review 
performance levels/levels of service in conjunction with the budget 
and is operating effectively 

e. Preparing and submitting to the Cabinet regular reports on the 
service’s projected expenditure compared with its budget, in 
consultation with the Section 151 Officer 

f. Ensuring prior approval by the full Council or Cabinet (as 
appropriate) for new proposals, of whatever amount, that: 
 create financial commitments in future years 
 change existing policies, initiate new policies or cease existing 

policies or materially extend or reduce the Council’s services. 
g. Ensuring compliance with the scheme of virement 
h. Agreeing with the appropriate Executive Director or Head of Service 

any budget proposal, (including a virement proposal) which 
impacts their respective service areas, after having consulted with 
the Section 151 Officer and the Cabinet Member Regulatory and 
Compliance and Corporate Resources  

i. Ensuring Schemes of Financial Delegation are maintained for all 
within their area of responsibility 

j. Ensuring best value is obtained. 

 

 

Page 92

Agenda Item 5



 

25 
 

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES  
 
85 The S151 Officer is responsible for:  

a. reviewing at least annually in consultation with Executive Directors 
and Heads of Service the existing contingent liabilities and ensuring 
that a balance sheet provision is made where necessary, in 
accordance with CIPFA guidance.  

b. taking steps wherever possible, in consultation with the Chief 
Executive, Executive Directors and Heads of Service, to minimise 
the risk of contingent liabilities.  

 
 
86 The Chief Executive, Executive Directors and Heads of Service are 

responsible for:  
a. setting up procedures and processes to minimise the risk of 

creating contingent liabilities  
b. reviewing at least annually their service areas for contingent 

liabilities  
c. informing the Section 151 Officer of any new contingent liabilities 

and of any changes in the circumstances of existing contingent 
liabilities.  

 
87 These regulations may be modified by any Delegation Scheme which 

the Council may approve from time to time.  

 

DETERMINATION, MONITORING AND CONTROL OF 
AFFORDABLE BORROWING 

 

88 Under the Local Government Act 2003 the Council is required by 
regulation to comply with the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities. The key objectives of the Prudential Code 
are to ensure that within a clear framework, the capital investment 
plans of local authorities are affordable, prudent and sustainable. A 
further objective is to ensure that treasury management supports 
prudence, affordability and sustainability. 

 

89 The Council is responsible for approving prior to the commencement of 
the financial year the prudential indicators for the forthcoming financial 
year and subsequent financial years as required by the Code. The 
indicators required as a minimum are: 

 

a. Estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 
b. Estimates of capital expenditure 
c. Estimate of capital financing requirement (underlying need to 

borrow for a capital purpose) 

Page 93

Agenda Item 5



 

26 
 

d. Authorised limit for external debt 
e. Operational boundary for external debt 

After the year end actual values are to be calculated for: 

f. Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 
g. Capital expenditure 
h. Capital financing requirement 
i. External debt 

 

90 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for: 

 

a. establishing procedures to both monitor performance against all 
forward looking prudential indicators and for ensuring that net 
external borrowing does not exceed the capital financing 
requirement. 

b. reporting to Council any significant deviations from expectations. 
c. ensuring that regular monitoring is undertaken in year against the 

key measures of affordability and sustainability, by reviewing 
estimates of financing costs to revenue and the capital financing 
requirement. 

d. reporting to Council, setting out management action, where there is 
significant variation in the estimates used to calculate these 
prudential indicators, for example caused by major overruns of 
expenditure on projects or not achieving in-year capital receipts. 

 

RESOURCE ALLOCATION 

 

91 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for developing and maintaining 
a resource allocation process that ensures due consideration of the 
Council’s Policy Framework. 

 

92 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for: 

 

a. advising on methods available for the funding of resources, such 
as grants from central government and borrowing requirements 

b. assisting in the allocation of resources to budget managers 

 

 

 

Page 94

Agenda Item 5



 

27 
 

93 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for: 

 

a. working within budget limits and to utilise resources allocated, and 
further allocate resources, in the most efficient, effective and 
economic way 

b. identifying opportunities to minimise or eliminate resource 
requirements or consumption without having a detrimental effect 
on service delivery 

 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 

 

94 Capital expenditure is broadly defined as expenditure on the acquisition 
of a tangible asset, or expenditure which enhances (rather than merely 
maintains), the value of an existing asset and/or extends the useful life 
of an asset and increasing usability, provided that the asset yields 
benefits to the Council and the services it provides is for a period of 
more than one year. Sefton’s de minimus level for new assets is 
currently £10,000. This limit can be varied at the discretion of the 
Section 151 Officer. 

 

CAPITAL MONITORING, APPROVALS AND AMENDMENTS TO THE 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME  

 

95 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for preparing and submitting 
reports to Cabinet on the Council’s projected capital expenditure and 
resources compared with the budget on a regular basis, as well as an 
annual outturn report after the close of the financial year. 

 

96 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for establishing procedures to 
monitor and report on performance compared to the prudential 
indicators set by the Council. 

 

97 The Section151 Officer in conjunction with the Chief Executive is 
responsible for: 
a. Setting up procedures under which capital expenditure proposals 

are evaluated and appraised to ensure that value for money is being 
achieved, are consistent with service and are achievable 

b. Compiling a capital programme for approval by Council 
c. Setting up procedures for corporate monitoring of external sources 

of capital funding 

Page 95

Agenda Item 5



 

28 
 

d. Ensuring that expenditure treated as capital expenditure by the 
Council is in accordance with the best accounting practice 

 

98 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for: 

 

a. liaising with the Section 151 Officer ensuring that estimated final 
costs of schemes in the approved capital programme are included 
within the reports to Cabinet of the overall capital programme 
position 

b. reporting to the Section 151 Officer circumstances when it is 
considered that additional Council capital resources will be required 
to implement a project that has previously been given approval to 
spend, where such additional resources cannot be identified from 
within the portfolio programme concerned 

c. reporting to the Section 151 Officer on any proposed variations to 
the capital programme during a financial year 

d. seeking authority for a capital scheme which is not in the capital 
programme agreed by Council or changes to capital programme 

 

99 Any ‘in year’ approval sought for capital schemes, must be supported 
by a completed, detailed Business Case template, in the format 
prescribed by the Section 151 Officer, prior to submission through the 
appropriate decision-making route. 

 

 

CAPITAL RECEIPTS 

 

100 The Section 151 Officer must be informed of all proposed sales of land 
and buildings so that the effect on financial and property management 
can be assessed. 

 

101 On the advice of the Section 151 Officer, the Council will determine 
how capital receipts will be applied when setting the annual revenue 
and capital budget. 

 

 

 

 

Page 96

Agenda Item 5



 

29 
 

LEASING AND RENTAL AGREEMENTS 

 

102 Leasing or renting agreements must not be entered into unless the 
service has established that they do not constitute a charge against the 
Council’s prudential borrowing limits. The Section 151 Officer is 
responsible for issuing any financial procedures /guidance in relation to 
Leases and Lease agreements including, but not limited to, those 
leases and lease arrangements relating to schools, commercial and 
general leasing activity.  Leases, including land or property, of less 
than 20 years can be agreed by the Section 151 Officer via a Chief 
Officers Report. Leases, including land and property, of 20 years or 
more will require Cabinet Member approval in addition to the Section 
151 Officer. 

 

103 Leases relating to land or property following the approval process can 
only be signed by the Monitoring Officer or his/her authorised deputies, 
or persons specifically authorised by the Service Scheme of Financial 
Delegation, may sign such agreements. The Chief Executive, 
Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for ensuring 
all procedures / guidance issued by the Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services in regard to Leases and Lease 
arrangements are complied with. 

 

COMMERCIAL INVESTMENT ACTIVITY 

 

104 The Council holds a selection of assets that support the council’s core 
purpose and generate a financial return. For such defined assets, 
detailed business plans outlining forecast income and expenditure over 
a determined period are produced for approval by Cabinet. Business 
plans should be reviewed and refreshed annually and presented to 
Cabinet for approval.  

 
105 In order to support the management of these assets, Cabinet have 

approved the establishment of an Investment Board (led by the Chief 
Executive and including the Section 151 Officer) that will provide the 
strategic management function to these assets. The approval of these 
business cases will include provision that all financial (capital, revenue 
and income) and operational decisions will be delegated to the 
Investment Board where the implications can be contained within the 
approved business plans.  

 

106 The Investment Board also has the delegated authority to develop, 
approve and implement projects that comply with the approved 

Page 97

Agenda Item 5



 

30 
 

business case providing they improve the financial performance of 
commercial assets. Where such capital investment is required (up to a 
maximum of £1.5m) a clear positive financial return will need to be 
demonstrated over the life of the asset and any investment must be 
made in accordance with the Council’s approved Treasury 
Management Strategy and Prudential Indicators.  

 

107 Cabinet will continue to have executive leadership of commercial 
assets and will monitor performance through the approval and 
monitoring of business plans, ensuring that capital expenditure is in 
accordance with the Councils Treasury Management Strategy and 
Prudential Indicators. Performance will be reported on a quarterly 
basis.  

 

 

 

MAINTENANCE OF RESERVES 

 

108 It is the responsibility of the Section 151 Officer to advise the Cabinet 
and/or the full Council on prudent levels of reserves for the Council. 

 

109 The key controls are: 

 

a. Professional standards as set out in the Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom: and agreed 
accounting policies 

b. Clear agreement of the purpose for which reserves are held and 
the type of expenditure which they may be used to fund 

c. Clear processes for the authorisation of Appropriations to and from 
reserves 

 

110 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for advising the Cabinet and/or 
the full Council on prudent levels of reserves for the Council, having 
due regard to any advice that may be offered by the Council’s external 
auditor and other professional bodies (e.g. CIPFA) in this matter. 

 

111 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for ensuring 
that resources are used only for the purposes for which they were 
intended. 

 

Page 98

Agenda Item 5



 

31 
 

REPORTING 

 

112 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for 
preparing reports on overall financial and non-financial performance for 
their Services and for submitting these to the Cabinet, and the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee after consulting the Section 151 
Officer in accordance with procedures agreed from time to time. These 
reports must include specific reference to the implementation of policy 
changes and new developments agreed as part of the budget setting 
process and other specific requirements as notified in the reporting 
guidance. Executive Directors and Heads of Service will also be 
required to support the Section 151 Officer in reporting on the progress 
and forecast of all capital expenditure and income against the 
approved programme. 

 

113 Any reports are to include specific reference to Service performance 
against the expected non-financial outcomes in the form of key 
performance targets. Executive Directors and Heads of Service are 
expected to achieve value for money in the delivery of services and 
the reports should demonstrate how this has been achieved together 
with an analysis of how key policy and expenditure proposals have 
been implemented. 

 

114 The key reporting stages are: 

 

a. Approval of the Business Case, which will be in a form 
prescribed by the Section 151 Officer before it can be 
included in the Capital Programme 

b. Monthly reviews of revenue and capital expenditure produced by the 
Section 151 Officer in consultation with Executive Directors and Heads 
of Service 

c. Final outturn reports for both revenue and capital expenditure, 
including full post-implementation review, on all major capital 
schemes completed during the year.  

 

115 In addition, the reports will be specifically required to give details in 
respect of the following: 

 

a. Potential overspends and proposed remedial action, including 
any impact on balances and future year’s budgets which may 
need to be factored in to future financial scenario planning 

Page 99

Agenda Item 5



 

32 
 

b. Amendments to approved budgets (virements, 
supplementary capital estimates etc.) where Member 
approval is required. 

 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF RESOURCES 

 

Why is this important? 

 

116 It is essential that robust, integrated systems are developed and 
maintained for identifying and evaluating all significant operational risks 
to the Council. This should include the proactive participation of all 
those associated with planning and delivering services. 

 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INSURANCE 

 

117 The Cabinet is responsible for advising Council on an appropriate risk 
management policy statement and strategy, and for reviewing the 
effectiveness of risk management.  The Audit and Governance 
Committee is responsible for monitoring the effectiveness of the risk 
management policy. The Cabinet is also responsible for ensuring that 
proper insurance exists where appropriate. 

 

118 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for preparing the Council’s risk 
management policy statement and for promoting it throughout the 
Council. 

 

INSURANCE 

 

119 The Section 151 Officer will maintain and administer the Council’s 
insurances. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for authorising the 
settlement or repudiation of insurance claims and associated costs 
acting on advice from the Council’s Legal Services, insurers, and claim 
handlers. 

 

 

 

Page 100

Agenda Item 5



 

33 
 

120 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for informing 
the Section 151 Officer immediately of: 

 

a. any events which may result in an insurance claim against the 
Council 

b. the terms of any indemnity which the Council is required to 
give prior to entering into any contracts etc. 

c. any new risks which might require to be insured, together with 
any changed circumstances affecting existing risks. 
Consideration should be given to new projects, new ways of 
working, and changes in legislation requiring new ways of 
delivery etc., where the insurance impact is often overlooked 

 

121 No new insurances may be taken out without prior consultation with the 
Section 151 Officer. 

 

122 Executive Directors and Heads of Service must ensure that there is co-
operation with the Insurance Team in providing the correct 
documentation and that the correct retention of documents is observed. 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

123 The Council’s approach to Risk Management is that it should be 
embedded throughout the organisation at both a strategic and an 
operational level, through integration into existing systems and 
processes. 

 

124 The Section 151 Officer develops the strategy and supporting 
framework on behalf of Executive Directors and Heads of Service. The 
Audit and Governance Committee scrutinise the risk management 
process ensuring the Council’s risks are managed effectively.   

 

125 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for ensuring 
the Risk Management Strategy is implemented and that the full risk 
management cycle operates within their Service. 

 

126 The principles within the Corporate Risk Management Handbook 
consist of: 

 

a. identification of risks, both negative and positive, in relation to the 
objectives of the Council. 

Page 101

Agenda Item 5



 

34 
 

b. evaluation of risks scored for likelihood and impact, both gross 
(before any controls) and net (with existing controls) 

c. treatment of the risk either by: treat, tolerate, transfer or terminate 
the activity. 

d. actions and risks monitored and reviewed on a regular basis. 
e. the Council’s Corporate Risk Register will be developed and 

maintained by the Chief Internal Auditor in consultation with 
Executive Directors and Heads of Service. 

 

127 There are three levels to the Risk Register. There should be a 
movement of risks both upwards and downwards throughout the levels 
and treatment addressed at the most appropriate level of the 
organisation. 

 

a.   Corporate – those risks that impact on the organisation’s overall 
objectives either because of their frequency of occurrence or the 
significance of the impact. 

b.   Service – those risks that impact on the service objectives.  
c.   Operational - minor risks that are managed within the service area 

that impact on the operational performance of the team. Where the 
risks increase they should move upwards into the service and 
potentially corporate risk register. 

 

OPERATIONAL 

 

128 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for ensuring 
risk management is carried out at both an operational and strategic 
level in accordance with the agreed guidance and procedures. 

 

129 Executive Directors and Heads of Service will take account of, and 
address, corporate risks and inform the Chief Internal Auditor of any 
service risks that should be considered significant enough to rise to the 
corporate risk register level. 

 

130 Service and operational risk registers, and associated actions, should 
be reviewed on a regular basis (at least quarterly) as part of the 
performance management process.  

 

131 The Corporate Risk Register will be reported to Executive Directors 
and Heads of Service / Strategic Leadership Board and to the Audit 
and Governance Committee on a quarterly basis.  

Page 102

Agenda Item 5



 

35 
 

 

BUSINESS CONTINUITY 

 

132 The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 places a statutory requirement for 
Local Authorities to maintain plans for the continuation of services in 
the event of an emergency, so far as is reasonably practicable. 
Services are expected to have arrangements in place to ensure the 
effective identification, evaluation and management of business 
critical services. 

 

 

INTERNAL CONTROLS 

 

133 Internal Control refers to the systems devised by management to help 
ensure the Council’s objectives are achieved in a manner that 
promotes economic, efficient and effective use of resources and that 
the Council’s assets are safeguarded. 

 

134 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for advising on effective 
systems of internal control. These arrangements need to ensure 
compliance with all applicable statutes and regulations, and other 
relevant statements of best practice.  

 

135 It is the responsibility of Executive Directors and Heads of Service to 
establish sound arrangements for planning, appraising, authorising and 
controlling their operations in order to achieve continuous improvement, 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness.  

 

 

AUDIT REQUIREMENTS 

 

          INTERNAL AUDIT 

 

136 The requirement for an internal audit function for local authorities is 
implied by section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, which 
requires that authorities “make arrangements for the proper 
administration of their financial affairs”. The Accounts and Audit 

Page 103

Agenda Item 5



 

36 
 

Regulations 2015 more specifically require that a “relevant authority 
must ensure that it has a sound system of internal control which 
facilitates the effective exercise of ifs functions and the achievement of 
its aims and objectives; ensures that the financial and operational 
management of the authority is effective; and includes effective 
arrangements for the management of risk.” 

 

137 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards define internal auditing as 
“an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed 
to add value and improve and organisation’s operations. It helps an 
organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, 
disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk 
management, control and governance processes.” 

 

138 The Council’s Internal Audit Team delivers this function within the 
Council and provides assurance to the Section 151 Officer and the 
Audit and Governance Committee, with regard to the effectiveness of 
the Council’s internal control environment. 

 

139 The Council must, on an annual basis, produce an Annual Governance 
statement. This statement must provide a description of the system of 
internal control within the Council, a description of any work 
undertaken to assess the effectiveness of the internal control 
framework, and any significant governance issues. 

 

140 To contribute to the production of the Annual Governance Statement, 
the Chief Internal Auditor is responsible for planning and delivering a 
programme of independent review of the Council’s activities, the scope 
of the programme being based on the Council’s objectives and an 
assessment of the risk which may affect the achievement of these 
objectives. 

 

141 The Chief Internal Auditor is also responsible for reporting to those 
charged with governance and currently satisfies this requirement by 
presenting an annual report to the Audit and Governance Committee, in 
which the activity of the internal audit service during the preceding 
financial year is summarised as to arrive at an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Council’s internal control. The annual internal audit 
plan is presented to Audit and Governance Committee for approval and 
a report summarising performance and key findings is presented to 
every Audit and Governance meeting.  

 

Page 104

Agenda Item 5



 

37 
 

142 The Internal Audit Charter sets out that Audit staff will have, in 
accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations, and with strict 
accountability for confidentiality, and safeguarding records and 
information, full, free and unrestricted access to any and all of the 
Council’s premises, personnel, assets and records. Rights of access to 
relevant external bodies will be set out in the contracts/ agreements.  

 

EXTERNAL AUDIT 

 

143 The basic duties of the external auditor are governed by section 15 of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1982, as amended by section 5 of 
the Audit Commission Act 1998. 

 

144 The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 established new 
arrangements for the audit and accountability of relevant authorities. 
Under these new arrangements the Council has opted for its external 
auditors to be appointed by the Public Sector Audit Appointments 
Limited (PSAA), an independent company established by the LGA for 
this purpose. 

 

145 The Council may, from time to time, be subject to audit, inspection or 
investigation by external bodies such as HM Revenue and Customs, 
who have statutory rights of access. 

 

PREVENTING FRAUD AND CORRUPTION 

 

146 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for the development and 
maintenance of an anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy which 
should be presented to Cabinet for approval. 

 

147 The Council has an approved Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy which 
places responsibility for preventing fraudulent activity with all Members, 
Managers and individual members of staff. Any matters which involve, 
or are thought to involve, any fraud or other significant irregularity 
involving Council assets or those of a third party fund, must be notified 
immediately to the Section151 Officer and Chief Internal Auditor. 

 

148 The Monitoring Officer will, in consultation with Section151 Officer and 
Chief Internal Auditor, decide whether any matter under investigation 
should be recommended for referral to the Police or the appropriate 

Page 105

Agenda Item 5



 

38 
 

enforcement agency. The Council’s External Auditor also has powers to 
independently investigate fraud and corruption.  

 

ASSETS 

 

149 In the context of these Rules, assets are defined as the resources, 
other than people, that the Council uses to deliver its service functions. 
Assets include buildings, land and infrastructure; furniture; equipment; 
plant; stores and “intellectual property” such as computer software, 
data and information of all kinds. 

 

150 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for the 
care, control and proper and economical use of all assets used in 
connection with the operation and delivery of their Services. Proper 
records should be maintained for these assets, together with 
appropriate arrangements for their management and security. 
Information Assets should be recognised in line with the Council’s 
guidance and recorded in the Information Asset Register. 

 

151 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for ensuring 
that assets are used only for official purposes and that all appropriate 
rights, licenses and insurances are obtained. 

 

152 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for 
ensuring that all computer software used is properly licensed. 

 

153 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are expected to have policies in 
place for: 

 

a. the effective disposal of surplus assets 
b. asset replacement programme 
c. compilation of and regular review of Asset inventories 

 
154 The Service Manager – Property Services is responsible for ensuring there 

is a current (annually reviewed) Asset Management Strategy and Asset 
Disposal Policy in place. 

 

 

 

Page 106

Agenda Item 5



 

39 
 

PROPERTY 

 

155 The Service Manager – Property Services is responsible for 
maintaining a “property terrier” recording all land and buildings owned 
by the Council. The delegated Monitoring Officer is responsible for the 
safe keeping and recording of all property deeds. 

 

156 The Council’s Asset Management Strategy sets out the vision, core 
values and objectives that form the context for the preparation of the 
Corporate Asset Management Plan and Service Asset Management 
Plans. 

 

157 All property acquisitions, lettings and disposals must be in accordance 
with the Council’s rules and procedures. Separate rules apply to 
specific processes, such as the use of capital receipts from property 
sales to pay for new schemes, and guidance should be sought from 
the Section 151 Officer where this arises. 

 

 

      INVENTORIES 

 

158 Executive Directors and Heads of Service must ensure that proper 
arrangements are made to maintain inventories of all valuable and 
transportable items, including vehicles, furniture, computer and other 
equipment (including software), visual aids, expensive tools and sports 
equipment. 

 

159 The inventory must be updated for all acquisitions and disposals and 
checked at least annually. Items acquired under leasing arrangements 
must be separately identified for disclosure in the published final 
accounts. The Section 151 Officer will provide guidance on the 
procedures to be followed.  

 

      STOCKS 

 

160 Stock is defined as consumable items constantly required and held by a 
Service in order to fulfil its functions. Executive Directors and Heads of 
Service are responsible for the control of stocks. They must ensure that 
stocks are appropriately secured and recorded, do not exceed 

Page 107

Agenda Item 5



 

40 
 

reasonable requirements and that all significant stock is accounted for in 
the year end accounts. Stocks should be checked at least once a year, 
more frequently in the case of expensive items. 

 

      CASH 

 

161 Cash held on any Council premises should be held securely, and 
should not exceed any sums for which the Council is insured. If 
retention of cash on site is unavoidable in exceptional circumstances, 
the Head of Service is responsible for making appropriate security 
arrangements. All cash should be banked as quickly as possible. 

 

     ASSET DISPOSAL/WRITE-OFF 

 

162 Executive Directors and Heads of Service may authorise the disposals, 
of obsolete or surplus equipment / groups of items, materials, vehicles 
or stores up to a disposal value of £10,000 in consultation with the 
Section 151 Officer. Where the sum exceeds £10,000 per item or group 
of items then this should be reported jointly by the Section 151 Officer 
and the relevant Head of Service to the Audit and Governance 
Committee for write-off action. Any write off which arises as a result of 
theft or fraud must be notified to the Chief Internal Auditor immediately.  

 

 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

 

163 The Chief Executive is responsible in conjunction with the Monitoring 
Officer for developing and disseminating best practice regarding the 
treatment of intellectual property. 

 

164 The Chief Executive, Executive Directors and Heads of Service are 
responsible for: 
a. Ensuring that controls are in place to ensure that staff do not carry 

out private work in council time and that staff are aware that 
anything they create during the course of their employment, whether 
written or otherwise, belongs to the Council. 

b. Complying with copyright, design and patent legislation and, in 
particular, to ensure that: 

 Only software legally acquired and installed by the authority 
is used on its computers, 

 Staff are aware of legislative provisions, and 

Page 108

Agenda Item 5



 

41 
 

 In developing systems, due regard is given to the issue of 
intellectual property rights. 

 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT 

 

165 The Council has adopted CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury 
Management in Local Authorities. 

 

166 The full Council is responsible for approving the treasury management 
policy statement setting out the matters detailed in paragraph 15 of 
CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management in Local 
Authorities. The policy statement is proposed to the full Council by the 
Cabinet. The Section 151 Officer has delegated responsibility for 
implementing and monitoring the statement. 

 

167 All money in the hands of the Council is controlled by the Section 151 
Officer as designated for the purposes of section 151 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, referred to in the code as the finance director. 

 

168 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for proposing to the Cabinet a 
treasury management strategy for the coming financial year at or 
before the start of each financial year. 

 

169 All Cabinet decisions on borrowing, investment or financing shall be 
delegated to the Section 151 Officer, who is required to act in 
accordance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management in 
Local Authorities. 

 

170 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for reporting to the Council no 
less than two times in each financial year on the activities of the 
treasury management operation and on the exercise of his or her 
delegated treasury management powers. One such report will 
comprises a mid-year review and an annual report on treasury 
management for presentation prior to the 30th June following each 
financial year end. 

 

 

 

 

Page 109

Agenda Item 5



 

42 
 

BANKING 

 

171 It is the responsibility of the Section 151 Officer to operate such 
bank accounts as are considered necessary. Opening or closing 
any bank account shall require the approval of the Section 151 
Officer. 

 

172 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for 
operating bank accounts opened with the approval of the Section 
151 Officer in accordance with issued guidelines. 

 

INVESTMENTS AND BORROWINGS 

 

173 It is the responsibility of the Section 151 Officer to: 

 

a. ensure that all investments of money are made in the name of 
the Council or in the name of approved nominees 

b. ensure that all securities that are the property are held in the 
name of the Council or its nominees (the Chief Legal and 
Democratic Officer is responsible for ensuring the title deeds of 
all property in the Council’s ownership is held in safe custody) 

c. effect all borrowings in the name of the Council 
d. act as the Council’s registrar of stocks, bonds and mortgages and 

to maintain records of all borrowing of money by the Council 

 

LOANS TO THIRD PARTIES AND ACQUISITION OF THIRD PARTY 
INTERESTS 

 

174 Interests should not be acquired in companies, joint ventures or 
other enterprises without obtaining prior approval of the full Council, 
the Leader, Cabinet or the appropriate Cabinet Member as outlined 
below. 

 

a. The Section 151 Officer, Cabinet Member for Regulation and 
Compliance and relevant Cabinet Member(s) are jointly responsible 
for approving financial and asset loans made to third parties up to 
£50,000 

b. The Cabinet is responsible for approving financial and asset loans 
between £50,000 and £1m 

c. The Council is responsible for approving financial or asset loans 

Page 110

Agenda Item 5



 

43 
 

above £1m 
d. Loans transacted as part of Treasury Management activities are 

covered by the Treasury Management Policy and Strategy. 

 

TRUST FUNDS AND FUNDS HELD FOR THIRD PARTIES 

 

175 It is the responsibility of the Section 151 Officer to: 

 

a. arrange for all trust funds to be held, wherever possible, in the 
name of the Council (e.g. ‘Sefton Metropolitan Borough 
Council on behalf of…..’). All officers acting as trustees by 
virtue of their official position shall deposit securities, etc. 
relating to the trust with the Section 151 Officer, unless the 
deed otherwise provides. 

b. arrange where funds are held on behalf of third parties, for their 
secure administration, approved by the Section 151 Officer, and 
to maintain written records of all transactions 

c. ensure that trust funds are operated within any relevant 
legislation and the specific requirements for each trust 

d. Approval of procedures for the management of Clients 
financial affairs, where the Council has been granted 
advocacy 

e. The Executive Directors of Children’s Social Care and Adult 
Social Care are responsible for ensuring procedures in 
relation to the management of Clients financial affairs are 
complied with. 

 

STAFFING 

 

SALARIES AND WAGES 

 

176 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible, in 
consultation with the Chief Personnel Officer, for providing accurate 
and appropriate information and instructions to the Transactional 
HR, Payroll & Pensions Services to enable the calculation and 
prompt payment of salaries, expenses and pensions, including 
details of appointments, promotions, regrading, resignations, 
dismissals, retirements and absences from duty. Human Resources 
will advise the Transactional HR, Payroll & Pensions Services of 
relevant changes in respect of employee’s pensions. The Head of 
Transactional Services will make arrangements for payment to the 

Page 111

Agenda Item 5



 

44 
 

appropriate bodies, of all statutory, including taxation, and other 
payroll deductions. 

 

177 Time sheets and other pay documents which are used to generate 
payment of salaries, wages or other employee-related expenses 
must be on official forms or via authorised electronic inputs. 
Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for 
ensuring that they are certified by an authorised officer and that they 
are submitted to the Transactional HR, Payroll & Pensions Services 
in accordance with the specified timetable. This includes on-line 
input entered locally. The names and specimen signatures of 
authorised officers must be secured by Executive Directors and 
Heads of Service and included in the service Scheme of Financial 
Delegation notified to the Section 151 Officer. 

 

178 The Chief Personnel Officer will implement national and local pay 
agreements as soon as possible after their notification from the 
appropriate body. Arrangements for funding such awards will be 
determined each year as part of the budgetary process. 

 

EARLY RETIREMENT/SEVERANCE 

 

179 Where Executive Directors and Heads of Service wish to bring 
forward proposals under the Council’s policies on severance and 
early retirement, they must be accompanied by a full cost and 
affordability assessment, in a form agreed by the Chief Executive, 
the Section 151 Officer and the Chief Personnel Officer. The Cabinet 
Member for Regulatory Compliance and Corporate Resources shall 
be consulted for proposals relating to Hay Grade 6 and above. 

 

180 The Chief Executive or Section 151 Officer must approve all 
requests up to £100,000 including pension strain. All requests in 
excess of £100,000 including pension strain must be approved by 
the Pay and Grading Committee. 

 

181 Executive Directors and Heads of Service will generally be required 
to meet the costs of severance and early retirement from within their 
approved budget.  Service efficiency applications may be subject to 
phasing over an agreed period. A corporate budget may also be 
established for staffing reductions linked to the Council’s MTFP 
saving options and access to this budget will be subject to the 
agreement of the Chief Executive and the Section 151 Officer. 

Page 112

Agenda Item 5



 

45 
 

TRAVELLING AND SUBSISTENCE 

 

182 The Section 151 Officer and the Chief Personnel Officer are 
responsible for issuing guidance on travelling and subsistence. 
Executive Directors and Heads of Service are accountable for 
ensuring their teams follow the approved guidance on travelling 
and subsistence claims. 

 

183 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for 
instructing the Chief Personnel Officer and for providing 
appropriate and accurate information to enable the prompt and 
accurate payment of travelling, subsistence and other expenses to 
authorised employees in accordance with the terms of 
employment agreed by the Council. 

 

184 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for 
ensuring that Council employees who use their cars for official 
business are properly insured to indemnify the Council against any 
loss and for ensuring that payments are only made in respect of 
journeys which are necessary and actually undertaken. Executive 
Directors and Heads of Service should ensure that the most 
economical available means of transport is used, including pool cars, 
hire cars and car sharing. 

 

185 All claims for reimbursement must be made using appropriate 
official claim forms, always using electronic processing where 
available. 

 

186 Further guidance is available via the Intranet - Pay and 
Expenses. 

 

CODE OF CONDUCT 

 

187 The Code of Conduct for Employees applies to, and will be followed 
by all officers. It covers financial, personal and other interests, gifts 
hospitality and other favours, sponsorship – giving and receiving, 
use of financial resources, disclosure of information, relationship 
with others, and separation of duties during tendering, 
appointments, political neutrality, additional employment, intellectual 
property, equality and declarations.  

 

Page 113

Agenda Item 5



 

46 
 

188 Where an outside organisation wishes to sponsor or is asked to 
sponsor a Council activity, whether by invitation, tender, 
negotiation or voluntarily, the basic conventions concerning 
acceptance of gifts and hospitality applies, as detailed in the Code 
of Conduct for Employees. 

 

189 Further guidance is available via the Intranet 
http://intranet.smbc.loc/personnel/policies-and-
procedures.aspx. 

 

 

THIRD PARTY FUNDS 

 

190 A third party fund is defined as any fund financed other than by the 
Council, controlled wholly or partly by a member of the Council’s 
staff in connection with the clients, establishments or activities of the 
Council such as School Funds, Amenity Funds or Criminal Injuries 
Compensation Payments for children in care. A register of third party 
funds will be maintained by the Corporate Finance team. 

 

191 Money or goods belonging to the Third Party Fund must be kept 
completely separate from other money or goods belonging to the 
Council. Similarly, completely separate records must be kept of the 
money or goods involved. 

 

192 An independent auditor must be appointed who has suitable 
qualities though not necessarily professionally qualified, to audit the 
Third Party Fund on an annual basis. Annual Statements of 
Account and Audit Certificates must be formally presented to a 
Management Committee or other appropriate governing body of the 
Third Party fund. 

 

193 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for 
ensuring that any Third Party Funds controlled by Council staff are: 

 

a. formally declared to Corporate Finance team as part of a register 
kept by the Service 

b. maintained separately and correctly in accordance with these 
Finance Procedure Rules, and 

c. subject to the same standards of stewardship and probity as 
Council funds 

Page 114

Agenda Item 5



 

47 
 

 

194 The Returning Officer will be responsible for maintaining complete 
and accurate records and for reconciliation with regard to elections 
accounts. 

 

RETENTION OF RECORDS 

 

195 The Council, in common with other public and private 
organisations, has certain statutory obligations it has to meet for the 
retention of its records. It also has to fulfil the requirements of HM 
Revenue and Customs, other legislative requirements and the 
external auditors in respect of its financial records. 

 

196 All records held should have an appropriate retention period 
assigned to them, which meet the statutory obligations to retain 
financial records, but also takes into account legislative 
requirements such as the Limitation Act and General Data 
Protection Regulation; Freedom of Information requirements; and 
the business needs of the Service. 

 

197 The majority of financial records must be kept for six years from the 
end of the tax year to which they relate. Some records however, 
may need to be kept for longer periods e.g. if required to defend 
future insurance claims. It is possible others can be destroyed 
within shorter periods. Guidance on the appropriate retention 
period is given in the Council’s Retention Policy and its Information 
Asset Register. 

 

FINANCIAL SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES 

     WHY IS THIS IMPORTANT? 

 

198 Sound systems and procedures are essential to an effective 
framework of accountability and control. 

 

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 

 

199 The Council will approve the terms under which banking services, 
including overdraft facilities, are provided. 

Page 115

Agenda Item 5



 

48 
 

 

BANKING ARRANGEMENTS 

 

200 All bank accounts must be titled impersonally in the name of 
Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council. 

 

201 Subject to any directions given by the Council, all arrangements with 
the Council’s bankers must be made solely through the Section 151 
Officer. No bank accounts may be opened or arrangements made 
with any other bank except by agreement with the Section 151 
Officer. 

 

202 Bank transfers from the General Fund and subsidiary accounts must 
be authorised by the Section 151 Officer, or those officers 
authorised to sign through the agreed Scheme of Financial 
Delegation or in accordance with the Treasury Management Policy 
and Strategy.  

 

203 Cheques drawn must bear the mechanically impressed signature of 
the Section 151 Officer or be signed by the Section 151 Officer or 
other officer authorised to sign through the agreed Scheme of 
Financial Delegation. 

 

 

     INCOME 

 

     GENERATING INCOME 

 

204 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for developing and 
maintaining standards, procedures, systems and reports to facilitate 
the effective and efficient identification, collection, receipting, 
banking and recovery of income due to the Council in accordance 
with current relevant UK legislation. 

 

205 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for 
ensuring that the appropriate legal authority for all income 
generating activities has been identified.  

 

Page 116

Agenda Item 5



 

49 
 

CHARGING FOR INCOME 

 

206 Executive Directors and Heads of Service, in consultation with the 
relevant Cabinet Member, shall determine on an annual basis the 
level of fees or charges payable in respect of any chargeable 
goods or services supplied, work undertaken or the loan or use of 
plant, equipment or machinery. These will be approved by Cabinet 
Member in advance of the start of the financial year. 

 

COLLECTION OF INCOME 

 

207 The Council operates a Sundry Debt Collection policy to secure 
invoiced sundry debt income for the provision of services. All debt 
owing to the Council must be collected promptly, effectively, 
efficiently and economically, while ensuring fair treatment of those 
that owe money, including consideration of any financial difficulties. 

 

208 Council officers must comply with guidelines issued by the 
Section 151 Officer, and those contained in the Corporate Debt 
Policy and Corporate Debt Procedures for the safe and efficient 
collection and recording of all money due to the Council. 

 

209 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for 
ensuring that accounts for income due to the Council, including 
grant claims, reimbursements and third party contributions, are 
raised immediately and accurately in a form approved by the 
Section 151 Officer. These must include VAT where appropriate. 

 

210 The cost of collection should be taken into account when raising 
accounts. Executive Directors and Heads of Service must ensure 
that the method of collection is the most cost effective relative to 
the value of the transaction. 

 

211 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for 
ensuring that all income received is receipted, where required, 
recorded correctly against the appropriate budgets, and in the case 
of cash and cheques, banked with the minimum of delay. The 
frequency of banking should follow guidelines provided by the 
Section 151 Officer Services should avoid incurring disproportionate 
banking charges on relatively low value transactions, taking into 
account local security arrangements. 

Page 117

Agenda Item 5



 

50 
 

 

212 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for 
monitoring income collection and ensuring appropriate recovery 
action is taken. A summary of the position on the level of 
outstanding debt and collection issues should be included in 
quarterly financial updates and the final outturn report.  

 

213 The Section 151 Officer will monitor compliance with paragraphs 
207 and 208 above and may, in circumstances where avoidable 
adverse cash flow has resulted, determine an appropriate interest 
charge against Service budgets. 

 

214 Credit notes must be authorised by appropriate officers 
nominated in the local Scheme of Financial Delegation. 

 

215 Any receipts, tickets or other documents used as receipts should be 
in a format agreed by the Section 151 Officer. All controlled 
stationery issued to a Head of Service must be recorded in a 
register, which is held by a single officer within each Service. 

 

BAD DEBTS  

 

216 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for producing and issuing 
guidance on bad debt. Executive Directors and Heads of Service are 
responsible for ensuring their teams comply with this guidance and 
the Corporate Debt Policy and Procedures. Bad debts may be 
written off by Authorised Officers as contained in the Scheme of 
Financial delegation in consultation with the Section 151 Officer and 
the Monitoring Officer. 

 

217 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for 
ensuring that an adequate provision for bad debt is made in the 
Council’s accounts at year end and that contributions to this 
provision are included in budgetary projections and outturn reports. 

 

 

 

Page 118

Agenda Item 5



 

51 
 

ORDERING AND PAYING FOR WORK, GOODS AND 
SERVICES  

GENERAL PRINCIPLES 

 

218 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for 
providing all appropriate information and instructions to 
Transactional Services to allow for prompt and accurate payment 
for goods and services provided and for the analysis of 
expenditure. 

 

219 Except for purchases by purchase /credit /debit card, all purchases 
must be supported by an official requisition. All purchases must 
have regard to Contract and Finance Procedure Rules. 

 

220 All requisition and purchase orders must be authorised in 
accordance with the relevant service Scheme of Financial 
Delegation to ensure that funds are available to pay for the 
purchase. 

 

221 All official purchase orders must include, as a minimum, the order 
number, the price agreed with the supplier, description of the 
goods or services to be provided, the delivery address, the address 
where invoices must be received and a link to the standard terms 
and conditions for the goods and services to be provided. 

 

222 Executive Directors and Heads of Service must ensure that there is 
adequate separation of duties in the raising and authorisation of 
requisitions, authorising of purchase orders, receipt of goods and 
authorisation of payments to transactional services.     

 

223 Executive Directors and Heads of Service must ensure robust 
processes to continually maintain computer records and accesses, 
and Schemes of Financial Delegation so that electronic workflows 
associated with core financial systems are not compromised. 

 

224 All procurement, commissioning, contract administration or 
contract management must be carried out in accordance with the 
Council’s Contract Procedure Rules  

 

Page 119

Agenda Item 5



 

52 
 

225 Executive Directors and Heads of Service must consult the 
Section 151 Officer on appropriate arrangements for purchases of 
goods and services which cannot be accommodated within 
standard ordering and payment processes. 

 

PAYMENT OF INVOICES 

 

226 All invoices must be sent directly by the creditor to the address 
stated on the official purchase order to enable prompt payment. 

 

227 All invoices, as a minimum, must include the official purchase order 
number, the description of the goods or services provided, the 
quantity delivered, the delivery address, the date of the invoices 
and/ or date of delivery of the goods or services, the address and 
VAT registration number of the supplier and the price and VAT at 
the prevailing rate. 

 

228 Invoices received without a valid purchase order number 
may be returned to the creditor as unauthorised for 
payment. 

 

229 The Council’s standard payment terms are 30 days from receipt of 
a correct invoice by BACS (Bankers Automated Clearing System). 
Alternative terms may not be negotiated or agreed with suppliers 
without the explicit approval of the Section 151 Officer. Executive 
Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for notifying 
suppliers of these terms and for ensuring that they are observed by 
all those involved in the purchasing and payment processing. 

 

230 Payment will only be made for goods and services which have 
been formally receipted in accordance with receipting procedures 
set out by the Section 151 Officer. 

 

231 All procurement, commissioning, contract administration or contract 
management activity must be carried out in accordance with the 
Council’s Contract Procedure Rules and any advice or guidance that 
may be issued from time to time by the Section 151 Officer 
regarding the efficient and effective use of the Council’s core 
financial and e-procurement systems and processes. Invoices 
received for payment must comply with the Council’s best practice 
processes. 

Page 120

Agenda Item 5



 

53 
 

 

NON-INVOICE PAYMENTS 

 

232 Where Executive Directors and Heads of Service wish to initiate 
a payment to a third party without a supporting invoice, an official 
request for payment must be submitted in a form approved by 
the Section 151 Officer. 

 

233 Any such requests must be authorised by an officer designated with 
an appropriate approval limit in the relevant service Scheme of 
Financial Delegation. They are responsible for ensuring that all 
payment details provided are accurate and that supporting records 
and documentation are available to substantiate the payment, 
including an official VAT receipt to allow for the reclaim of any VAT 
element. 

 

234 Appropriately authorised requests for payment will be processed 
and paid by BACS. Cheques will only be used in exceptional cases 
and by prior agreement. 

 

235 Non-invoice payments should be requested on an exceptional 
basis only. Where payments of this type need to be made on 
regular basis Executive Directors and Heads of Service must 
consider, in conjunction with the Section 151 Officer, other 
alternative options which may be more appropriate. 

 

 

236 Payments or reimbursements in respect of salaries and wages 
travelling expenses or other employment allowances must be 
processed through the Payroll system and not treated as a non-
invoice payment. 

 

 

CREDIT CARDS, DEBIT CARDS AND PURCHASE CARDS  

 

237 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for: 
 

a. providing credit cards, debit cards and purchase cards to be used 
for agreed purposes and to be allocated to nominated members of 
staff 

Page 121

Agenda Item 5



 

54 
 

b. prescribing procedures for the use of credit cards, debit cards and 
purchase cards and the accounting arrangements required to 
record and monitor expenditure incurred with such cards 

 

238 Purchase Cards/Credit Cards/Debit Cards are an effective method 
of payment for goods and services of low value and for one off 
purchases. Executive Directors and Heads of Service are 
responsible for the appropriate deployment, management and 
security of purchase/credit/debit cards within their service in 
accordance with the financial scheme of delegation. 

 

239 Purchase Cards/Credit Cards/Debit Cards should only be used for 
legitimate Council business by the person who has been allocated 
the card and whose name the card is in. 

 

240 Adequate records must be maintained to allow for the verification 
and reconciliation of all payments made to the Council’s general 
ledger and bank accounts, and to allow for the proper treatment of 
VAT. 

 

IMPREST ACCOUNTS 

 

241 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for providing, in agreed 
circumstances and where such need is proven to be essential, cash 
or bank imprest accounts to meet minor or other agreed 
expenditure. The Section 151 Officer is also responsible for 
defining procedures for operating these accounts. 

 

242 The Chief Executive, Executive Directors and Heads of Service are 
responsible for the operation of approved cash and bank imprest 
accounts in accordance with procedures issued by the Section 151 
Officer. 

 

243 Executive Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for 
ensuring that where local arrangements are in place: 

 

a. Local Schemes of Financial Delegation set out clearly the 
responsibilities and approval limits of individual officers in respect 

Page 122

Agenda Item 5



 

55 
 

of these arrangements; and that these are reviewed and updated 
regularly 

b. they are operated in accordance with guidance issued and that 
appropriate management supervision and compliance monitoring is 
undertaken 

c. adequate records must be maintained to allow for the verification 
and reconciliation of all payments made to the Council’s general 
ledger and bank accounts, and to allow for the proper treatment of 
VAT 

d. arrangements are being operated for legitimate Council business 
only 

 

244 Local arrangements may not be used in any circumstances to 
circumvent either the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules or agreed 
approval and authorisation procedures, nor must they be used for 
any payments in respect of salaries and wages, travelling or other 
employment expenses, or payments for work carried out under the 
Construction Industry Tax Deduction Scheme. 

 

 

PAYMENT TO MEMBERS 

 

245 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for paying all allowances to 
Members. 

 

246 The Section 151 Officer will make payments to any Members 
entitled to claim allowances on receipt of the proper form, 
completed and certified in accordance with the approved scheme 
for allowances. 

 

FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS IN AN EMERGENCY  
 

247 The Chief Executive, or his / her representative acting as 
Emergency Duty Co-ordinator must be able to incur expenditure 
immediately in order to carry out the role effectively and may rely 
on the provisions of Section 138 of the Local Government as 
amended by Section 156 of the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989 (LGHA 1989). Section 155 of the LGHA 1989 provides 
for a scheme whereby local authorities may recoup from central 
government a proportion of agreed expenditure under 'Bellwin 
Rules'.  

 
 
 

Page 123

Agenda Item 5



 

56 
 

248 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for:  
a. approving a form of record for all emergency expenditure.  
b. reporting all expenditure to the Cabinet as soon as reasonably 

practicable.  
c. issuing a single expenditure code for the emergency.  

 
 

249 Those who incur expenditure on the occasion of any Emergency or 
scaled up incident are responsible for:  

a. taking such steps as are reasonable, bearing in mind the local 
circumstances, to enable proper accounting for any disbursement 
to be achieved after the event.  

b. taking such judgments as to what constitutes reasonable controls 
in light of the scale and the nature of the payments, their urgency 
and the physical conditions at the time.  

c. ensuring caution is exercised where large scale cash 
disbursements to third parties are involved  

d. attempting to obtain some documented acknowledgement of 
receipt.  

e. attempting to utilize cashless methods wherever possible.  
 

250 Wherever possible/practicable, the Council's existing procurement 
framework contracts should be used.  

 

 

     TAXATION 

 

251 It is the responsibility of the Section 151 Officer, in conjunction with 
Transactional HR, Payroll & Pensions Services to: 

 

a. complete all Inland Revenue returns regarding PAYE 
b. complete a monthly return of VAT inputs and outputs to HM 

Revenue and Customs 
c. provide details to HM Revenue and Customs regarding the 

construction industry tax deduction scheme 
d. maintain up-to-date guidance for Council employees on 

taxation issues 

 

252 It is the responsibility of Executive Directors and Heads of Service to: 

 

a. ensure that the correct VAT liability is attached to all income due 
and that all VAT recoverable on purchases complies with HM 
Revenue and Customs regulations 

Page 124

Agenda Item 5



 

57 
 

b. ensure that, where construction and maintenance works are 
undertaken, the contractor fulfils the necessary construction 
industry tax deduction requirements 

c. ensure that all persons employed by the Council are added to the 
Council’s payroll and tax deducted from any payments, except 
where the individuals are bona fide self-employed or are 
employed by a recognised staff agency 

d. follow the guidance on taxation issued by the Section 
151 Officer. 

 

TRADING ACCOUNTS AND BUSINESS UNITS 

 

253 As a general rule, separate trading accounts are required when 
services are provided to either internal or external clients, on a 
basis other than a straightforward recharge of full cost. It is the 
responsibility of the Section 151 Officer to advise on the 
establishment and operation of trading accounts and business 
units. 

 

254 It is the responsibility of Executive Directors and Heads of Service to: 

 

a. consult with the Section 151 Officer and the Monitoring Officer 
where a business unit wishes to enter into a contract with a third 
party where the contract expiry date exceeds the remaining life of 
their main contract with the Council. In general, such contracts 
should not be entered into unless they can be terminated within 
the main contract period without penalty. 

b. observe all statutory requirements in relation to business units, 
including the maintenance of a separate revenue account to which 
all relevant income is credited and all relevant expenditure, 
including overhead costs, is charged, and to produce an annual 
report in support of the final accounts 

c. ensure that the same accounting principles are applied in relation to 
trading accounts as for other services or business units 

d. ensure that each business unit prepares an annual business plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 125

Agenda Item 5



 

58 
 

EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 

 

WHY IS THIS IMPORTANT? 

 

255 The Council provides a distinctive leadership role for the community 
and brings together the contributions of the various stakeholders. 

 

      PARTNERSHIPS AND JOINTLY FUNDED PROJECTS 

 

256 The Council is involved in a wide range of different ‘Partnership’ 
arrangements involving joint/external funding. The main reasons for 
this are: 

 

a. the ability to provide new and better ways of delivering services. 
b. the ability to access new resources 
c. the desire to find new ways to share risk 
d. the ability to forge new relationships. 

 

257 Any partnership arrangement which involves the creation of or 
participation in, separate legal entities such as joint ventures, trusts 
or limited companies requires the prior agreement of the Section 151 
Officer and the Monitoring Officer with ultimate approval being 
provided by Cabinet.  

 

DEFINITIONS 

 

258 Legally a partnership is an arrangement entered into under the 
Partnership Act, and is heavily regulated as to the liabilities of 
partners. However, the majority of the partnerships entered into by 
the Council are more correctly called partnership arrangements and 
are, at their simplest, where the Council agrees to work with one or 
more external agencies to deliver common aims and objectives. 
These partner agencies could potentially be from a government 
department, any public, private, community or voluntary sector body 
or related party. 

 

259 The nature and scope of Partnership arrangements can be very 
different. To define their roles in terms of these Rules the 

Page 126

Agenda Item 5



 

59 
 

definitions listed below have been used. These definitions apply 
to all partnerships, whether the Council is contributing financially 
or not, including the use of fully funded grants or grants that 
have been earmarked for a specific purpose or are time limited. 

 

CONTRIBUTING PARTNER 

 

260 Where the Council is contributing funding or other resources, to a 
wider partnership involving a partner or group of partners and where 
the ‘Accountable Body’ role is undertaken by another partner. 

 

LEAD AUTHORITY OR LEAD PARTNER 

 

261 Where the Council leads on behalf of the Partnership or consortium 
and is responsible for the wider management of the Partnership. 

 

ACCOUNTABLE BODY 

 

262 The Council may, in certain circumstances, need to act as the 
‘Accountable Body’; even when the Council will not directly incur 
expenditure on behalf of the Partnership. The role assumes the 
responsibility for ‘looking after another parties monies’ and will 
require the putting in place of appropriate and robust financial 
accounting and monitoring systems with the aim of safeguarding 
resources and minimising any risks and potential liabilities falling to 
the Council. 

 

PUBLIC/PRIVATE PARTNERSHIPS 

 

263 Defined as involvement with a private sector organisation or 
commercial enterprise, excluding those where a formal contract has 
been agreed when the Contract Procedure Rules will apply. Those 
contracts known as ‘Partnering Contracts’ and those funded by 
Private Finance Initiatives (PFIs) are not covered by this rule and 
fall under the Contract Procedure Rules. 

 

 

Page 127

Agenda Item 5



 

60 
 

KEY CONTROLS 

 

264 The key controls to be considered before the funding of partnerships 
or other joint projects is agreed consist of: 

 

a. ensuring that the key conditions of funding and any statutory 
requirements are complied with and that the responsibilities of the 
accountable body are clearly understood. 

b. ensuring that funds are acquired only to meet the priorities, aims 
and objectives approved by the Council, and to add value to the 
services provided to the local community. 

c. ensuring any finance (including any match funding), staffing, legal 
and audit requirements are given due consideration prior to 
entering into long term arrangements and that revenue budgets 
reflect these requirements. 

d. identification of key risks and mitigating controls that should be in 
place should be documented in a format prescribed by the Section 
151 Officer 

 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF OFFICERS 

 

Section 151 Officer 

 

265 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for ensuring that all funding 
notified by external bodies is received and properly recorded in the 
Council’s accounts and that appropriate standards of probity, 
stewardship and best value are secured. This will include ensuring 
that all appropriate claims and returns are promptly and accurately 
submitted. 

 

Executive Directors and Heads of Service 

 

266 Before entering into any Partnership agreement involving joint 
funding (including “support in kind”), Executive Directors and Heads 
of Service must consult the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 
Officer, who will advise on the appropriate form of agreement or 
contract taking into account the nature and scale of the proposed 
arrangement and the extent of the legal and financial commitment 
involved. As a measure of good practice and as a minimum 
requirement, Executive Directors and Heads of Service need to 
consider and apply all the following points, which are not 
exhaustive, to the agreement: 

Page 128

Agenda Item 5



 

61 
 

 

a. the overall purpose and objectives of the arrangement, including 
appropriate performance standards and output measures 

b. the constitutional and representational arrangements including 
procedures for decision making and the extent to which Cabinet 
powers and financial authority are to be delegated to individual 
officers 

c. the period of the agreement, exit strategies, notice and termination 
arrangements including redundancy costs and other potential 
liabilities on termination 

d. roles and responsibilities of the various parties including 
arrangements for banking, taxation and VAT matters, employment 
contracts, insurances and ownership of assets 

e. auditing and reporting requirements and the applicability of these 
Finance Procedure Rules, other Council Regulations and Codes of 
Conduct 

f. financial and non-financial contributions to be made by the 
respective parties and, where the arrangement is to extend beyond 
one year, the method for calculating and collecting payments in 
future years 

g. the named contact officer or project manager who will be 
responsible (within specified limits) for the Council's rights and 
obligations under the terms of the agreement and accountable for 
overall outcomes 

h. a clear exit strategy, for example, in terms of any residual ongoing 
costs 

i. default procedures to be applied where the terms of the agreement 
are broken 

j. arrangements for Internal Audit staff to have sufficient access to 
partner’s premises, assets and records as is necessary for the 
purposes of the partnership: 

k. as a measure of best practice, all partnership agreements should 
be subject to a complete review at least every three years. 

l. add to partnership section of contracts register which is being 
developed and held by the Commissioning Team. 

 

     APPROVAL ROUTES 

 

267 The Council’s gross contributions to Partnerships may include 
capital and revenue expenditure, cash flow costs, support in kind 
(including staff time) and the cost of preparing and submitting bids. 
It is particularly important to identify support in kind, both to ensure 
that all such costs are recovered, where grant conditions allow, and 
to enable service and corporate managers to plan effectively. 
Capital funding must also meet the specific capital appraisal 
requirements as set out in these Rules. 

 

Page 129

Agenda Item 5



 

62 
 

268 Following the officer consultation process and prior to entering into any 
agreement, approval, based on the Council’s gross contribution over 
the life of the partnership, should be sought by the relevant Head of 
Service 

 

269 The approval of partnership proposals will be subject to the same 
financial limits as other contractual arrangements. 

 

 ADDITIONAL FUNDING ALLOCATIONS OR POLICY VARIATIONS 

 

270 Partnerships often attract additional funding over and above their 
original levels of funding. If additional funding is made available which 
will result in the aggregate value remaining within the original approval 
limit then no further approval is required. Conversely if the additional 
funding increases the aggregate value to more than the original 
approval limit, then further approval is required in line with the routes 
identified in paragraph 264 above. Where the additional funding 
constitutes a variation from the policy originally agreed by the Cabinet, 
then further approval from the Cabinet is required. 

 

271 If the contribution is to come from Council sources it will constitute a 
virement and paragraph 48 applies. Where the additional funding 
comes from an external source then approval for a fully funded 
supplementary estimate is required and paragraph 50 applies. 

 

BIDDING FOR GRANT FUNDING 

 

272 In some circumstances there may be specific grant funds available, 
where these are aligned with the Council’s priorities, accessed through 
some form of bidding process. Officers must seek the appropriate 
approval prior to any bid being submitted. Approval for ‘in principle’ 
Supplementary Revenue or Capital Estimates should be sought at the 
same time through Strategic Leadership Board Any new capital 
schemes must be approved by Council to be incorporated into the 
Council’s Capital Programme. Officers must ensure that they 
understand and are aware of the grant conditions attaching to any 
funding and consider whether the Council’s processes and procedures 
are sufficient to comply with these conditions or whether more detailed 
processes need to be followed. 

      REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

 

Page 130

Agenda Item 5



 

63 
 

273 Where the Council participates in any partnership or external 
funding arrangement either as a contributor or as an Accountable 
Body, an annual report must be presented to the appropriate 
Cabinet Member, outlining how sums have been used and the key 
outcomes and achievements. The report should also review the 
affordability and continued relevance of the arrangement to Service 
policies and objectives and seek appropriate Business Plan 
approval. 

 

274 Notwithstanding any statutory reporting requirement, the Head of 
Service will be required to provide, regular reports (minimum being 
quarterly) on progress and outcomes, financial and non-financial, 
for each significant partnership to the relevant Cabinet Member. 
Partnership projects should comply with the same regular reporting 
processes as other Council projects. 

 

      SUPPORT TO OTHER ORGANISATIONS 

 

275 The Cabinet Member for Regulatory Compliance and Corporate 
Resources will on a periodical basis, agree a policy setting down 
the approach to be taken to the allocation of grants, donations and 
other contributions to outside bodies, in consultation with the 
Section 151 Officer and The Chief Legal and Democratic Services 
Officer. The Policy would be presented for approval through 
Cabinet and Council.  

 

276 Grants, donations and contributions will be paid by the Council in 
accordance with the policies determined under paragraph 271 
above, subject to there being adequate provision in service 
budgets and the appropriate approvals being sought. 

 

    Approval level                Amount 

  

Officers 
     Up to and including £50,000 

(where 

 
     grant is within approved grant 

policy) 

Page 131

Agenda Item 5



 

64 
 

  

    Cabinet Member 
Between £50,000 and 
£100,000 (where 

 
     grant is within approved grant 

policy) 

  

Cabinet 
     All Grants of £100,000 or 

more. 

 
     All grants which do not fall 

within 

 
     existing approved grant policy 

require 

     Cabinet approval. 

  

 

277 The Grant Funding Protocol sets out further guidance on grant 
funding, the process for allocation and any conditions that should 
apply to any grant funding. 

 

278 Executive Directors and Heads of Service will report on the 
outcomes achieved through the provision of support to outside 
bodes on an annual basis to the appropriate Member Group and 
Cabinet Member, with interim reporting (quarterly reports being the 
minimum) where the sums involved are in excess of £100,000. 

 

SPONSORSHIP ARRANGEMENTS 

 

279 Sponsorship arrangements must comply with the Council’s Sponsorship 
Policy and Code of Conduct. 

280 All sponsorship arrangements will require a business case to be 
submitted to the Chief Executive and the Section 151 Officer for 
approval.  

Page 132

Agenda Item 5



 

65 
 

281 The Head of Strategic Support is responsible for maintaining a register 
which will include a list of approved sponsors. 

282 The following financial thresholds must be adhered to: 

Value  Level of Approval 

£0-10k Executive Director  

Cc Head of Service  

£10k-£50k 

 

Chief Executive  

Cc Executive Director and 
Head of Service 

 

£50k+ 

 

Cabinet 

Cc Executive Director and 
Head of Service 

 

 

 

  

Page 133

Agenda Item 5



 

66 
 

ANNEXE 

 

Glossary of Terms/Definitions 

 

Appropriation – Amounts transferred between the Revenue account and 
revenue or capital reserves. 

 

Bad Debt – A debt becomes bad if it has not been collected within six 
months. Full provision for all bad debts has to be made within the revenue 
account, but the debt is still pursued until it is either recovered or written off 
as unrecoverable. 

 

Balances (Revenue Account) – The accumulated surplus of income over 
expenditure. Members may agree that Balances be used to reduce future 
Council Tax precepts although a minimum level, consistent with prudence 
and best practice will be maintained. Amounts in excess of that required for 
day-to-day cash management and to finance working capital can be 
invested to generate interest income to the Council. 

 

Block Provisions – Annual capital allocations made to cover minor 
schemes with starting values of less than £250,000. 

 

Business Case Template – This is a pro forma to be completed for all 
Capital schemes and all significant Revenue proposals. It will provide 
details on the expected outcomes falling from the proposed investment and 
identify how the proposal will meet corporate objectives. 

 

Capital Approval – The capital programme provision as amended by any 
supplementary estimates or virements. 

 

Capital Expenditure – Expenditure on the purchase, construction or 
replacement of capital (fixed) assets or expenditure which adds to the life or 
value of an existing fixed asset. 

 

Capital Programme – The Council’s plan of capital projects and spending 
over future years. Included in this category are the purchase of land and 
buildings, the erection of new buildings and works, Highway Improvement 

Page 134

Agenda Item 5



 

67 
 

schemes and design fees, and the acquisition of vehicles and major items 
of equipment. 

 

Capital Project / Scheme – These terms mean the same thing and are 
used interchangeably within these Rules. A project/scheme may be 
separately identified in the capital programme or be an item within a block 
provision. 

 

Capital Receipts – Income received from the sale of capital assets and 
available, subject to rules laid down by the Government, to finance new 
capital expenditure or to repay debt. 

 

Carry-forward – An increase or reduction in a Service’s new financial year 
budget, stemming from either an under or overspend in the previous year. 

All carry-forwards (except for Schools) need the approval of the Cabinet 
upon the presentation of a business case. The Sefton Scheme for 
Financing Schools identifies the level of balances each maintained 
school can carry forward without prior permission from the Schools 
Forum. 

 

Chief Officers – Chief Officers are the Chief Executive or any Head of 
Service of the Council to whom there has been specific delegation in writing 
by the Council or the Chief Executive. Chief Officers must operate efficient 
systems of financial control. 

 

Contingencies – Sums set aside to meet either: 

 

 the potential costs of activities expected to occur during the year 
over and above those costs included in Service budgets (pay and 
price contingency); or 

 

 items which are difficult to predict in terms of financial impact 
or timing (contingency for uncertain items). 

 

Contract – An agreement to supply goods, services or works for a price. A 
contract is normally in writing however a contractual arrangement may, 
inadvertently be entered into orally. 

 

Page 135

Agenda Item 5



 

68 
 

Contractor – Any person or organisation awarded a Contract. This includes 
any consultant appointed by the Council to provide advice on any project. 

 

Commissioning Team /Procurement – The central procurement unit is 
the department responsible for procurement activity within the Council. 

 

Council Fund – The Council’s main revenue fund to which all revenue 
receipts are credited, and from which revenue liabilities are discharged. 
The movement on the fund in the year represents the excess of income 
over expenditure within the Consolidated Revenue Account. The level of 
balances held is based on the Council’s assessment of the level of risk and 
uncertainty and the potential call on such reserves. 

 

Debt Write-Off – Realising the cost of debt which is considered to be "bad" 
(unrecoverable) by writing it off against the revenue account or bad debt 
provision. 

 

Earmarked Reserves – These reserves represent monies set aside that 
can only be used for a specific use or purpose. 

 

Financial Schemes of Delegation – Financial Schemes of Delegation are 
the documents that set out, for each Service, all specific financial 
authorisations and approval limits as delegated by the Executive Directors 
and Heads of Service to Authorised Officers within their Service. Executive 
Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for maintaining up to date 
and accurate Financial Schemes of Delegation. 

 

Financial Year – The Council’s accounting period covers the 12 months 
from April 1 to March 31. 

 

Forward Plan – As defined in the Constitution. 

 

Internal Control – A procedural system designed to manage risk to an 
acceptable level whereby different staff members perform different parts 
of a task, so that no one person is entirely responsible for processing a 
transaction from start to finish. 

 

Key Decision – As defined in the Constitution. 

Page 136

Agenda Item 5



 

69 
 

 

Leases – Agreements covering the hire/rental of equipment or buildings, 
generally for a specified period of time and at a specified rate.  

 

Option Appraisal/Business Case – This is required for all Capital schemes 
and all significant revenue proposals and takes the form of a Business 
Case Template. This will be used to assess whether the scheme is 
affordable and deliverable. Consequences to the Service are considered 
and evaluated and it will also provide a basis for monitoring and reporting 
progress. In the case of revenue proposals, it will also take into account the 
risk and impact on users. 

 

Policy and Expenditure Planning – The Council’s annual cycle of planning 
for the medium and short-term future, aimed at achieving optimal 
allocation of available resources. 

 

Policy and Expenditure Proposals – Proposals, including new policies, 
which have resource implications and will be subject to appraisal by 
Members, Executive Leadership Team and consultees before inclusion 
in annual budget preparation. 

 

Project Board – A group of senior officers, led by the Senior Responsible 
Owner (SRO) who are accountable for the success of a Project and 
represent specific business, user and supplier interests. More information 
on the make-up and operation of a Project Board can be found in the 
Project Management Handbook which is published and maintained by the 
Authority’s Programme Management Office. 

 

Provision – An amount set aside by the Authority for any liabilities of 
uncertain amount or timing that have been incurred. 

 

The main category is estimates of liabilities or losses already incurred but 
whose exact amount will be determined in the future (e.g. bad debts, 
obsolete stock). See also Capital Provision and Provision for Doubtful Debt. 

 

Provision for Doubtful Debt – An allocation of funds set aside from 
Service revenue budgets to cover amounts which may not be recoverable 
from debtors. 

 

Page 137

Agenda Item 5



 

70 
 

Prudential Borrowing Limits – The maximum amount of borrowing that the 
Council can enter into at any one point in time during the year. This limit is 
set by Council prior to the start of the year to which it relates and cannot be 
breached under any circumstances. 

 

Revenue Account – The Account which sets out the Council’s income and 
expenditure for the year for non-capital spending. 

 

Revenue Expenditure – Spending on the day-to-day running expenses of 
the Council. It includes expenditure on employees, premises, transport and 
supplies and services. 

 

Ring Fencing – Certain budgets agreed by the Section 151 Officer are 
"ring-fenced". This means that under-spends on these budgets will return 
to balances and overspends will be met centrally. This is to reflect the fact 
that certain items of expenditure are either demand-led or so significantly 
influenced by extraneous factors that they are beyond the direct control of 
managers. Ring-fenced budgets include planning levies, external audit fees 
and election expenses. 

 

Schemes of Delegation – Schemes of Delegation are the documents that 
set out, for each Service, all authorisations and approval limits as delegated 
by the Executive Directors and Heads of Service to Authorised Officers 
within their Service. Executive Directors and Heads of Service are 
responsible for maintaining up to date and accurate Schemes of Delegation. 
(See also: Financial Schemes of Delegation) 
 

Section 106 Agreement - Planning obligations, also known as Section 106 
agreements (based on that section of The 1990 Town & Country Planning 
Act) are private agreements made between local authorities and developers 
and can be attached to a planning permission to make acceptable 
development which would otherwise be unacceptable in planning terms. 
This will set out a number of on-site and/or financial obligations that are 
necessary to make the proposal acceptable in planning terms. 

 
Service Plan – A plan which outlines measurable Service aims for the year 
ahead, encompassing both core purpose and specific key objectives for any 
given year. The Plan will consider both inputs and outputs. 

 

“Starts value” – Represents the full value of the Council’s contribution to a 
Capital Scheme irrespective of the timing of the payments. 

Page 138

Agenda Item 5



 

71 
 

Sponsorship is defined as - “An agreement between the Council and the sponsor, 
where the Council receives either money or a benefit in kind for an event, 
campaign or initiative from an organisation or individual which in turn gains 
publicity or other benefits”. 

Supplementary Capital Estimate (SCE) – Additional resources approved by 
Members with funds either provided by a third-party (e.g. developer 
contributions, receipts, government grant), by the use of Council reserves or 
from the Revenue budget. 

 

Supplementary Revenue Estimate (SRE) – An approved increase to a 
Service revenue budget during the financial year, funded centrally from 
reserves, contingencies or external funding sources such as grants or 
partner contributions. 

 

Third Party Fund(s) – Funds provided by outside bodies or individuals in 
support of Council activities, establishments or clients. Can sometimes be 
known as trust funds. 

 

Underspend – An underspend results when the net costs of a budget 
holder are lower than the net budget for the year. 

 

Virement – A Revenue virement is a transfer of amounts from one budget 
heading to another within, or between, Executive Directors / Heads of 
Service. Capital virements cover any changes to Capital budgets funded 
from within the existing Capital programme. 

 

 

Page 139

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Audit and 
Governance 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 18 
March 2020

Subject: Treasury Management Position to January 2020

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: All Wards

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

This report provides Members with a review of the Treasury Management activities 
undertaken to 31st January 2020. This document is the third report of the ongoing 
quarterly monitoring provided to Audit & Governance Committee, whose role it is to carry 
out scrutiny of treasury management policies and practices.

Recommendation(s):

Members are requested to note the Treasury Management update to 31st January 2020, 
to review the effects of decisions taken in pursuit of the Treasury Management Strategy 
and to consider the implications of changes resulting from regulatory, economic and 
market factors affecting the Council’s treasury management activities.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

To ensure that Members are fully appraised of the treasury activity undertaken to 31st 
January 2020 and to meet the reporting requirements set out in Sefton’s Treasury 
Management Practices and those recommended by the CIPFA code. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

N/A

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

The financial position on the external investment budget to the end of January 
2020 indicates a surplus to the end of the period. The forecast to the end of the 

Page 141

Agenda Item 6



financial year also shows that investment income will exceed the level set in the 
budget.

(B) Capital Costs

None.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
External interest is forecast to exceed the target for the year.

Legal Implications:
The Council has a statutory duty to review its Treasury Management activities from time 
to time during the financial year.
Equality Implications:

None.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: n/a

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: n/a

Commission, broker and provide core services: n/a

Place – leadership and influencer: Support strategic planning and promote innovative, 
affordable and sustainable capital investment projects through application of the CIPFA 
Prudential Code.

Drivers of change and reform: The Treasury Management function ensures that cash 
flow is adequately planned and cash is available when needed by the Council for 
improvements to the borough through its service provision and the Capital Programme.

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:  Pursuit of optimum performance on 
investments activities and minimising the cost of borrowing and the effective 
management of the associated risk continues to contribute to a balanced budget for the 
Council.

Greater income for social investment: n/a

Cleaner Greener: n/a

Page 142

Agenda Item 6



What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD5986/20) 
and Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4169/20) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

N/A

Implementation Date for the Decision

With immediate effect.

Contact Officer: Graham Hussey
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 4100
Email Address: graham.hussey@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

There are no appendices to this report

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

Page 143

Agenda Item 6



1. Background to the Report

1.1. As recommended under CIPFA’s revised 2017 Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management in Public Services, the Council’s Treasury Management Policy and 
Strategy document for 2019/20 (approved by Council on 28th February 2019) 
included a requirement for regular updates to be provided on the investment 
activity of the Authority. This report is the second of such reports for the year and 
presents relevant Treasury Management information for the period ending 31st 
January 2020.

1.2. The report includes information on the investments held / entered into during the 
period and the interest rates obtained (with a comparison of performance against 
a standard benchmark figure). In addition, the report highlights whether there has 
been any variance from the Treasury Management Policy and Strategy and the 
Council’s approved Prudential Indicators (the operational boundaries within 
which the Council aims to work).

2. Investments Held

2.1. Investments held at the 31/01/2020 comprise the following:

Institution Deposit Rate Maturity Rating
£m %

Money Market Funds:
Aberdeen 3.09 0.68 n/a AAA
Aviva 3.09 0.72 n/a AAA
BNP Paribas 3.09 0.72 n/a AAA
Goldman Sachs 3.09 0.66 n/a AAA
Invesco 3.09 0.71 n/a AAA
Morgan Stanley 1.32 0.65 n/a AAA
Federated Investors 3.09 0.73 n/a AAA
Insight 3.09 0.70 n/a AAA

Total 22.95
Fixed Term Deposits:
Lloyds 3.00 1.05 10/02/2020 A+

Total 3.00
Property Fund:
CCLA 5.00 4.24 n/a n/a

Total 5.00

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 30.95

2.2. All of the investments made since April 2019 have been with organisations on 
the current counterparty list. The maximum level of investment permitted in the 
Treasury Management Strategy in any one institution, or banking group, is 
currently £25m. Whilst the maximum should be retained, in case economic 
conditions change, a day to day operational maximum of 10% of the total 

Page 144

Agenda Item 6



portfolio is currently being imposed. This will spread the risk of investments for 
the Council, but will have a small detrimental impact on the returns the Council 
will receive in the future. The Council has remained within that boundary during 
the year. At present, it is not expected that there will be any need to review this 
limit.

2.3. The Council will only invest in institutions that hold a minimum Fitch rating of A- 
for banking institutions, or AAA for money market funds. The ratings applied to 
investment grade institutions, and the much riskier speculative grade institutions, 
as defined by Fitch, have been placed into a risk matrix (paragraph 2.6).

2.4. An investment was made with the Church, Charities and Local Authority 
Investment Fund (CCLA) in June 2014. CCLA invest in commercial property 
which is rented out to enterprises as retail units, warehousing, and offices. The 
majority of properties owned are in the south of the country where the market is 
currently more buoyant than the north. The Council has in effect bought a share 
of the property portfolio, and returns paid are in the region of 4%. 

2.5. The Property Fund is a long-term investment with the potential for variation in the 
value of the investment as property prices fluctuate over time. The Net Asset 
Value of the Property Fund has decreased from 307.21p per unit to 301.5p per 
unit over a 12-month period to January 2020, a minor decrease of 1.9% in the 
value of the Council’s investment. It should be noted however, that the total value 
of the investment has increase from £5.0m initial deposit in 2014 to a total Net 
Asset Value of £5.6m as at January 2020.

2.6. The matrix below shows how the Council has set its risk appetite by being risk 
averse and putting security and liquidity before yield:

PROBABLITY of 
DEFAULT High INCREASING 

YIELD

High
F1 A+            
6

F2             
12

F3                 
18

B             
24

C             
30

D             
36

F1 A+             
5

F2           
10

F3            
15

F3             
20

B             
25

C             
30

F1+/AA-                              
4

F1 A                    
8

F2                                 
12                    

F3                       
16                     

F3             
20

B             
24 

F1+/AA                
3

F1 A+                                        
6

F1 A-                      
9

F2                                     
12                    

F3             
15

F3                 
18

F1+/AA+                
2

F1+/AA-                
4         

F1 A+                                        
6

£3m

F1 A                          
8

F2           
10

F2             
12

F1+/AAA               
1    
£22.95m

F1+/AA+                    
2

F1+/AA              
3

F1+/AA-                      
4

F1 A+            
5

F1 A+            
6

Low High

SEVERITY of 
CONSEQUENCE

Page 145

Agenda Item 6



SEFTON RISK 
TOLERANCE INVESTED

LOW 1 - 4 Investment Grade £22.95m
LOW – MEDIUM 5 - 9 Investment Grade £3.00m
MEDIUM 10 - 20 Investment Grade Nil
HIGH 21 - 36 Speculative Grade Nil

2.7. The ratio of overnight deposits (short term) to fixed term investments is shown 
below:

2.8. No new fixed term investments have been made since the last quarterly report. 
One fixed term investment of £3m with Coventry Building Society has matured in 
November 2019. Officers from the Treasury Management Team will monitor the 
opportunities for reinvesting this amount to take advantage of any favourable 
rates on offer from approved counterparties.

3. Interest Earned

3.1. The actual performance of investments against the profiled budget to the end of 
January 2020 and the forecast performance of investments against total budget 
at year end is shown below:

Profiled
Budget

£m

Actual
£m

Variance
£m

Jan-20 0.325 0.348 0.023

 Total 
Budget

£m

Forecast 
Out-turn

£m

Variance
£m

2019/20 0.415 0.448 0.033

Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19 Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20
0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

Property Fund Fixed term Short term

Fixed and Short Term Investments

£m

Page 146

Agenda Item 6



3.2. The budgeted investment return for the financial year 2019/20 was set at 
£0.415m on 1st April 2019. The forecast out-turn shows an over-achievement of 
this target by the end of the financial year. The Council places the majority of its 
investments with highly liquid Money Market Funds and the yield from these 
funds has performed better than expected over the first half of the year although 
rates have been decreasing more recently. It is not envisaged that any significant 
deviation from the budgeted level of income will occur for the remainder of the 
financial year.

3.3. The Council has achieved an average rate of return on its investments that has 
out-performed the 7 day LIBID and the model portfolio provided by Link:

4. Interest Rate Forecast

4.1. Link Asset Services, our Treasury Advisors, have supplied the interest rate 
forecast and commentary below:

After the August 2018 increase in Bank Rate to 0.75%, the first above 0.5% since the 
financial crash, the MPC has put any further action on hold, probably until such time as 
the fog of Brexit might clear. While the general election in December 2019 has provided 

Feb
-19

Mar-
19

Apr-
19

May
-19

Ju
n-1

9
Ju

l-1
9

Aug
-19

Sep
-19

Oct-
19

Nov
-19

Dec
-19

Ja
n-2

0
0.0
0.2
0.4
0.6
0.8
1.0
1.2
1.4
1.6
1.8

Sefton 7 Day LIBID Link

Comparison of Investment Rates

%

Link Asset Services Interest Rate View
Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23

Bank Rate View 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25

3 Month LIBID 0.70 0.70 0.80 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.00 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30

6 Month LIBID 0.80 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.00 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.40 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50

12 Month LIBID 0.90 0.90 1.00 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.40 1.50 1.60 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70

5yr PWLB Rate 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.60 2.70 2.80 2.90 2.90 3.00 3.00 3.10

10yr PWLB Rate 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.70 2.80 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.10 3.20 3.20 3.30

25yr PWLB Rate 3.00 3.00 3.10 3.20 3.30 3.40 3.50 3.60 3.70 3.80 3.80 3.90 3.90

50yr PWLB Rate 2.90 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.20 3.30 3.40 3.50 3.60 3.70 3.70 3.80 3.80

Bank Rate

Link Asset Services 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.25% 1.25% 1.25% 1.25%

Capital Economics 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% - - - - -

5yr PWLB Rate

Link Asset Services 2.30% 2.30% 2.40% 2.40% 2.50% 2.60% 2.70% 2.80% 2.90% 2.90% 3.00% 3.00% 3.10%

Capital Economics 2.40% 2.50% 2.50% 2.60% 2.60% 2.80% 2.80% 2.90% - - - - -

10yr PWLB Rate

Link Asset Services 2.50% 2.50% 2.60% 2.60% 2.70% 2.80% 2.90% 3.00% 3.10% 3.10% 3.20% 3.20% 3.30%

Capital Economics 2.70% 2.70% 2.80% 2.80% 2.90% 3.00% 3.00% 3.10% - - - - -

25yr PWLB Rate

Link Asset Services 3.00% 3.00% 3.10% 3.20% 3.30% 3.40% 3.50% 3.60% 3.70% 3.80% 3.80% 3.90% 3.90%

Capital Economics 3.10% 3.10% 3.20% 3.20% 3.20% 3.30% 3.30% 3.40% - - - - -

50yr PWLB Rate

Link Asset Services 2.90% 2.90% 3.00% 3.10% 3.20% 3.30% 3.40% 3.50% 3.60% 3.70% 3.70% 3.80% 3.80%

Capital Economics 3.10% 3.10% 3.20% 3.20% 3.30% 3.40% 3.40% 3.50% - - - - -

Page 147

Agenda Item 6



political certainty leading to implementation of the UK leaving the EU on 31.1.20, there is 
still much uncertainty on what sort of trade deal may be agreed by the end of 2020 and its 
likely impact on the UK economy. The above forecast, and other comments in this report, 
are based on a central assumption that there will be some form of muddle through 
agreement on a reasonable form of Brexit trade deal.  Bank Rate forecasts will have to 
change if this assumption does not materialise e.g. a no deal Brexit could prompt the 
MPC to do an immediate cut of Bank Rate.  All other forecasts for investment and 
borrowing rates would also have to change.

5. Compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits

5.1. During the quarter ending 31st January 2020, the Council has operated within the 
treasury and prudential indicators set out in the Council’s Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement and in compliance with the Council's Treasury Management 
Practices. 

6. Procurement of Treasury Management Advisor

6.1. The Council currently engages Link Asset Services as its treasury consultants. 
Link was engaged following a successful tender in 2017 and was awarded a 
contract for a period of 3 years from 1st April 2017. A repeat tender exercise was 
due to be completed in time to appoint a provider for a further 3 years from 1st 
April 2020.

6.2. A restricted Request for Quotation was undertaken with all correspondence being 
handled via the CHEST. The Advanced Request for Quotation (ARFQ) was 
issued on January 2020 with award of the contract due on 28th February 2020.  

6.3. Due to operational reasons however, it has not been possible to complete the 
tender exercise to procure a Treasury Management advisor for a further 3 years 
from 1st April 2020. The current contract has an option to extend the contract for a 
further period of up to 12 months from 1st April 2020. A contract extension of 6 
months to 30th September 2020 has therefore been offered to the current 
provider. A new tender exercise will be carried out in July 2020 with award of the 
contract in August 2020. 

Page 148

Agenda Item 6



Report to: Audit and 
Governance 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 18 
March 2020

Subject: Internal Audit Charter and the Internal Audit Plan for 2020/21 

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: All

Portfolio: Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services
Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

 No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

This report presents the revised Internal Audit Charter and the proposed Internal Audit 
Plan 2020/21 for approval by Members.

Recommendation(s):

Members are requested to:
(i) Approve the Internal Audit Charter
(ii) Approve the Internal Audit Plan 2020/21.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

Approval of the recommendations will facilitate the continued provision of a
Comprehensive, efficient and effective Internal Audit Service which meets professional 
standards

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

None

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs - There are no direct financial implications arising from this 
report. However, the Council benefits from the work of the section in reducing the impact 
and likelihood (and so the cost) of risk.

(B) Capital Costs - There are no capital costs arising from this report.

Page 149

Agenda Item 7



Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

There are no specific resource implications arising from this report other than the report 
stating how many days will be spent on internal audit during 2020/21.
Legal Implications:

Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972
The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 (SI 2015/234)

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose: The Council’s Risk and Audit Service
is a key enabler to the delivery of the Council’s Core Purpose as set out below:

Protect the most vulnerable: Positive

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Positive

Commission, broker and provide core services: Positive

Place – leadership and influencer: Positive

Drivers of change and reform: Positive

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Positive

Greater income for social investment: Positive

Cleaner Greener: Positive

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services is the author of 
the report (FD5983/20). 

The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4166/20) has been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

None

Page 150

Agenda Item 7



Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee meeting.

Contact Officer: David Eden
Telephone Number: 0151 943 3043
Email Address: david.eden@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

 Internal Audit Charter and Internal Audit Plan 2020/21

Background Papers:

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 From 1 April 2013, new Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (hereafter referred
to as “the Standards”) came into effect. These were jointly developed by the
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and the Chartered
Institute of Internal Auditors (CIIA).

1.2 The Standards replaced the CIPFA Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local
Government (2006) as the mandatory guidance, and provide a coherent and
consistent internal audit standards framework for the whole of the public sector.

1.3 Two of the key requirements of the Standards are:
 “The purpose, authority, and responsibility of the internal audit activity must be

formally defined in an internal audit charter, consistent with the Definition of
Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics, and the Standards. The chief audit
executive must periodically review the internal audit charter and present it to
senior management and the board for approval.” (Standard 1000)

 “The chief audit executive must establish a risk-based plan to determine the
priorities of the internal audit activity, consistent with the organisation‘s goals”.
(Standard 2010)

1.4 This report sets out the Internal Audit Charter and Internal Audit Plan for 2020/21,
in order to comply with these Standards and demonstrate the role, purpose and
focus of Internal Audit during the forthcoming year.

1.5 There is one change in the Audit Charter which relates to the requirements where 
an audit is identified as required for an area where the Chief Internal Auditor 
manages the area. In line with guidance from the Institute of Internal Auditors the 
change at 7.3 details that audits will be conducted by an external auditor rather 

Page 151

Agenda Item 7



than using internal resources and a different reporting line. This ensures that there 
is no conflict of interest or impairment of objectivity.  

2. Recommendation

2.1 Members are requested to approve the Internal Audit Charter and Internal Audit 
Plan 2020/21.

Page 152

Agenda Item 7



Audit and Governance Committee
18 March 2020 David Eden

Chief Internal Auditor
Risk and Audit Service
Corporate Resources
Magdalen House
30 Trinity Road 
Bootle
L20 3NJ

Risk and Audit Service: 
Internal Audit Charter and Plan 2020/21

P
age 153

A
genda Item

 7



Page 2 of 25

Contents

1. Executive Summary Page 3

2. Introduction Page 4

3. Internal Audit Charter Page 5

4. Internal Audit Plan 2020/21 Pages 6 - 9

5. Conclusions Page 10

6. Appendix A: Internal Audit Charter Pages 11 - 21

7. Appendix B: Internal Audit Plan 2020/21 Pages 22- 25

P
age 154

A
genda Item

 7



Page 3 of 25

1. Executive Summary

1.1 This report provides the Internal Audit Charter and Internal Audit Plan 2020/21 for approval.  

1.2 These documents are key requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (hereafter referred to as “the Standards”), 
and so are vital in demonstrating the Internal Audit service’s compliance with these Standards.

1.3 The Internal Audit Charter sets out the role, purpose and authority of Internal Audit.

1.4 The Internal Audit Plan 2020/21 demonstrates how internal audit resources will be used during the forthcoming financial year so 
as to provide assurance on the effectiveness of the Council’s internal control system.

1.5 Particular attention has been paid to ensuring that the Internal Audit Plan is reflective of the changing risk landscape of the Council, 
and that it provides tangible added value to the Council in maintaining an effective system of internal control and management of 
risk. The plan has an emphasis on the role Internal Audit can play at a strategic level. This has been achieved through consultation 
with relevant stakeholders, and through incorporation of the principles of industry best practice.

P
age 155

A
genda Item

 7



Page 4 of 25

2. Introduction

2.1 From 1 April 2013, new Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (hereafter referred to as “the Standards”) came into effect. These 
were jointly developed by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and the Chartered Institute of Internal 
Auditors (CIIA). 

2.2 The Standards replaced the CIPFA Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Government (2006) as the mandatory guidance 
and provide a coherent and consistent internal audit standards framework for the whole of the public sector. The Standards have 
been updated a number of times, most recently with effect from 1 April 2017.

2.3 Internal Audit is defined by the Standards as “an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value 
and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined 
approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes”.

2.4 In executing its duties and complying with the Standards, Internal Audit must establish two key documents, and these must be 
presented to this Committee for approval on an annual basis:

 Internal Audit Charter
 “The purpose, authority, and responsibility of the internal audit activity must be formally defined in an internal audit charter, 
consistent with the Definition of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics, and the Standards. The chief audit executive must periodically 
review the internal audit charter and present it to senior management and the board for approval.” (Standard 1000)

 Internal Audit Plan 
“The chief audit executive must establish a risk-based plan to determine the priorities of the internal audit activity, consistent with 
the organisation‘s goals”. (Standard 2010)

2.5 This report presents both documents for approval and outlines the purpose of the documents and the process underpinning their 
compilation.

P
age 156

A
genda Item

 7



Page 5 of 25

3. Internal Audit Charter

3.1 In compliance with the Standards, Internal Audit is required to establish a Charter which sets out its role, purpose and authority.

3.2 This provides clarity and legitimacy to the role of Internal Audit in the organisation, and assists the function is operating in line 
within an agreed framework.

3.3 The document acts as a guide for Internal Auditors in their daily work, but also assists officers and members of the Council in 
understanding what internal audit is and how it operates.

3.4 The Charter has been prepared to meet the Standards and incorporates all relevant requirements.

3.5 The Charter is shown at Appendix A.  This is reviewed and presented to this Committee on an annual basis.P
age 157

A
genda Item

 7



Page 6 of 25

4. Internal Audit Plan 2020/21

Plan Compilation and Principles

4.1 The Standards state that the “Chief Audit Executive” must “establish risk-based plans to determine the priorities of the internal 
audit activity, consistent with the organisation’s goals”. They refer to the need for the plan to reflect the assurance framework, risk 
management arrangements and input from management and “the board”. 

4.2 In meeting this Standard, an extensive consultation exercise has been undertaken to identify potential areas for audit, comprising: 

 Review of the Corporate Risk Register 
 Review of Service Risk Registers
 Review of Committee reports and decisions
 Cumulative audit knowledge and experience
 Findings and outcomes from previous audit work 
 Engagement with Heads of Service 
 Evaluation of the risks highlighted by the Internal Audit Plan 2019/20.

4.3 A risk assessment exercise took place to form an overall view on the level of organisational risk each area poses.  This was then 
used to inform a draft Internal Audit Plan, which was shared with the Chief Executive, external audit and senior managers prior to 
being presented to this meeting for approval. 

Organisational Context

4.4 The organisational context for the Internal Audit Plan remains one of significant and fast-paced change.  Transformation in the 
design and delivery of services has continued over the past 12 months and is planned to continue.   

4.5 In this context, the Internal Audit Plan must continue to be flexible to be able to adapt to and reflect the changing risk landscape 
of the organisation.  Any material changes made to the plan during the year will be notified to this Committee. 

P
age 158

A
genda Item

 7



Page 7 of 25

Composition

4.6 The Internal Audit Plan has been based upon 903 available audit days.  This is following the deduction of annual leave and other 
non-audit time.

4.7 The Plan is composed of the following areas:

 Corporate and Cross-Cutting work, which provides assurance relating to a system that has applicability across the 
organisation – for example Corporate Governance, Risk Management, Procurement

 Service-Specific work, which provides assurance relating to systems that have applicability in one or perhaps two Services 
– for example placement budgets (Children’s Social Care), regeneration schemes.

 Grant Certification work to ensure that services have complied with grant conditions.

4.8 For the forthcoming financial year the audit plan reflects that there are currently two vacancies within the Internal Audit team and 
prudently includes lead time for the successful recruitment of new staff members to be in post. These posts are the Trainee ICT 
Auditor and the Principal Auditor. Recruitment activity is currently underway for both posts. Historical counter fraud activities that 
were undertaken by Internal Audit have transferred as planned to the Assurance Team during 2019/20 and the first fruits of this 
different approach are starting to appear.

4.9 In compensation the Audit Team is focused solely on Assurance activities for the forthcoming year and the proposed plan does 
not include any time to provide support for the roll out of wider initiatives in the Risk and Audit Service.   

4.10 In summary there is a small temporary reduction in resources, to reflect recruitment activity, for the forthcoming financial year 
however with the removal of a number of activities from the audit plan which can be undertaken by the wider Risk and Audit 
Team there will be sufficient coverage and depth in the audit plan to provide a good level of assurance.

P
age 159

A
genda Item

 7



Page 8 of 25

This graph below shows the allocation of days across the key risk areas:

Corporate/Cross-
Cutting

Service- Specific

Grants

Figure 1: Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 - Composition

Reporting and Performance

4.11 Progress against the Plan and key details of the outcomes of audit work will continue to be presented to every meeting of this 
Committee.

4.12 The suite of performance indicators will continue to be used to measure the delivery of the Internal Audit Plan and the effectiveness 
of the work undertaken.  These will continue to be reported to each meeting of this Committee. 

P
age 160

A
genda Item

 7



Page 9 of 25

 The performance indicators and associated targets for 2020/21 are:

Description and Purpose Target
Percentage of the Internal Audit Plan 2020/21 completed
This measures the extent to which the Internal Audit Plan agreed by this Committee is being delivered.  The delivery 
of the Plan is vital in ensuring that an appropriate level of assurance is being provided across the Council’s systems.

100%

Percentage of Client Survey responses indicating a “very good” or “good” opinion
This measures the feedback received on the service provided and seeks to provide assurance that Internal Auditors 
conduct their duties in a professional manner.

100%

Percentage of recommendations made in the period which have been agreed to by management
This measures the extent to which managers feel that the recommendations made are appropriate and valuable in 
strengthening the control environment.

100%

Percentage of audit recommendations implemented at the original target date
This measures the extent the effectiveness and timeliness to which management implements audit recommendations. 
Provides assurance that control weaknesses are addressed promptly.

65%

4.13 The Internal Audit Plan 2020/21 is shown at Appendix B.
 

P
age 161

A
genda Item

 7



Page 10 of 25

5. Conclusions 

5.1 The Internal Audit Charter sets out the role, purpose and authority of the Internal Audit section, and assists Internal Audit in 
complying with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

5.2 The Internal Audit Plan 2020/21 has been prepared on a risk basis, following consideration of a number of sources and consultation 
with key stakeholders.

5.3 The Internal Audit Plan acknowledges the organisational context and aligns resources with the most pertinent risks facing the 
Council during this time of significant and fast-paced change. There is a small temporary reduction in coverage for 2020/21, 
whilst recruitment is undertaken, which is offset by some historical activity being undertaken by the wider Risk and Audit Team 
however there will be sufficient coverage and depth in the audit plan to provide a good level of assurance.P

age 162

A
genda Item

 7



Page 11 of 25

Appendix A

Internal Audit Charter

March 2020

Page 163

Agenda Item 7

https://www.sefton.gov.uk/sefton-home.aspx


Page 12 of 25

Version Control 

Owner: Internal Audit

Date Approved: Presented to Audit and Governance Committee for 
approval 18 March 2020

Date Implemented: Immediately following approval

Version Number: 3.0

Next Review Due: March 2020

Page 164

Agenda Item 7



Page 13 of 25

1. Introduction
1.1 The requirement for local authorities to have an Internal Audit function is determined by Section 

151 of the Local Government Act 1972, which requires that authorities ‘make arrangements for 
the proper administration of their financial affairs’.  The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 (SI 
2015/234), regulation 6, more specifically require that a ‘relevant authority must undertake an 
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and 
governance processes, taking into account public sector internal audit standards or guidance.”  

2. Purpose of this Charter
2.1 The purpose of the Internal Audit Charter is to define internal audit’s purpose, authority and 

responsibility.  It establishes internal audit’s position within Sefton Council and defines the scope 
of internal audit activities. 

2.2 This Charter also covers the arrangements for the appointment of the Head of Internal Audit and 
internal audit staff, and identifies the nature of professionalism, skills and experience required.

2.3 This Charter will be appropriately updated following any changes to the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (“the Standards”) or internal audit’s operating environment and, as a minimum, 
will be reviewed by the Chief Internal Auditor and presented to the Audit and Governance 
Committee on an annual basis.

3. Definitions
3.1 The Standards define Internal auditing is as “an independent, objective assurance and consulting 

activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation 
accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve 
the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes”.

3.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (“the Standards”) require that the Internal Audit 
Charter defines the terms ‘board’ and ‘senior management’ in relation to the work of internal audit.  
For the purposes of internal audit work, the ‘board’ refers to the Sefton Council Audit and 
Governance Committee, which assumes responsibility for overseeing the work of internal audit.  
Sefton Council’s senior management team is the Senior Leadership Board members.

3.3 Sefton Council’s Chief Internal Auditor fulfils the Chief Audit Executive (CAE) role as defined by 
the Standards.

4. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards
4.1 The internal audit function is required to comply with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 

(PSIAS).  The Relevant Internal Audit Standard Setters, which includes the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), adopted the PSIAS from 1 April 2013.  These 
Standards replaced the CIPFA Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Government in the 
United Kingdom 2006 (“The Code”). The PSIAS encompass the mandatory elements of the 
Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (CIIA) International Professional Practices Framework 
(IPPF). 

Page 165

Agenda Item 7



Page 14 of 25

4.2 Compliance with the Standards is mandatory and must be subject to both internal and external 
assessment.  The Chief Internal Auditor must undertake a self-assessment on a regular basis.  
An external assessment must also be conducted at least once every five years by a qualified, 
independent assessor or assessment team from outside the organisation.  The results of these 
assessments will be reported to the Audit and Governance Committee. 

5.  Mission of Internal Audit
5.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards define the mission of Internal Audit as:

“To enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based and objective assurance, 
advice and insight.”

5.2 The mission of Sefton Council’s Risk and Audit Service is:
“To deliver a first-class risk and audit service that is highly respected and valued by Sefton and 
is the envy of our peers.”

6. Responsibilities
6.1 Internal audit is responsible for establishing procedures and applying the required resources to 

ensure that the service conforms to the Definition of Internal Auditing and the Standards.  All 
members of the Internal Audit team must also demonstrate conformance with the Code of Ethics, 
which is attached at Annexe 1 and the Core Principles:

 Demonstrates integrity
 Demonstrates competence and due professional care
 Is objective and free from undue influence (independent)
 Aligns with the strategies, objectives, and risks of the organisation
 Is appropriately positioned and adequately resourced
 Demonstrates quality and continuous improvement
 Communicates effectively
 Provides risk-based assurance
 Is insightful, proactive, and future-focused
 Promotes organisational improvement

6.2 The Chief Internal Auditor must deliver an annual internal audit opinion and annual report that are 
used to inform Sefton Council’s Annual Governance Statement.  The annual internal audit opinion 
must conclude on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s framework of 
governance, risk management and control.  This is the ‘assurance role’ of internal audit. 

6.3 Internal Audit may also provide an independent and objective consultancy service, which is 
advisory in nature and is generally performed at the specific request of senior management.  The 
aim of the consultancy service is to assist line management to improve the Council’s risk 
management, governance and internal control arrangements.

6.4 Sefton Council’s Chief Executive has overall responsibility for the establishment of a sound 
system of internal control, and through the Annual Governance Statement, is required to 
demonstrate that this is in place and that actions are being taken to address any identified 
governance issues.

Page 166

Agenda Item 7



Page 15 of 25

6.5 Sefton Council’s Executive Director Corporate Resources & Customer Services acts as the 
Responsible Financial Officer as defined by section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, which 
requires every authority in England and Wales to "... make arrangements for the proper 
administration of their financial affairs and shall secure that one of their Officers has responsibility 
for the administration of those affairs".  The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003 emphasise the 
need for effective financial management and sound systems of internal control. They require that 
the Council should maintain an adequate and effective system of internal audit for their accounting 
records and control systems. It is a function of the Chief Financial Officer to direct Internal Audit 
and ensure that it is adequate for the Authority's purposes.

6.6 The Council’s Chief Legal and Democratic Officer is the designated Monitoring Officer.  This is a 
statutory appointment under Section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 as 
amended by paragraph 24 of schedule 5 Local Government Act 2000. The role involves 
ensuring the Council’s compliance with any General Guidance issued, from time to time, by the 
Standards Committee and the Monitoring Officer; making lawful and proportionate decisions; 
complying with the Council's Constitution and standing orders.

6.7 Sefton Council will ensure it has taken all necessary steps to provide internal audit with 
information on its objectives, risks, and controls to allow the proper execution of the audit strategy 
and adherence to internal audit standards.  This will include notifying internal audit of any 
significant changes in key control systems which may affect the internal audit plan.

6.8 Management has a responsibility to respond promptly to audit plans, reports and 
recommendations.

6.9 Responsibility for monitoring and ensuring the implementation of agreed recommendations rests 
with management and is monitored by Internal Audit and reported to the Audit and Governance 
Committee.

6.10 Where Sefton has joint ventures, shared services or where services are outsourced the Chief 
Internal Auditor will be responsible for providing risk-based assurance on the activities which 
would be reported to the Audit and Governance Committee.

7. Independence of Internal Audit
7.1 Internal Audit must be independent and internal auditors must be objective in performing their 

work.  The Chief Internal Auditor must confirm the organisational independence of Internal Audit 
at least annually.  Internal Audit has no operational responsibilities.

7.2 Any operational (non-audit) activities undertaken by the Chief Internal Auditor or a member of the 
Internal Audit team will be recorded, and any conflict of interest declared, so as to ensure that the 
independence of audit work is not seen to be compromised.

7.3 The Chief Internal Auditor is also responsible for the operational management of the Insurance, 
Risk and Health and Safety functions, and there are safeguards in place to avoid any potential 
conflict of interest or impairment to objectivity.  This involves that in the event that is identified that 
an audit is required for these areas of work the audit work would be undertaken by an external 
auditor to ensure that there is no conflict of interest or impairment of objectivity in accordance with 
guidance from the Institute of Internal Auditors.  Terms of reference for such audits are approved 
by the Head of Corporate Resources, as is the resulting report, so as to provide transparency.

Page 167

Agenda Item 7



Page 16 of 25

8. The Chief Internal Auditor
8.1 The Chief Internal Auditor is appointed by Sefton Council and must have sufficient skill, 

experience and competencies to work with senior management and the Audit and Governance 
Committee to influence and inform the risk management, governance and internal control 
arrangements of Sefton Council. 

8.2 The Chief Internal Auditor is responsible for ensuring that the members of the Internal Audit team 
possess the appropriate knowledge, skills, qualifications and experience to deliver the audit plan 
and meet the requirements of the Standards.  The Chief Internal Auditor will hold a full, 
professional qualification, defined as CCAB, CMIIA or equivalent, and will adhere to professional 
values and the Code of Ethics.

8.3 The Chief Internal Auditor reports to the Executive Director Corporate Resources & Customer 
Services  through the Head of Finance.  The Chief Internal Auditor, or an appropriate 
representative of the internal audit team, attends meetings of the Audit and Governance 
Committee unless, exceptionally, the Committee decides that they should be excluded from either 
the whole meeting or for particular agenda items.  

8.4 The Chief Internal Auditor shall have an independent right of access to the Chair of the Audit 
Governance Committee, if required.  In exceptional circumstances, where normal reporting 
channels may be seen to impinge on the objectivity of the audit, the Chief Internal Auditor may 
report directly to the Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee.

8.5 Internal Audit will co-operate with and assist External Audit.

9.  Scope of Internal Audit
9.1 The Chief Internal Auditor should develop and maintain a strategy for providing the Chief 

Executive Corporate Resources & Customer Services with an objective evaluation of, and 
opinions on, the effectiveness of the Council’s risk management, governance and internal 
control arrangements.  Internal Audit’s activities should be undertaken effectively and efficiently. 
The annual Internal Audit Plan will be risk based, prepared in consultation with Heads of Service 
and Directors and be presented to the Audit and Governance Sub-Committee for approval.  The 
opinions of the Chief Internal Auditor are a key element of the framework of assurance needed to 
inform the completion of the Annual Governance Statement (AGS).

Opinion Work

9.2 The internal audit activity must evaluate and contribute to the improvement of governance, risk 
management and control processes using a systematic and disciplined approach.

Governance

9.3 Internal audit must assess and make appropriate recommendations for improving the governance 
process in its accomplishment of the following objectives:

 promoting appropriate ethics and values within Sefton Council; 
 ensuring effective organisational performance management and accountability; 

Page 168

Agenda Item 7



Page 17 of 25

 communicating risk and control information to appropriate areas of Sefton Council; and 
 co-ordinating the activities of and communicating information to the Audit and Governance 

Committee, external and internal auditors and management.

Risk Management

9.4 Internal audit must evaluate the effectiveness of, and contribute to, the improvement of risk 
management processes by:

 assessing organisational objectives to support and align with Sefton Council’s corporate 
objectives; 

 ensuring significant risks are identified and assessed; and
 ensuring that audit recommendations are appropriate to address key risk areas identified.

Internal Control

9.5 Internal audit must assist the organisation in maintaining effective controls by evaluating their 
effectiveness and efficiency and by promoting continuous improvement. The internal audit activity 
must evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of controls in responding to risks within the 
organisation’s governance, operations and information systems regarding: 
 achievement of the organisation’s strategic objectives; 
 reliability and integrity of financial and operational information;
 economical, effective and efficient use of resources;
 effectiveness and efficiency of operations and programmes; 
 safeguarding of Sefton Council’s assets and interests from losses of all kinds, including those 

arising from fraud, irregularity corruption or bribery; 
 compliance with laws, regulations, policies, procedures and contracts.

9.6 The Chief Internal Auditor must ensure appropriate internal audit arrangements are in place in 
respect of partnership or joint working arrangements, where relevant.

Non - Opinion Work

9.7 Internal Audit may provide, at the request of management, a consultancy service which evaluates 
the policies, procedures and operations put in place by management.  A specific provision will be 
made in the Internal Audit Plan to allow for such work.

9.8 The Chief Internal Auditor must consider the effect on the opinion work before accepting 
consultancy work or management requests over and above the contingency allowed for in the 
Internal Audit Plan.  Approval would be sought from the Executive Director Corporate 
Resources & Customer Services and the Audit and Governance Committee for any significant 
additional consulting services not already included in the Internal Audit Plan, prior to accepting 
the engagement.  The Chief Internal Auditor must consider if consultancy work contributes 
towards the overall opinion.  

Fraud

9.9 Managing the risk of fraud is the responsibility of line management.  The Executive Director 
Corporate Resources & Customer Services has specific responsibilities in relation to the detection 
and investigation of fraud and may request internal audit to assist with the investigation of 

Page 169

Agenda Item 7



Page 18 of 25

suspected fraud or corruption, in accordance with the Investigation Protocol. Internal audit should 
be notified of all suspected or detected fraud, corruption or impropriety, to inform their opinion on 
the control environment and their Audit Plan. 

 Reporting

9.10 The Chief Internal Auditor will agree reporting arrangements with the Executive Director 
Corporate Resources & Customer Services which will include procedures for the:

 distribution and timing of draft audit reports;
 Manager’s responsibilities in respect of responding to draft audit reports;
 distribution of finalised audit reports;
 follow up by internal audit of agreed recommendations; and 
 escalation of recommendations where management responses are judged inadequate in 

relation to the identified risks.

9.11 The Chief Internal Auditor will present a formal report annually to the Chief Executive, Executive 
Director Corporate Resources & Customer Services and the Audit and Governance Committee 
giving an opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of Sefton Council’s framework of 
governance, risk management, and internal control.  This report will conform to the PSIAS and 
will provide a summary of the work to support the opinion.  It will be timed to support the production 
of the Annual Governance Statement.  Reports of progress against the planned work will be 
presented to the Audit and Governance Committee on a quarterly basis during the year.

 
Internal Audit Access Rights

9.12 Where necessary in the conduct of their work, internal auditors are entitled to require and receive:

 access to all records, documents and correspondence relating to any financial or other 
relevant transactions, including documents of a confidential nature;

 access at all reasonable times to any land, premises and officer of Sefton Council;
 the production of any cash, stores or other property of Sefton Council under an officer’s 

control; and
 explanations concerning any matter under investigation.

Internal Audit Resources

9.13 If the Chief Internal Auditor or the Audit and Governance Committee consider that the level of 
audit resources or the terms of reference in any way limit the scope of internal audit, or prejudice 
the ability of internal audit to deliver a service consistent with the Definition of Internal Auditing 
and the Standards, they should advise the Chief Executive and the Executive Director Corporate 
Resources & Customer Services accordingly.

Page 170

Agenda Item 7



Page 19 of 25

Annexe 1 - Internal Audit Code of Ethics
Requirements

In accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, internal auditors in UK public sector 
organisations must conform to a Code of Ethics. 

If individual internal auditors have membership of a professional body, then he or she must also comply 
with the relevant requirements of that organisation.

The purpose of the Code of Ethics is to promote an ethical culture in the profession of internal auditing. 
A Code of Ethics is necessary and appropriate for the profession of internal auditing, founded as it is on 
the trust placed in its objective assurance about risk management, control and governance.

The Code of Ethics includes two essential components:

1. Principles that are relevant to the profession and practice of internal auditing; 

and

2. Rules of Conduct that describe behaviour norms expected of internal auditors. 

These rules are an aid to interpreting the Principles into practical applications and are intended to guide 
the ethical conduct of internal auditors.

The Code of Ethics provides guidance to internal auditors serving others.
The term ‘Internal auditors’ refers to members of recognised Professional Bodies (e.g. CIPFA, IIA) and 
those who provide internal auditing services within the definition of internal auditing.

Applicability and Enforcement

This Code of Ethics applies to both individuals and entities that provide internal auditing services. 
Disciplinary procedures of professional bodies and employing organisations may apply to breaches of 
this Code of Ethics.

Integrity

Principle: 
The integrity of internal auditors establishes trust and thus provides the basis for reliance on their 
judgement.

Rules of Conduct:

Internal auditors:

 Shall perform their work with honesty, diligence and responsibility.
 Shall observe the law and make disclosures expected by the law and the profession.
 Shall not knowingly be a party to any illegal activity or engage in acts that are discreditable to the 

profession of internal auditing or to the organisation.
 Shall respect and contribute to the legitimate and ethical objectives of the organisation.

Page 171

Agenda Item 7



Page 20 of 25

Objectivity

Principle:
Internal auditors exhibit the highest level of professional objectivity in gathering, evaluating and 
communicating information about the activity or process being examined.
Internal auditors make a balanced assessment of all the relevant circumstances and are not unduly 
influenced by their own interests or by others in forming judgements.

Rules of Conduct:

Internal auditors:

 Shall not participate in any activity or relationship that may impair or be presumed to impair their 
unbiased assessment. This participation includes those activities or relationships that may be in 
conflict with the interests of the organisation.

 Shall not accept anything that may impair or be presumed to impair their professional judgement.
 Shall disclose all material facts known to them that, if not disclosed, may distort the reporting of 

activities under review.

Confidentiality

Principle:
Internal auditors respect the value and ownership of information they receive and do not disclose 
information without appropriate authority unless there is a legal or professional obligation to do so.

Rules of Conduct:

Internal auditors:

 Shall be prudent in the use and protection of information acquired in the course of their duties.
 Shall not use information for any personal gain or in any manner that would be contrary to the law 

or detrimental to the legitimate and ethical objectives of the organisation.

Competency

Principle:
Internal auditors apply the knowledge, skills and experience needed in the performance of internal 
auditing services.

Rules of Conduct:

Internal auditors:

 Shall engage only in those services for which they have the necessary knowledge, skills and 
experience.

 Shall perform internal auditing services in accordance with the International Standards for the 
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing.

 Shall continually improve their proficiency and effectiveness and quality of their services.

Internal auditors who work in the public sector must also have regard to the Committee on Standards of 
Public Life’s Seven Principles of Public Life (the “Nolan Principles”):

Page 172

Agenda Item 7



Page 21 of 25

 Selflessness;
 Integrity;
 Objectivity;
 Accountability
 Openness;
 Honesty; and
 Leadership.

Further information on these principles can be found at:

www.public-standards.gov.uk

Page 173

Agenda Item 7

http://www.public-standards.gov.uk/


Page 22 of 25

APPENDIX B - INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2020/21
Days Days

RESOURCES PLANNED AUDIT WORK: SUMMARY 
Gross days 1670 Cross-Cutting 90
Less: Corporate Governance 45
Annual leave and Bank Holidays 242 Grants and accounts 36
Non-Audit (CIA and AM only) 347 Adult Social Care and Health 110
Professional Development 75 Children’s Social Care and Education 123
Team Meetings and Briefings 70 Corporate Resources and Customer Services 160
Sickness 33 ICT 95

People 114
Place 65
Projects 15
External 10
Contingency 40

NET AVAILABLE AUDIT DAYS          903 TOTAL PLANNED AUDIT DAYS 903

P
age 174

A
genda Item

 7



Page 23 of 25

DETAILED PLAN OF AUDIT WORK (1 OF 3)
Days

CROSS-CUTTING 90 ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH 110
Anti-fraud and investigations 40 Liquid Logic – ASC 10
Follow-up recommendations 10 ASC - Assessment of need 10
Code of Conduct/Ethics 10 Better Care Fund 15
Climate Change Emergency 10 Single Handed Care 10
Procurement 20 DFG under utilisation 10

ASC – Demand Management Project Support 10
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 45 Self-Directed Support 15
Annual Governance Statement 2019/20 20 Debt advice to care home and self-funders 10
Annual Governance Statement 2020/21 25 Care Homes and Domiciliary Care Providers 15

Continuing Healthcare 5
GRANTS AND ACCOUNTS 36
Liverpool City Region – STEP Grant 4 CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE AND EDUCATION 123
Troubled Families Grant 10 CSC Demand Management Action Plan Review 10
M58 Junction 1 Improvements Grant 2 Children’s Mental Health Joint Targeted Area Inspection 

Plan 
10

Disabled Facilities Grant 4 Post Ofsted "Inspection of Local Authority Children’s 
Services" system and process review

10

Mayor’s Charity Fund 3 Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 20
Local Highways Maintenance Incentive Element 1 Liquid Logic – CSC 10
A59 Key route network 4 Schools 30
Key Route Network - Urban Traffic Control 3 Resources 10
Integrated transport Capital Block Funding 4 Schools and Family Financial Management 20
Blue Badge 1 Fostering (b/f) 3

P
age 175

A
genda Item

 7



Page 24 of 25

DETAILED PLAN OF AUDIT WORK (2 OF 3)
Days Days

CORPORATE RESOURCES AND CUSTOMER SERVICES 160 PEOPLE 114
Framework for Change 2023 – Estates and Asset Disposals 10 Homelessness 10
Data Protection 20 Leisure Centres – Cash 10
Council Tax 13 Early Help Team 15
Non-Domestic rates 10 Housing Strategy 15
Emergency Planning 10 Public Health Outcomes 5
Health and Safety 15 Health Checks Model 10
Call Centre 10 Public Health Provider Instability 10
Debt Management Project 4 Suicide Prevention Work 10
I Want Finance 10 Liquid Logic – Early Help Module 10
PSIAS 40 Localities 15
IDEA 10 Cash Handling at Golf Courses and Leisure Centres (b/f) 4
Financial Procedure Rules 5
Transactional HR (b/f) 3 PROJECTS 15

Borough of Culture 5
PLACE 65 Framework for Change 2023 – Project Pressures 10
Growth Programme – Project Delivery 10
Growth and Strategic Projects – Governance 15 EXTERNAL
Economic Growth and Housing Funding 5 Sandway Homes 10
Southport Town Deal 5
Parking Services 10
Procurement – Highways Contracts 10
Highways Maintenance 10

P
age 176

A
genda Item

 7



Page 25 of 25

DETAILED PLAN OF AUDIT WORK (3 OF 3)
Days

ICT AND DIGITAL 95
Cyber Security 15
ICT Stock and Asset Management 15
Licence Management 10
ICT Infrastructure Recovery 15
Patching 15
Critical ICT Application 15
IT Interfaces with Agresso 10

CONTINGENCY 40

TOTAL PLANNED AUDIT DAYS 903

P
age 177

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Audit and 
Governance 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 18 
March 2020

Subject: Corporate Risk Management

Report of: Executive Director 
Corporate 
Resources & 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: All

Portfolio: Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services
Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

The Corporate Risk Register is presented to each meeting of the Audit and 
Governance
Committee. Since the last Committee, the Corporate Risk Register has been fully
updated, with three new risks being escalated from the service risk registers.

 Failure to managing increasing demand for services within Children’ s Social 
Care.  

 Failure to plan within annual budget for increased placement costs for 
Children’s Social Care.

 Impact of regulatory framework and Joint Target Inspection (Children’s 
Services).  

Two risks have been de-escalated from the Corporate Risk register to a Service Risk 
Register. 

 Failure to make progress in Ofsted Send improvement Plan following revisit and 
notice to improve – de-escalated to Children’s Social Care Services Risk 
Register.

 Impact of Brexit – de-escalated to Communities Services Risk Register.

The risks have been re-scored in accordance with the revised assessment guidance 
included in the Corporate Risk Management handbook which was approved by the 
Committee in December 2019.

Recommendation(s):

Members are requested to:

(1) Consider the updated Corporate Risk Register, in particular noting the nature of the
major risks facing the Council, and the controls and planned actions in place to 
mitigate
these.

Page 179

Agenda Item 8



Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

A robust system of risk management will assist the Council in meetings its identified
objectives.
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

None.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs - There are no direct financial implications arising from this
report. However, the Council benefits from the work of the section in reducing the impact
and likelihood (and so the cost) of risk.

(B) Capital Costs - There are no direct capital cost implications arising from this
report.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

There are no direct resource implications.
Legal Implications:

There are no legal implications.
Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: positive impact

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: positive impact

Commission, broker and provide core services: positive impact

Place – leadership and influencer: positive impact

Drivers of change and reform: positive impact

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: positive impact

Greater income for social investment: positive impact

Cleaner Greener: positive impact

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

Page 180

Agenda Item 8



The Executive Director Corporate Resources & Customer Services (FD5969/20) and the 
Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4152/20) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

 None

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee / Council meeting.

Contact Officer: David Eden
Telephone Number: 0151 934 4053
Email Address: david.eden@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

 Corporate Risk Register

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 Risk Management is defined as ‘systematic application of principles, approach and
processes to the task of identifying and assessing the risk and the planning and
implementing of risk responses’.

1.2 Whilst the process of risk management is routinely undertaken within the Council in a
number of areas, both at a strategic level and operationally, it is recognised that there
is still scope, to develop a more integrated risk management approach. This report
seeks to continue the process of formalising a system of robust Corporate Risk
Management, and embedding this into the organisation. The Corporate Risk
Management Handbook outlines that there should be three tiers of risk registers in
place across the organisation which are identified through the scoring of the risks:

 Corporate Risk Register – risks scored at 16 plus and these are the key risks
affecting the Council

 Service Risk Registers – risks scored between eight and 15 which are owned
and managed by the Head of Service.

 Operational Risk Registers – risks scored at seven and below which are
owned and managed by Service Managers

1.3 An updated Corporate Risk Register is presented at each meeting of this Committee.
The Corporate Risk Register has been shared with and reviewed by senior officers to
ensure that the risk register reflects the most significant risks facing the Council. The

Page 181

Agenda Item 8



completion of a risk register also demonstrates that the Council has set out an
approach to mitigate the risks that have been identified. This should give members
assurance that there is a robust corporate approach to the management of the most
significant threats to the achievement of the Council’s objectives. The updated
Corporate Risk Register is set out at Appendix A, using the revised scoring approved 
by Members in December 2019, for noting by the Committee.

1.4 The Service Risk Registers are owned and reviewed by the Heads of Service on a
quarterly basis and are provided to the Risk and Audit team for information. The
completed Service Risk Registers are used by Audit as an agenda item in the formal
quarterly meeting with the Heads of Service and are also used for the monthly budget
meetings that are held by Finance with the Service Management teams. Due to the
wider use of the risk registers there has been a noticeable improvement in the
engagement on risk.

1.5 The Operational Risk Registers are owned and revised by Service Managers.
Members may remember that the Risk and Resilience Team assisted by the Internal
Audit Team completed an exercise in 2018/19 to fully implement this tier of risk
registers across the organisation facilitating the completion of over 70 risk registers.
This exercise was completed in March 2019. The Risk and Audit Team assisted by
the Internal Audit Team work with the individual teams to facilitate regular reviews of
the risk registers which will help to embed risk management at the centre of the
Council’s activities.

1.6 Members requested at the December 2019 meeting that one of the risk owners should 
provide a short presentation on one of the risks from the Corporate Risk Register. The 
presentation in the agenda for the March meeting is on the risk “Dedicated Schools 
Grant High Needs Funding for Special Educational Needs is inadequate to meet 
requirements”.

1.7 The format of the risk register has been amended to provide a clearer document for 
Members. 

2. Key Developments

2.1 Since the December 2019 meeting of the Committee, the Corporate Risk Register
has been fully reviewed and updated.

2.2 One risk regarding the potential impacts associated with Brexit has been re-scored 
due to the transitional period being in place. The risk has been removed from the 
Corporate Risk Register and placed in the Communities Risk Register.  A further 
risk resulting from the failure to make progress in Ofsted Send improvement Plan 
following revisit and notice to improve has been rescored and de-escalated to the 
Children’s Services Risk Register

2.3 The scoring of the risks has been reviewed by the risk owners in line with the revised 
scoring matrix approved by the Committee in December 2019. 

2.4 Three new risks have been identified since the last Committee meeting, escalated 
from the Children’s Social Care Service Risk Register and these are:
 Failure to managing increasing demand for services within Children’ s Social 

Care.  

Page 182

Agenda Item 8



 Failure to plan within annual budget for increased placement costs for 
Children’s Social Care.

 Impact of regulatory framework and Joint Target Inspection (Children’s 
Services).  

3. Recommendation

3.1 Members are requested to note the updated Corporate Risk register.

Page 183

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A – Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2020

Risk Description Inherent risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Dedicated Schools Grant High Needs Funding 
for Special Educational Needs is inadequate to 
meet requirements.

Causes

 High Needs budgets are under considerable pressure from increasing numbers of children being diagnosed with complex 
and life-long SEND related issues.

 National funding allocations are not increasing annually to reflect increases in local population demand and so any additional 
commissioned places need to be financed from within existing budget envelope. 

 The number and value of requests from mainstream schools for "top-up" funding (for children with SEND) has increased by 
over 25% in the last 12 months.  

 Maintained special school provision is full and so more and more children are being placed in independent provision which is 
more expensive.

 Central Government have advocated parental preference for SEND provision - which has added to the number of children 
being placed in independent provision - with no additional funding.

Result

 Sefton’s High Needs budget is forecast to overspend by £4.5m this financial year.
 The estimated deficit on the high needs block will be held on the Council’s Balance Sheet. The DfE do not expect the Local 

Authority’s General Fund to cover accumulated deficits, however the external auditors and CIPFA are still to confirm their 
interpretation of treatment in the year-end accounts.

 Ofsted inspection affected.
 The DfE require all local authorities who report a deficit in excess of 1% of their overall DSG annual allocation to submit a 

recovery plan to the department which sets out how going forward the budget will be brought back into a balanced position 
and re-pay the accumulative deficit.  In Sefton 1% of the 2019/20 DSG allocation is £2.047m and therefore a recovery plan – 
showing how a new sustainable approach to the provision of SEND will be introduced that can meet the needs of children 
and young people, whilst living within its means – will need to be submitted by the end of June 2020.

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Engagement with Head of Education Excellence and the SEN team Managers on how costs can be contained.
 Engagement with special schools actively working with individual schools to review impact of any proposed changes to their 

funding, reviewing 3 year financial plans, identifying any strategic savings to mitigate high calls on DSG High Needs funding
 Review of place and top up levels of funding to special schools to try to reduce costs.
 In addition further work is being undertaken on alleviating the barriers to inclusivity within mainstream settings and 

assessment of effectiveness of capital spend to maximise mainstream settings for children and young people.
 Sefton Schools Forum has agreed to the continuation for an additional year of intra-block funding decisions made in 2019/20 

to increase funding available in 2020/21, note these decisions maintain the 2019/20 funding baseline and do not represent an 

P
age 185

A
genda Item

 8



Appendix A – Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2020

increase in 2020/21:
      - The transfer of 0.5% (£0.824m) from the Schools Block to the High Needs Block, targeting funding towards supporting 
the most inclusive schools; and
       - A transfer from the Early Years Block to the High Needs Block of £200k to support additional provision for 0 to 4-year 
olds.

 The National High Needs Block formula funding allocation to Local Authorities is increasing by £780m in 2020/21 compared 
to the 2019/20 baseline. Sefton’s share of the additional funding is £3.853m.

Risk owner Head of Education Excellence

Proposed 
actions

 Lobbying of Government continues with a view to securing increased funding. 
 The SEND Schools Forum is the Project Group tasked with implementing an action plan to address the annual overspend, 

cumulative deficit and bringing the budget back into an in-year balanced position for 2020/21.
 To date three meetings have taken place and workstreams developed with LA and School representatives as key 

workstream owners including:
 Developing a new funding model to support children with EHCPs;
 Clarifying high needs funding outside of the EHCP process;
 Reviewing provision and placement sufficiency.
 The action plan will form the basis of the Recovery Plan submitted to the DfE in June 2020.

P
age 186

A
genda Item

 8



Appendix A – Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2020

Risk Description Inherent risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Market failure of Adult Social Care 
provision.

Causes
 Lack of market engagement and market development due to lack of capacity and resource.
 Capability and capacity of the available workforce to provide domiciliary care.
 Lack of diversity of supply in the market to provide choice and control

Result

 Inability to provide packages of care for service users
 Inability to maximise the opportunity of reablement
 Lack of alternative providers able to support social care
 Poor quality service provision
 Significant increase in unmet needs of service users due to a fragile market that is not developing

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Market Position Statement 2014
 Integrated Commissioning Group
 Centralised Commissioning Support function

Risk owner HoASC/HoSS

Proposed 
actions

 Full review of the Market Position Statement and revision of the Market Position Statement 
 Review and align strategic plans to current contracts to ensure Value for Money and objectives are met.
 Review ways of working
 Development of new opportunities through working with LCR, CCG and wider commissioning partnerships.
 Commissioning priorities and full work plan.
 Workforce development of the independent workforce. 
 Ensure involvement of key stakeholders
 As per commissioning workshop, review structure and workplan to deliver the above.

P
age 187

A
genda Item

 8



Appendix A – Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2020

Risk Description Inherent risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Data breach resulting in the wrongful release 
of personal and/or sensitive information

Causes Policies and processes coordinated by Information Management and Governance Executive Group are not adhered to, resulting in a 
higher incidence of breaches caused by human error

Result Failure to comply with legal requirements; loss of privacy, distress or harm to the data subject; damage to Council's reputation; loss of 
public confidence; and significant financial penalties.

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Information management and governance, including data breaches and actions to prevent data breaches, is overseen by the 
Information Management and Governance Executive Group (IMGEG), which consists of Heads of Service with lead 
responsibilities for key aspects of IMG (i.e. designated Chief Information Officer, Senior Information Risk Owner and Lead 
officer for ICT infrastructure) supported by other officers with key roles relating to IMG.

 Each service has designated Information Asset Owners and Information Asset Administrators. Policies, procedures, 
processes and issues are communicated to these officers through the Information Management and Governance Tactical 
Group.

 Support, co-ordination, advice and guidance is provided corporately, and appropriate training/refresher training is in place
 The Council has implemented policies, procedures and processes to prevent, manage and respond to potential and actual 

data breaches.
Risk owner All Heads of Service

Proposed 
actions

 Appropriate resourcing, prioritisation and focus on information management and governance across the Council include the following:
Regular monitoring and review by IMGEG of policies, procedures and processes to prevent, manage and respond to potential and actual 
data breaches.

 Ongoing review of information systems to ensure no inappropriate or unforeseen data linkages exist within systems or reports. Review of 
systems ahead of updates to identify any unintended changes.

 Ongoing education of staff and monitoring of activity by IAOs and IAAs to identify and prevent areas of human error.
 Regular review of information contained to ensure information is accurate and any information that should be removed is removed.
 Regular reporting by IMGEG to SLB and Audit and Governance Committee as necessary
 Maximise the opportunities from the Council's ICT Transformation to increase and embed effective information management and 

governance

P
age 188

A
genda Item

 8



Appendix A – Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2020

Risk Description Inherent risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Failure to manage historic records 
effectively

Causes
The risk is amplified by the implementation of GDPR (in particular the right to erasure and tighter deadlines for response to Subject 
Access Requests).   In addition, the Council’s Asset Maximisation programme which may lead the Council to leaving, redeveloping or 
selling buildings where records are held and moving to Paper Light working arrangements. 

Result
 Failure to comply with legal requirements relating to retention, consideration, release or correct disposal of historical 

information; damage to Council's reputation; loss of public confidence; and significant financial penalties.
 Historical information is not stored or managed correctly, such that it is lost, damaged or incorrectly disposed of
 Not known to the organisation when making relevant decisions; retained when it should have been correctly disposed of.

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Information management and governance is overseen by the Information Management and Governance Executive Group 
(IMGEG), which consists of Heads of Service with lead responsibilities for key aspects of IMG (i.e. designated Chief 
Information Officer; Senior Information Risk Owner; and Lead officer for ICT infrastructure), supported by other officers with 
key roles relating to IMG.

 Each service has designated Information Asset Owners and Information Asset Administrators. Policies, procedures, 
processes and issues are communicated to these officers through the Information Management & Governance Tactical 
Group.

 Support, co-ordination, advice and guidance is provided corporately and appropriate training/refresher training is in place.
 The Council has implemented policies, procedures and processes for the management of information and has in place 

corporate contracts for appropriate digitisation, disposal and archive storage services.
 The Council has implemented a Historic Records Pilot Project to identify the scale, condition and correct management of all 

historic records held. This project reports regularly to IMGEG.
Risk owner All Heads of Service

Proposed 
actions

 Appropriate resourcing, prioritisation and focus on information management and governance across the Council, including 
support for Information Asset Owners and Information Asset Administrators including action on the following. 

 Regular monitoring and review by IMGEG of policies, procedures and processes for the management of information, 
including historic information.

 Regular monitoring and review by IMGEG of the progress and implications of the Historic Records Pilot Project, including 
reporting to SLB and Audit and Governance Committee as necessary.

 Maximise the opportunities from the Council's ICT Transformation to increase and embed effective information management 
and governance.

 Commission training to improve understanding of data handling requirements and checks and controls

P
age 189

A
genda Item

 8



Appendix A – Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2020

Risk Description Inherent risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Failure to deliver allocated budget and 
achieve savings targets

Causes  Public Sector Reform and reduced ASC budget as part of overall Council reductions
 Increased demand and regulation and interdependent with ASC risk noted above.

Result

 Overspend on council budget
 Poor service reputation
 Need to reduce services and workforce
 Interdependent with ASC risk noted above.

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Regular budget monitoring, including monthly budget monitoring meeting and updates giving clear picture of budget position 
across service 

 Scheme of delegation
 Annual budget
 Contracts with providers
 Commissioning staff
 Standard item on DMT and Managers Team Meetings
 Exception reporting in place on spend and ASC waiver process
 Review of high cost packages - move to existing

Risk owner HoASC

Proposed 
actions

 Devolved budget responsibilities and budget monitoring arrangements developed
 Clear identification of savings against targets relating to PSR and other projects
 Close working relationship with finance colleagues
 Better forecasting and projections
 Review of high cost packages
 Robust review strategy in place

P
age 190

A
genda Item

 8



Appendix A – Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2020

Risk Description Inherent risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Financial sustainability post 2020.

Causes

 The national review of local government funding and the next financial settlement places further strain on the Council's 
overall medium-term budget.

 Due to the scale of budget reductions since 2010 there is a risk that further suitable cost-saving/income generating measures 
will be difficult to identify.

Result
 Degradation of service could have an adverse impact on residents and communities
 The reputation of the Council may be compromised
 Financial sustainability could be compromised 

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Work is ongoing to deliver financial sustainability up to and including 2019/20. A budget Plan for 2020/21 was agreed by 
Council on 27 February 2020 and this included an updated MTFP for 2021/22 to 2022/23 and details of the councils 
framework for change programme that will ensure the deliverability of financial sustainability.

Risk owner All Heads of Service

Proposed 
actions

 Deliver the Councils Budget Plans for 2019/20 and 2020/21
 Continually update the Council's MTFP for the 2 years from 2021/22 to 2022/23 
 Continually monitor the delivery of the current 3 year budget 
 Start the development of budget proposals for 202122 and beyond as part of the Framework for Change 2020. 
 Inform the governments fair funding review and comprehensive spending review

P
age 191

A
genda Item

 8



Appendix A – Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2020

Risk Description Inherent risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Inadequate capability to prepare for and 
respond effectively to a major incident 
affecting the Council or occurring in Sefton 
as per the Council's responsibilities under 
the Civil Contingencies Act 2004.

Causes A major incident occurs affecting the Council or the Borough.   This risk is accentuated as the government has determined the terror 
threat level as "severe" and was raised to "critical" on two occasions in 2017.

Result

 Loss of human life, illness or serious injury 
 Major damage or destruction to infrastructure, property and/or the environment
 Disruption or loss of critical services such as transport, communications, utility services
 Reputational or financial harm to the authority

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Emergency Response Manual and Major Incident Guidance in place.
 Revised Command and Control structure in place which defines Strategic and Tactical level officers.
 Emergency Duty Co-ordinators invited to attend quarterly briefing sessions, and all are able to access Resilience Direct 

containing incident response plans. 
 Relevant training provided to Emergency Duty Co-ordinators and volunteers on an ongoing basis.
 Attendance and participation in Merseyside Resilience Forum and joint planning across Merseyside.
 Humanitarian volunteers in place and team strengthened following successful recruitment drive.
 Plans for response and recovery are the subject of ongoing review and update, particularly in light of the government's 

assessment of the terror threat level as "severe".
 Ongoing development and review of supporting plans.
 Business Impact Analysis training for the Risk and Resilience team has been completed.
 Ongoing exercise of plans and involvement of Strategic and Tactical level officers.

Risk owner All Heads of Service

Proposed 
actions

 Business Continuity Planning Implementation Plan has been devised and is currently being implemented.  This includes the 
following:

 Business Continuity Policy and strategy has been devised and approved
 Business Impact analysis across all services are currently being undertaken.
 Business Continuity Plans to be devised during 2019
 Business Continuity Testing and exercising to be undertaken.

P
age 192

A
genda Item

 8



Appendix A – Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2020

Risk Description Inherent risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Failure to adequately invest in the 
Highway network and associated assets.

Causes Budget reductions; inadequate funding levels to meet need.

Result

 Deterioration of highway assets
 Potential increase in claims
 Financial and reputational risks 
 Potential increase in accidents resulting in injury and/or death

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Essential work is prioritised within available budget. Regular inspections of most assets to monitor and guide prioritisation of 
works in order to mitigate risk. 

 Regular updates provided to Cabinet Member
 Preventive surface treatments used to prolong the life of the network and to treat more of it than if more long-term 

maintenance solutions were used (i.e. resurfacing) 
Risk owner Ho H&PP
Proposed 
actions

Actively pursue opportunities for additional external funding via LCR/CA and others to maintain and improve network.

P
age 193

A
genda Item

 8



Appendix A – Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2020

Risk Description Inherent risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Inadequate child and school record 
system

Causes Lack of capacity to change and system investment

Result

 Paper files
 Labour intensive filing/recording/use of and validity of data
 Performance cannot be effectively monitored
 Missed deadlines national performance indicators and FOI/subject access requests
 No ROPA completed

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Project implementation in development and board being set up
 Options appraisal being undertaken to look at most appropriate system 
 Project has been given high priority to support SEND improvement
 Digitisation of Paper files in progress
 CAPITA system – partial use

Risk owner HoEE

Proposed 
actions

 Options appraisal will identify most appropriate system
 Procurement of system with possible update of modules to ensure full capability
 Governance board being developed

P
age 194

A
genda Item

 8



Appendix A – Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2020

Risk Description Inherent risk score Current risk score Target risk score

The Council is the victim of a cyber-attack.

Causes Malware, ransomware or another virus infects the Council's systems.

Result

 Services will not have access to systems and data as standard and will have to fall back on non-ICT delivery methods, albeit 
without access to key data.

 Data breach occurs. 
 Financial impact of ransom.
 Reputational damage

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Cyberattack prevention measures are in place, including 

- Upgraded Council firewalls and active SIEM monitoring service.
- Anti malware tools
- New Acceptable use policy ready for deployment
- LGA Stocktake completed
- PSN Accreditation achieved

 Back-up disaster recovery facility is in place at a separate site, allowing Agilisys to restore the top 20 critical systems.
 Agilisys has a Business Continuity-Disaster Recovery plan in place which covers an action plan for this priority restoration, 

and the subsequent restoration of all other systems - this is aligned to the Business Continuity work programme
 Ongoing monitoring in in place via ICT governance arrangements
 Windows Defender anti-virus software is constantly updated- the Council will move to ESET imminently
 Communication to employees regarding the rise in malware attacks is in place, with plans to roll out better user education on 

this topic.

Risk owner ED CR&CS

Proposed 
actions

 The ongoing ICT Transformation programme will see the majority of systems and data migrated to Microsoft Azure cloud 
hosting, which will reduce the overall risk; however, a review of all security controls is underway by the Security Committee

 Deployment of industry standard ESET solution in progress
 Formal rollout of Cyber Security Awareness training.
 Develop new Business Continuity-Disaster Recovery plan in line with wider Corporate review of Business Continuity

P
age 195

A
genda Item

 8



Appendix A – Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2020

Risk Description Inherent risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Failure to manage increasing demand for 
services within Children’s Social Care

Causes
Increase in the number of children needing a CSC intervention including increase in LAC and CP
Budgets reduced to meet Council Targets has had an impact on the delivery of early help services

Result

 Inability to cope with demand, increased safeguarding risks
 Loss of reputation and poor inspection outcomes
 Increase in budget pressures 
 Increase in Social Work Caseloads

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Regular audit of cases, scrutiny of data and understanding of demand to predict future demand (needs analysis)
 Demand Management Programme as part of the next PSR projects in place with a number of workstreams to reduce 

demand for services
Risk owner HoCSC

Proposed 
actions

 Demand management workstream with project management
 Recruitment of Support workers to undertake non - social work tasks
 Managed Service in place to support reduced SW caseloads
 Increased resource to discharge Care Orders at home

P
age 196

A
genda Item

 8



Appendix A – Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2020

Risk Description Inherent risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Failure to plan within annual budget for 
increased placement costs for Children's 
Social Care

Causes
Numbers of children in care increase, demand for placements cannot be met as cost increases
Increased cost of placements

Result Costs increase and quality and sufficiency of placements decreases

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Fortnightly meeting to monitor placement costs and reduce high cost placements
 Programme of market reform in residential market
 Focus on recruitment of in house foster carers
 Work with LCR on a wider programme of market reform.

Risk owner HoCSC

Proposed 
actions

 Development of market to meet need
 Opportunities to collaborate across LCR to develop market 
 Regular review of budgets to identify and mitigate pressures
 Project Management through Demand Management Workstream

Risk Description Inherent risk score Current risk score Target risk score

P
age 197

A
genda Item

 8



Appendix A – Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2020

Impact of regulatory framework and 
outcome of Joint Target Area Inspection

Causes
Joint Target Area Inspection with a deep dive into Mental Health identified Priority Actions for the Partnership
ILAC inspection likely to take place in the next 6 months

Result
 Services are found to not adequately safeguard children
 Reputational damage to the Council and Statutory partners
 Significant impact on LA reputation if priority actions are not addressed

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Improvement plan in development to address Priority actions from the JTAI
 Governance arrangements reviewed and strengthened with Children's Improvement Partnership Board reporting to Health 

and Wellbeing Board
 Immediate actions taken to address Priority Actions across the partnership
 QA framework in place including regular audit and external audit
 Preparation in place for ILAC inspection

Risk owner HoCSC

Proposed 
actions

 Written statement of action (Improvement Plan) to be submitted to Ofsted on 30th March 2020
 CSC Improvement plan updated and actioned
 Performance meetings to continue
 Support via Partners in Practice to scrutinise effectiveness of partnership arrangements
 Programme of audit and independent audit
 Request for LGA Peer review

P
age 198

A
genda Item

 8



Report to: Audit and 
Governance 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 18 
March 2020

Subject: Risk and Audit Performance

Report of: Executive Director 
Corporate 
Resources & 
Customer Services 

Wards Affected: All

Portfolio:

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

 No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary: This report details the performance and key activities of the Risk and Audit 
Service for the period 7 December 2019 to 6 March 2020.

Recommendation(s):

Members are requested to:
(1) Note the progress in the delivery of the 2019/20 Internal Audit Plans and the activity
undertaken for the period 7 December 2019 6 March 2019.
(2) Note the contributions made by the Health and Safety, Insurance, Assurance and
Risk and Resilience teams in facilitating the management of the Council’s key risks.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

Approval of the recommendations will facilitate the continued provision of a
comprehensive and effective Risk and Audit Service.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

None.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs - There are no direct financial implications, outside of the
approved budget for the function, arising from this report. However, the Council benefits
from the work of the section in reducing the impact and likelihood (and so the cost) of
risk.

(B) Capital Costs - There are no capital costs arising from this report.

Page 199

Agenda Item 9



Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

There are no specific resource implications from the report.
Legal Implications:

There are no specific legal implications arising from the report.
Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

The Council’s Risk and Audit Service is a key enabler to the delivery of the Council’s
Core Purpose as set out below:

Protect the most vulnerable: Positive

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Positive

Commission, broker and provide core services: Positive

Place – leadership and influencer: Positive

Drivers of change and reform: Positive

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Positive

Greater income for social investment: Positive

Cleaner Greener: Positive

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director Corporate Resources & Customer Services (FD4165/20.) and the 
Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4165/20) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

None

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee / Council meeting.

Page 200

Agenda Item 9



Contact Officer: David Eden
Telephone Number: 0151 934 4053
Email Address: david.eden@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 
 Risk and Audit Service Performance Report

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The Risk and Audit Service is managed by the Chief Internal Auditor, who reports
to the Head of Corporate Resources through the Finance Service Manager.

1.2 The mission of the service is “to deliver a first-class risk and audit service that is
highly respected and valued by Sefton and is the envy of our peers”.

1.3 The Service has the following objectives:
 To lead the Council in embedding a system of internal control and risk

management that facilitates the achievement of the organisation’s objectives.
 To be a valued corporate influence in promoting the due consideration of

risk in Council decisions, strategies and plans.
 To align the service with the Council’s changing needs.

1.4 In delivering this mission and objectives, the Service encapsulates the following
teams:
 Internal Audit
 Health and Safety
 Insurance
 Risk and Resilience
 Assurance

1.5 This report summarises the main aspects of the performance of the Service during
the period 6 December 2019 – 7 March 2020, and gives members a detailed
overview of the following areas:
 Internal Audit:

o work undertaken in the period, including a summary of work and an
o outline of the high priority recommendations made
o performance against Key Performance Indicators
o developments relating to this part of the Service.
o Proposed revision in the Annual Internal Audit Plan.

   Health and Safety, Insurance, Assurance and Risk and Resilience:
o work undertaken in the period, with key data provided

Page 201

Agenda Item 9



o developments relating to these parts of the Service.

1.6 The report concludes by looking ahead to the forthcoming activities being
undertaken by the service.

Page 202

Agenda Item 9



Audit and Governance Committee
18 March 2020 David Eden

Chief Internal Auditor
Risk and Audit Service
Corporate Resources
Magdalen House
30 Trinity Road 
Bootle
L20 3NJ

Risk and Audit Service: Performance 

P
age 203

A
genda Item

 9



Page 2 of 29

Contents

1. Executive Summary Page 3

2. Introduction Pages 4 - 5

3. Internal Audit Performance Update Pages 6 - 10

4. Health and Safety Performance Update Pages 11 - 17

5. Insurance Performance Update Pages 18 - 24

6. Risk and Resilience Performance Update Pages 25- 26

7. Assurance and Counter Fraud Pages 27 

8. Looking Ahead Page 28

9. Conclusions Page 29

P
age 204

A
genda Item

 9



Page 3 of 29

1. Executive Summary

1.1 This report summarises the performance and activity of the Risk and Audit Service for the period 7 December 2019 – 6 
March 2020.

1.2 The report covers each of the areas of the service:

 Internal Audit
 Health and Safety
 Insurance
 Risk and Resilience.
 Counter Fraud

1.3 The report highlights the following key points:

 This has continued to be a busy period for the Service, with the completion of a number of key pieces of work.  The 
performance indicators and key data in this report reflect this positive progress.

 The service continues to seek to support the effective management of risk, which is especially pertinent as the Council 
transforms.

 The development of the service continues, with a number of improvements having been completed in the period.

P
age 205

A
genda Item

 9



Page 4 of 29

2. Introduction

2.1 The Risk and Audit Service is managed by the Chief Internal Auditor.

2.2 The mission of the Service is “to deliver a first-class risk and audit service that is highly respected and valued by Sefton and 
is the envy of our peers” and the Service has the following objectives:
 To lead the Council in embedding a system of internal control and risk management that facilitates the achievement 

of the organisation’s objectives
 To be a valued corporate influence in promoting the due consideration of risk in Council decisions, strategies and 

plans
 To align the service with the Council’s changing needs.

2.3 In delivering this mission and objectives, the Service encapsulates the following teams:

 Internal Audit – this statutory service provides the internal audit function for all areas of the Council, including 
maintained schools.   Internal Audit can be defined as: “an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity 
designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. Internal Audit helps an organisation accomplish its 
objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk 
management, control and governance processes.” (Public Sector Internal Audit Standards)

 Health and Safety – supports Council officers and members in providing an effective health and safety management 
system that meets the Council’s statutory health and safety duties; thereby controlling the risks of injury and ill health 
to staff and others affected by the Council’s activities.

 Insurance – fulfils the duty to provide an appropriate insurance service for the Council, including claims management, 
advice on insurance issues and the management of insurable risk.

 Risk and Resilience – develops risk management and mitigation strategies for the Council on emergency planning 
(ensuring that the Council meets its statutory responsibilities as a Category 1 responder under the Civil Contingencies 
Act 2004), public safety and business continuity issues. 

 Assurance Team – will develop a Counter Fraud strategy and co-ordinate the development of counter fraud services 
across the Council.

P
age 206

A
genda Item

 9



Page 5 of 29

2.4 This report summarises the main aspects of the performance of the Service for the period 7 December 2019 – 6 March 
2020, covering the following areas:

 Internal Audit: 
 work undertaken in the period, including a summary of work completed and an outline of the high priority 

recommendations made.
 performance against Key Performance Indicators
 anti-fraud update
 developments relating to this part of the Service.
 Health and Safety, Insurance, Risk and Resilience and Assurance and Counter Fraud:
 work undertaken in the period, with key data provided where applicable 
 developments relating to these parts of the Service.

2.5 The report concludes by looking ahead to the challenges which will be addressed in the forthcoming period.

P
age 207

A
genda Item

 9



Page 6 of 29

3. Internal Audit: Performance Update

3.1 Work Completed 

During the period 26 November 2019 – 6 March 2019, 16 audits were completed.  The table below outlines the audits that 
have been completed, the audit opinion and the recommendations identified:

Recommendations 
Audit Title  Audit Opinion High Medium Low 

2019/2020  
Home to School Transport Support Major 3 10 4
Housing Benefits Minor 0 5 1
Court of Protection / Appointeeship Moderate 1 2 3
St. George’s Primary School Moderate 0 7 1
Valewood Primary School Moderate 0 3 4
St Lukes Halsall CoE Primary School Moderate 1 3 2
Disabilities Facilities Grant Certification Assurance provided to facilitate certification
M58 2019/20 Q3 Grant Certification Assurance provided to facilitate certification
STEP 2019/20 Q3 Grant Certification Assurance provided to facilitate certification
Highways Maintenance Incentive Fund Assurance provided to facilitate submission
Troubled Families – Period 16 Grant Certification Assurance provided to facilitate certification
Troubled Families – Period 17 Sample checks Assurance provided to facilitate submission
A59 2019/20 Q3 Grant Certification Assurance provided to facilitate certification
ASC Systems Development (previously LAS Project) Ongoing Assurance Provided
LCS Project Ongoing Assurance Provided
ContrOCC Working Group Ongoing Assurance Provided

Where the audit is at draft stage the audit is annotated in italics in the above table

The high priority recommendations outlined in the audit reports can be summarised as:

P
age 208

A
genda Item

 9



Page 7 of 29

Home to School Transport Support 
 A number of recommendations have been suggested to improve the controls surrounding Home to School Transport 

effectively including utilising LGA research and improvements to management information. 

Court of Protection / Appointeeship
 The Council’s Financial Procedure Rules should be updated to include Appointeeship and Deputy responsibilities. 

St. Lukes Halsall
 Significant improvements to the administration of the school fund.

3.2 Key Performance Indicators 

The following table outlines the Audit Team’s performance against the Key Performance Indicators outlined in the Audit 
Plan agreed by the Committee in March 2019. In addition at figure 1 there is performance information on the completion of 
the 2019/20 Audit Plan across all of the financial year.

Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation
Percentage of the Internal Audit Plan completed 2019/2020
This measures the extent to which the Internal Audit Plan agreed by this 
Committee is being delivered.  The delivery of the Plan is vital in ensuring 
that an appropriate level of assurance is being provided across the 
Council’s systems.

88%
See graph 

below

79%
See graph 
below and 
narrative

9%
 Time lag between the 

appointment of the Audit 
Manager and the 
replacement Principal 
Auditor.

 Delay in recruiting to the 
Trainee ICT- Auditor 
post.

 Management requested 
activity.

P
age 209

A
genda Item

 9



Page 8 of 29

Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation
Percentage of Client Survey responses indicating a “very good” or 
“good” opinion
This measures the feedback received on the service provided and seeks 
to provide assurance that Internal Auditors conduct their duties in a 
professional manner.

100% 100% No variance

Percentage of recommendations made in the period which have 
been agreed to by management
This measures the extent to which managers feel that the 
recommendations made are appropriate and valuable in strengthening 
the control environment.

100% 100% No variance

Percentage of audit recommendations implemented at the original 
target date
This measures the extent the effectiveness and timeliness to which 
management implements audit recommendations. Provides assurance 
that control weaknesses are addressed promptly.

65% 100% Performance is excellent 
and highlights that audit 
recommendations are being 
implemented as agreed by 
management at the time fo 
the review

    

21%

37%

65%

88%

100%

16%

30%

50%

79%

0%

To 13/6/19 To 05/9/19 To 21/11/19 To 07/03/19 To 31/03/20
0%

10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Target
Actual

Figure 1: Percentage of the Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 Completed (profiled to coincide with the Audit and Governance Committee reporting dates)       

3.3 Anti-Fraud 

P
age 210

A
genda Item

 9



Page 9 of 29

The following anti-fraud work has been undertaken during the period by the Internal Audit Team:

 There is an ongoing assignment at the request of management reviewing contractual arrangements and employee 
conduct.  Audit are currently gathering and reviewing information on the area and progress will be reported to this 
committee in future reports.

3.4 Public Sector Internal Audit Standards

As previously reported to the Committee, following the external assessment in March 2018 which confirmed that the service 
“generally complies” with the Standards the team, the Audit Team has been continuing to implement the Development Plan 
to ensure the continued development and improvement of the service going forward, with a particular emphasis on the 
service being able to meet the expectations of a modern service. Progress during the quarter has been undertaken on the 
potential use of specialist audit software to improve the speed and depth of testing through the development of a business 
plan and developing an assurance map of the external sources of inspection that the Council is required to participate in.

3.5 Resources

 The recruitment process to the newly created Trainee ICT Auditor post is underway.  This post was created following the 
deletion of the Value For Money (VFM) Auditor post, during the quarter 1 2019/20 re-structure, and will strengthen the 
team’s capability in regard to ICT reviews.  Internal Auditors will ensure that that the issues surrounding value for money 
are considered as part of every review that is undertaken. 

 Recruitment for the Audit Manager has taken place with the seconded staff manager being appointed to the role following 
external and internal advertisement of the role.

 The temporary contract for the Principal Auditor recruited in June 2019 had been extended until the end of the current 
financial year to provide additional capacity across the Internal Audit Team whilst the recruitment of the permanent Audit 
Manager took place. It is proposed to extend the temporary contract Principal Auditor for a further three months whilst a 
recruitment exercise is undertaken for a 12-month fixed term appointment. This will provide the team stability whilst there is 
on-going recruitment across the Risk and Audit Team takes place and a further review of the role to identify the most suitable 
structure across the Audit function.  

 Staff development continues through a mix of office-based webinar and discussion training, engagement with regional audit 
groups (such as for school audits, ICT audits and contract audits) and through external conferences and training events.  
One area which will benefit both the audit service and provide an excellent opportunity for staff development is a current 

P
age 211

A
genda Item

 9



Page 10 of 29

exercise to undertake a gap analysis comparing our current practice with international practice standards of the Institute of 
Internal Auditors (beyond the headline practice areas specified by the Public Sector Internal Auditor Standards). An outturn 
report will be provided to Members in the Summer of 2020.

 To enhance audit coverage and to address one area of weakness identified in the external assessment in 2018, the 
viability of specialist audit software, IDEA, is being considered. A draft business plan has been developed. This is an 
exciting development and may have wide ranging impact on the way in which audits are undertaken in future. An update 
will be provided in future reports.

3.6     Developments

Since the last Audit and Governance Report Internal Audit has:
 Recruited a permanent Internal Audit Manager.
 Produced a business case for the use of specialist computer aided audit software.
 Advertised and interviewed for the vacant Trainee ICT Auditor post.
 Developed an Internal Audit Improvement Plan for 2020/21.

In the next quarter, the planned developments for the service include:
 Develop and improve internal monitoring arrangements.
 Review and simplify internal audit reports to improve clarity and reduce time spent producing the reports.
 Finalise proposals on the use of specialist audit software.

P
age 212

A
genda Item

 9



Page 11 of 29

4. Health and Safety: Performance Update

4.1     Work Completed 

During the period, the following key pieces of work/projects have been undertaken: –

 A temporary Health and Safety Adviser has been in post since from July 2019 to January 2020 provide capacity whilst a 
recruitment exercise was undertaken for the Health and Safety Co-ordinator.  The new post of Health and Safety Co-
ordinator, included in the Quarter 1 2019/20 re-structure, has now been advertised externally following an internal 
advertisement. Interviews will take place in March 2020 with a view to the successful candidate starting in April 2020.

 The Health and Safety Team completed a risk assessment training exercise between October 2019 and December 2019 
for 247 managers who are required to complete risk assessments for staff as part of their role.  The training required 
managers to refresh existing risk assessments and for the completed documents to be reviewed by the Health and Safety 
Team commencing in February 2020.  Further courses were held in early January 2020 to pick up the managers who had 
been unable to attend the initial sessions, due to work commitments or sick leave, and a further two more courses are 
planned for April 2020 for managers returning from illness. An exercise is currently underway to follow up the trained 
managers to ensure that the managers have completed the risk assessments. At the point of writing the report 59 managers 
have responded to the request.  

 Whilst the temporary Health and Safety Advisor was in post work had continued in the development of the Council’s health 
and safety training needs assessment which will eventually build into the Council-wide health and safety training plan. Work 
has been postponed until the new Health and Safety Co-ordinator is in post.

 Health and Safety Key Performance Indicators have been devised which include information from the Departmental Health 
and Safety Committees which is fed back to the Corporate Health and Safety Committee. There has been steady progress 
during the year on improving governance, risk assessments and training.

 Work continues to further embed the Departmental Health and Safety Committees into the Council’s health and safety 
framework with Heads of Service being encouraged to plan three meetings in advance to ensure these meetings are a 
priority for the forthcoming year.  The Economic Growth and Housing Departmental Committee had its first meeting in 
January 2020 which was successful and future dates are in the process of being planned.

P
age 213

A
genda Item

 9



Page 12 of 29

 A review of the Service Level Agreement (SLA) with schools has been undertaken to ensure it effectively and efficiently 
provides assurance where the Council retains health and safety management responsibility for the school.  Options have 
been designed for schools where the governing body retains responsibility for health and safety where the Health and Safety 
Team can provide assurance report following a site visit. This will ensure that the Council’s Health and Safety team can 
provide suitable assurance on the design and operation of the school’s health and safety management system.

 A revised schools inspection methodology has been developed and implemented during the past quarter. Schools have 
been inspected using the revised methodology and we have received some useful feedback on the format.

 Work continues to monitor outdoor education which includes offering advice and reviewing risk assessments for off-site 
visits and adventurous activities involving young people in schools.  This is managed by the EVOLVE system which schools 
can purchase as part of the Service Level Agreement which is offered.

 Attendance continues at North West networking groups to ensure continual professional development and to keep up to 
date with local health and safety practices across the area.  This also includes attendance at the Outdoor Education 
Adviser’s Panel which is a forum that provides support for sharing and developing good practice in off-site visits, outdoor 
learning and learning outside the classroom.

 Advice and guidance continue to be provided in all aspects of health and safety to each department within the Council, 
including schools who purchase a Service Level Agreement for this service.

 A revised Health and Safety Improvement Plan has been developed for the new Financial Year.

4.2     Key Incident Data  

The Health and Safety team continue to manage the Council’s incident reporting system which records incidents following 
work-related accidents and near misses involving employees, contractors and members of the public.

The chart below shows the total number of incidents reported across all service areas over the period from 1 December 
2018 to 6th February 2020. 

P
age 214

A
genda Item

 9



Page 13 of 29

The above chart shows a decrease in the number of incidents being reported compared to the previous quarter. Whilst a 
decrease in reported incidents could potentially be a positive outcome there is believed to be both a degree of misreporting 
in several Service Areas as well as under reporting of certain types of incidents which is explored in the report.   An accurate 
picture of reported incidents and near misses is important as it enables the organisation to understand trends and set out 
actions to address key weakness in processes that are identified through analysis of the incidents. Therefore, a priority for 
the Health and Safety Team continues to be in raising awareness across the Council of the importance of reporting incidents 
and near misses to assist in identifying underlying trends and issues.

 

P
age 215

A
genda Item

 9



Page 14 of 29

The charts below show the key injury causes from the period 1 January 2019 to 6 February 2020 as reported by managers 
on the Council’s Incident Reporting System.

In the last quarter, the main type of injury causes are slips, trips and falls as well as physical impact and there has also been 
an increase in verbal abuse reports. There was also a decrease in the number of incidents which are classed as swimming 
difficulty and this is due to better education on using the system effectively.

Communities and Education Excellence have continued to record the largest number of incidents reported during the period 
although a minority of incidents recorded are outside the definition of work-related accidents. Typical incidents recorded 
include minor slips for children in the playground during normal play and members of the public being dizzy from the use of 
a sauna. Staff are recording the non-work-related incidents on the work-related incident reporting system in case further 
issues are raised.

In addition, there appears to be under-reporting in the Adult and Children’s Social Care areas regarding in particular verbal 
abuse and violence where there is a higher threshold to reporting of incidents.  The Health and Safety team continue to 

P
age 216

A
genda Item

 9



Page 15 of 29

challenge the incident reporting where we believe there is mis-reporting and seeking to improve some of the perceived 
under reporting through working with the Departmental Health and Safety Committees.

The charts below show the key types of injury from the period 1 January 2019 to 6 February 2020 as reported by managers 
on the Council’s Incident Reporting system.

During the last quarter, the main type of injury following an incident is bump to the head followed by grazes and cuts. 

Injuries described as “other” are reported injuries which are classified as such in the dropdown box on the on-line system.  
They reflect where the manger reporting the incident has not specified the type of injury for whatever reason and simply 
recorded it under this heading.  We follow up with managers concerned to endeavour to ensure the manager’s record the 
incidents as accurately as possible for us to understand the trends which occur.

The chart below shows the number of incidents reportable under Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous 
Occurrences Regulations (RIDDOR) since 1 July 2018 to 3 February 2020.

P
age 217

A
genda Item

 9



Page 16 of 29

The chart shows an improving trend in RIDDOR accidents since the peak in the first quarter 2019 and an overall downward 
trend. 

The was one RIDDOR incident in the quarter which relates to:

 A contractor trapping his foot in the mechanism of the hydraulic lift which resulted in a broken bone.

There were no significant trends or incidents within the data that required intervention There has been no contact with Health 
and Safety Executive regarding any of the reports. The incidents reported through the incident reporting system are reviewed 
by the Health and Safety Team on an on-going basis.

4.3     Developments

There will be a continued focus during the next quarter of delivering the Health and Safety Improvement Plan with planned 
priorities including:

 Rolling out the health and safety training needs assessment before rolling out across the organisation to inform the 
completion of the Council Health and Safety Training Plan.

P
age 218

A
genda Item

 9



Page 17 of 29

 Continuing the delivery of risk assessment training for all the managers who have responsibility to undertake risk 
assessments who have so far been unable to attend previous courses. Following up with the managers who have not 
responded to the initial request for their risk assessments and evaluating the quality of the risk assessments.

 Continue to deliver a health and safety management inspection regime involving schools with a Service Level Agreement 
with the Council and those schools where the Council retains responsibility for the health and safety as the employer.  This 
will provide assurance that the schools health and safety management systems are suitable and effective. 

 A one-day Educational Visits Co-ordinator course has been planned for the 29th April 2020 which will take place at the 
Corporate Learning Centre.  The course will cover aspects of the law related to educational visits, risk assessments of visits 
and the administrative requirements associated with off-site educational activities.  The course is aimed at new and existing 
EVCs in schools and will enable them to plan and manage their school’s educational visits and off-site activities in line with 
National Guidance, this in turn will help them fulfil their health and safety responsibilities.

 A focus on improving the accuracy of incident reporting across the Council will continue to ensure more incidents of verbal 
abuse that occur are reported accordingly.

P
age 219

A
genda Item

 9



Page 18 of 29

5. Insurance: Performance Update

5.1     Work Completed 

During the period, the following key pieces of work/projects have been undertaken: 
 
 As previously reported, a Consultation Paper was put forward by the DfE for Local Authority Maintained Schools (LAMS) 

to consider joining the Risk Protection Arrangement (RPA) currently utilised by Academies.  The result was published 
on 20 January 2020 and the Council is currently developing an approach to consult with the Schools on the way forward 
which is both equitable to the Schools and reflects the current insurance arrangements the Council has following the 
tender in September 2018. 

 Invitations issued via The Chest have resulted in a number of submissions being received by suppliers interested in 
entering into a contract to be the Councils Insurance Brokers for a period of five years with effect from 1 April 2020.  
Evaluation is now under way and the outcome of the exercise will be advised in the next update to the Committee.

 In conjunction with colleagues in Procurement, a similar procurement exercise has also been placed on The Chest with 
regard to the re-valuation of some of the Councils buildings for insurance purposes. Buildings should be regularly 
revalued to ensure that the values are accurate as under insured premises could lead to insurers applying average 
claims clauses in the event of a major loss. Over insured buildings can also lead to higher than is necessary premiums 
being paid to insurers. The outcome of the exercise will be made available in the next update to the Committee. 

     
 The Council continues to defend cases robustly to protect the public purse. The team also works extensively with Service 

Teams to improve the management of insurable risk in areas where there are high numbers of claims.  The Council 
generally has high defensibility rates and such risk management activity will assist in maintaining and potentially 
improving the position further.  With the assistance of Weightmans LLP, the Councils legal representatives, the team 
have recently secured two good outcomes including the following example:– 

o A recent claim that went to trial where the injured party fell on ice in a council owned car park.  The Judge 
found that the Council had ultimately taken all reasonable steps to prevent such incidents occurring.  This was 
a pleasing result both for operational and financial reasons given that the reserve was £18k.
.

P
age 220

A
genda Item

 9



Page 19 of 29

 Liaising with the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer and via the North West Legal Consortium Framework, a new three- 
year contract, effective from 1 April 2020, has been established with Weightmans LLP to represent the Council in 
litigated insurance claims.  A saving of £7.5k per annum has been secured for the same high standard of service as 
previously received. 

  
 Following on from the renewal of the Authority’s insurance policies in September 2019, and after questioning the number 

of claims put forward for the 2019/2020 claims handling charge to the Council, a reduction in the proposed invoice of 
£18k has been secured. Future savings are proposed by handling some of the claims internally within the team where 
the staff members have the relevant experience.

 £3k has also been saved by negotiating a reduction in the number of concurrent licenses required for the use of Figtree, 
the Council’s insurance claims handling system, for the year commencing 1 April 2020. 

 
5.2       Key Claims Data  

The following graphs outline the insurance performance and include: 

 Numbers of claims for Public Liability (PL), Employers Liability (EL) and motor received by Sefton Council for the period 
1 November 2018 to 31 January 2020.

 Value of the reserves for PL, EL and motor claims received by Sefton Council for the period 1 November 2018 to 31 
January 2020.

 The average reserve value for PL, EL and motor claims received by Sefton Council for the period 1 November 2018 to 
31 January 2020. 

P
age 221

A
genda Item

 9



Page 20 of 29

The graph below outlines the number of claims for PL, EL and motor received for the period of 1 November 2018 to 
31 January 2020.

Claims Received 1 Nov 
2018 - 31 Jan 2019

Claims Received 1 Feb 
2019 - 30 April 2019

Claims Received 1 May 
2019 - 31 July 2019

Claims Received 1 
August 2019 - 31 

October 2019

Claims Received 1 Nov 
2019 - 31 Jan 2020

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Public Liability Employer's Liability Motor

No. of PL, EL and Motor Claims 
1 November 2018 to 31 January 2020 (last 5 quarters)

Despite a dip in the middle of the reported period, there has been an increase of 13% between the fourth and fifth quarter in 
the number of PL claims received.  As to be expected, the majority of these claims are highways related (slips, trips and falls 
and pot hole damage), representing 70% of the claims received in the last quarter. 

The number of EL claims remain low continuing the good past performance. 

There has been an increase of 39% in the number of Motor claims during the period which is change from the gradual 
reduction over the past three quarters.  

Despite an overall increase of 9% in claims numbers over the period, the current profile in all three areas presents no sign 
for concern.  However, numbers will continue to be monitored for any changes in trend.

P
age 222

A
genda Item

 9



Page 21 of 29

The graph below outlines the value of the reserves for PL, EL and motor claims received for the period 1 
November 2018 to 31 January 2020.

Claims Reserves 1 Nov 
2018 - 31 Jan 2019

Claims Reserves 1 Feb 
2019 - 30 April 2019

Claims Reserves 1 May 
2019 - 31 July 2019

Claims Reserves 1 
August 2019 - 31 

October 2019

Claims Reserves 1 Nov 
019 - 31 Jan 2020

0
50,000

100,000
150,000
200,000
250,000
300,000
350,000
400,000
450,000
500,000

Public Liability Employer's Liability Motor

Value of Reserves (£) for PL, EL and Motor Claims  
1 November 2018 to 31 January 2020 (last 5 quarters)

Claim reserves are allocated by the insurers and/or claims handlers independent of the Council and are determined by the 
type of injury sustained by the third parties and/or damage occasioned to their property.

The increase in PL claims numbers between the last two quarters is also reflected in the increase in reserves of 8%.  
However, despite a large peak in the period of 1 February to 30 April 2019, the value of reserves from the start of the 
reporting period has decreased by 4% overall.

Despite the numbers of EL claims remaining low, as a result of the nature and severity of injuries sustained, reserves have 
increased significantly by 161% between the start and end of the reporting period and by 97% between the last two quarters 
from a very low base.  

P
age 223

A
genda Item

 9



Page 22 of 29

Although there has been a small increase in number, reserves for motor claims have steadily increased over the last three 
quarters and by 23% between quarter four and five. This increase is explained by the increased cost of repairs for damage 
that has occurred to both third party vehicles and the Council’s own fleet.

The trends in claims performance will continue to be monitored.

The graph below outlines the average value of the reserves for PL, EL and motor claims received for the period 1 
November 2018 to 31 January 2020  

Average Claim Reserves 
1 Nov 2018 - 31 Jan 

2019

Average Claim Reserves 
1 Feb 2019 - 30 April 

2019

Average Claim Reserves 
1 May 2019 - 31 July 

2019

Average Claim Reserves 
1 August 2019 - 31 

October 2019

Averge Claims Reserves 
1 Nov 2019 - 31 Jan 

2020

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

Public Liability Employer's Liability Motor

Average Reserve (£) Costs  for PL, EL and Motor Claims 
1 November 2018 to 31 January 2020 (last 5 quarters)

Despite an increase in the number of PL claims received, the final quarter average reserve has decreased by 54% from 
the spike in the second quarter, and by 17% from the first quarter.  This reflects the nature of injuries sustained by third 
parties and/or the amount of damage occasioned to their property.

Average EL claims size has remained stable during the period and although average reserves have varied, there has, as 
reported above, been a significant increase at the end compared to the outset.

Average motor claim reserves have increased by £544 over the period mainly as a result of vehicle repair costs. 

P
age 224

A
genda Item

 9



Page 23 of 29

5.3     Developments

 An exercise is currently underway to provide information for an Actuarial Report to be undertaken on the Council’s insurance 
claims before the end of April 2020. This is a requirement of the Council’s External Auditors and will provide an analysis of 
current claims reserves, a forecast of expected ultimate losses after allowing for volatility, and also comment on emerging 
risks within the sector.  Ultimately it will determine if the Insurance Fund has sufficient reserves to fund current and future 
claims that may be presented.

 The Insurance Team are continuing to develop an approach for the RPA scheme for LAMS which will be consulted with 
schools as it evolves.  The team will also continue to attend any seminars/webinars offered by relevant bodies to further 
understand the implications/benefit of such a scheme.

 The team will work with the newly appointed Insurance Brokers to ensure that the Council receives full value for money and 
support for its needs over the coming years.

 Once bids have been received from interested parties via The Chest, a full evaluation exercise will be undertaken to ensure 
that the successful supplier can deliver the Councils needs in relation to the re-valuation of some buildings.  This will ensure 
that values are up to date and, in the unfortunate event of a major claim, insurers do not apply the average clause due to 
any under insurance. 

 As previously advised, due to re-allocation of resources over the recent past, it has become apparent that some service 
areas have changed their inspection regimes which may result in more insurance claims being received and potentially 
hinder the Council in defending the claims.  One area for review is Southport Pier as a number of injury claims have been 
received relating to the decking.  The team are due to meet with colleagues from Health and Safety, Legal, Tourism and 
Investment and Infrastructure in the near future to determine how they can assist in ensuring that the on-going inspections 
are effective in identifying defects and ensure that there is suitable planned maintenance programme in place to repair the 
decking where necessary. 

 Following a recent meeting with Tree and Woodland colleagues, the Insurance Team are making enquiries with the 
Authority’s Claims Handlers and Legal Representatives, in order to assist them progress their Tree Management Strategy.  
This is important in the light of the recent case law of Cavanagh v Witley Parish Council and the Report to Prevent Future 
Deaths from the Senior Coroner for Liverpool and Wirral. The former refers to a tree falling onto the highway and colliding 
with the bus the claimant was driving wherein the Court of Appeal found that the original Judge was correct in his findings 
that the size, age, weight and location of the tree, and the likelihood of it causing very severe damage if it fell, meant that it 

P
age 225

A
genda Item

 9



Page 24 of 29

required more regular inspections.   The Report to Prevent Future Deaths related to the case of an infant dying following a 
bough of a tree fell through the windscreen on her mother’s car.  The inquest found that there were a large range of 
inadequacies including, amongst others, a lack of a pro-active, robust tree management strategy and a lack of accountability 
and poor communication with and between departments in the local authority concerned. 

 As the Council continues to change and commercialism develops, discussions will continue with the current Insurance 
Broker to ensure that all new risks/liabilities to the Council and associated companies are identified, and where appropriate 
relevant insurance cover is sourced and procured. A recent example of this was to ensure that the Flood and Coastal 
Erosion Risk Management Team had adequate insurance to operate their drone.

 Regular meetings will continue with the Council’s brokers, insurers and claims handlers throughout the year to ensure the 
smooth running of the Councils contract with each provider. 

 In order to keep up with current legislation, trends in claims and the insurance market in general, the Team will continue to 
attend any free of charge seminars, workshops or meetings offered from market suppliers. 

 As previously reported, under the terms of the Council’s contract with its liability insurers, an allocation of training days to 
assist with implementing effective risk management across the organisation is available.  The team, along with other Risk 
and Audit colleagues, will consider where best to use the remaining days from the current long-term agreement which 
runs until 28 September 2021. 

P
age 226

A
genda Item

 9



Page 25 of 29

6. Risk and Resilience: Performance Update

6.1 Work Completed 

During the period, the following key pieces of work/projects have been undertaken:

 Following the UK exit from the European Union on 31st January, the Risk and Resilience officers continue to monitor and 
review the risks identified in the work of the previous quarter and provide support required to the authority during the 
transition period until December 2020.

 A review of the Risk and Resilience Improvement plan took place in December 2019 and identified future work areas to 
further progress Business Continuity, Emergency Planning and Risk Management over the coming year.

 A template has been produced for Service Area Business Continuity Plans. Arrangements are currently being made to meet 
with Heads of Service and Team Managers to disseminate information captured in Operational level plans so that this can 
be used to inform the service level plans. There are plans to complete all Service Business Continuity Plans by the 30th 
June 2020. The final Business Continuity Plan is a Corporate Business Continuity Plan which is due to be completed by the 
30th September 2020.

 The Risk and Resilience team have been working with Facilities Management to review procedures for threats following an 
evacuation incident at Magdalen House in early January. 

 Following the emergence of the Coronavirus outbreak in China, the Cabinet Office have requested that all Local Resilience 
Forums review their Pandemic plans and preparedness locally.  Public Health England (PHE) are the lead agency for this 
type of risk and there has been significant engagement with them, NHS England and our local health partners at a 
Merseyside level.  Sefton Council’s Director for Public Health (DPH) and his Consultant for Health Protection have been 
designated as local authority leads.  To date, we have worked with them to establish a small working group led by the DPH 
to monitor situational awareness and preparedness activity from the national and regional leads and engage with our health 
partners on a local Sefton footprint, we have circulated links to the national communications and advice internally for staff 
and externally to schools, Sefton CVS, Family Centres, nurseries, colleges and other partners. We are also linked daily to 
MRF engagement activities.   

P
age 227

A
genda Item

 9



Page 26 of 29

 As in previous years, ahead of Christmas Closedown, the team were involved compiling information for the Emergency Duty 
Co-ordinators (EDCs) who were on duty to respond to incidents during this time.  This ensured they had out of hours or 
emergency contacts for those services who remained operational over the shutdown period. 

 In December, a member of the team attended the Emergency Planning College, York to undertake a Business Continuity 
training course. The course furthered understanding of the importance of Business Continuity and evaluated methods for 
embedding it within an organisation.

 The Risk and Audit Team have attended a selection of risk meetings across all service areas to improve insight of key risks 
and their subsequent mitigations at both operational and service level.

 The Corporate Risk Register has been reviewed and is included in the agenda for the Audit and Governance Committee to 
note. The presentation of this document has been considered and improved to focus on the key information of the risks 
identified. 

 An updated version of the risk scoring matrix was approved last quarter by the Audit and Governance to provide an 
enhanced way of differentiating risk scores across the Council. The Corporate Risk Register and Service Risk Registers 
have been updated and we are working to ensure the revised scoring is used for the operational risk registers across the 
Council. We have been encouraged by the positive feedback from teams across the Council who have used the revised 
scoring matrix.

6.2 Developments 

 As in previous years, the planning for Aintree Grand National has begun and the team are reviewing emergency planning 
arrangements and confirming officer support for enhanced cover during the event.  This is an annual plan to support the 
potential evacuation of the race course.

 During the next quarter, the team will primarily focus on the development and production of Service Area Business 
Continuity plans. They will work with Heads of Service to ensure appropriate information from each operational plan is 
identified and used to populate the procedures at service level.

 The team will continue to attend risk management meetings to facilitate the update of operational and service area risk 
registers in line with the recommendations of the review cycle

P
age 228

A
genda Item

 9



Page 27 of 29

7.   Assurance and Counter Fraud: Performance Update

7.1 Work Completed 

 Following a review in September 2019 of the 2018 CIPFA Fraud Risk Assessment, the document continues to be refreshed 
and updated with roles, key responsibilities and an action plan. 

 The 2020 Council Tax Audit includes the extensive assurance checks that assurance officers completed in 2019-20.

7.2 Developments 

 A performance and improvement plan is now in place for assurance activities, which includes supporting other key risk 
areas within Risk and Audit.   

 A rolling programme of independent assurance checks has been agreed across Customer Centric Services to include post 
approval write offs and refunds, Council Tax discounts and exemptions, Business Rates Reliefs including Small Business 
Rates Relief. This work will complement any audit activity undertaken during the year.   

 Assurance will also be provided on the annual main billing activities during March 2020 for Council Tax and Business Rates.  

 A number of data matching exercises are currently underway as part of the Council’s involvement with the National Fraud 
Initiative. These include Sole Occupier Discounts against Electoral Register and Housing Benefit against Student Loans.

 An investigation is currently being carried out after identifying a potentially fraudulent activity in a benefit claim where the 
claimant is also claiming at another property in a neighbouring local authority.

 The launch of the third local authority counter-fraud strategy, Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally is taking place in London 
on 26 March 2020 and the Council will seek to align its own counter fraud strategy with best practice, with a focus on 
prevention and fraud awareness across the Council.

P
age 229

A
genda Item

 9



Page 28 of 29

8. Looking Ahead

8.1 The Service continues to develop, with a number of key projects being undertaken to embed the role and influence of the 
team over the next quarter:

 The embedding of regular risk management review across the Council to ensure that Operational and Service Risk 
Registers are updated on a regular basis.  

 Define a draft risk management statement on appetite to be shared with Strategic Leadership Board. 

 Continued delivery of the Internal Audit Plans for 2019/20 and 2020/21, focusing attention on reviewing the key risks to 
the organisation, which will evolve as the Council changes.

 Building up Business Continuity Plans at Service level and the starting of limited testing of existing business continuity 
plans. 

 Delivery of the final Health and Safety Risk Assessment Training sessions for Managers and designing a health and 
safety training needs assessment.

 Developing the Council’s Counter Fraud approach firstly through rolling out the actions from the CIPFA Fraud Risk 
Assessment. 

 Supporting the Framework for Change by providing audit advice and guidance on the risk and control issues emerging 
from the Public Sector Reform and economic development and strategic investment projects. 

 Delivering on the service improvement plans for the Risk and Audit Team.

  

P
age 230

A
genda Item

 9



Page 29 of 29

9. Conclusions 

9.1 Internal Audit has made promising progress in the completion of the Internal Audit Plan 2019/20. Performance in respect of 
the agreement of recommendations and the feedback from clients has been particularly positive and reflects the value 
added by the Service. 

9.2 The Council’s accident record continues to be positive.  There is a significant workload of activities required to improve the 
health and safety management system over the next six months with the associated aim of improving management of health 
and safety risk. Progress has been made on providing risk assessment training to all first line managers and the design as 
well as implementation of a school inspection regime to all schools with a Service Level Agreement with the Council. 

9.3 The Council’s insurance claims performance remains good.

9.4 Further work is planned to improve risk management within the Council by adopting enhanced risk management techniques 
and ensuring that there is an effective review of risk registers in place. The revised scoring methodology approved by the 
Committee in December is being rolled out across the Risk Management Framework.

9.5 Progress has been made in embedding business continuity with a clear road map for the next six months. 

9.6 There are clear implementation plans in place across each of the service areas to deliver improvements which will result in 
improved services as well as an integrated risk and audit approach.

P
age 231

A
genda Item

 9



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Audit and 
Governance 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 18 
March 2020

Subject: Write Off of Irrecoverable Debts > £10,000

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Cabinet Member Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No - but appendices 1 and 2 to the report are NOT FOR 
PUBLICATION by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  The Public Interest 
Test has been applied and favours the information being 
treated as exempt

Summary:

As outlined within the Council’s constitution, all outstanding debts over £10,000 cannot 
be written off without Member approval. 

This report requests the authorisation of the Audit & Governance Committee to write 
off the debts listed in Appendices 1 and 2 to this report.

Recommendation(s):

(1)  To approve the write off of all individual debts detailed in the appendices to this 
report.  The total amount for write off is £103914.51.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The debts detailed in the Appendices have all been assessed on an individual basis as 
all means of recovery have been exhausted.  These debts are now considered to be 
irrecoverable and are recommended for write off. 

Approval will ensure uncollectable debt will be removed from the system

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Not to write off the debt.

Page 233

Agenda Item 11



What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

The amounts proposed for write off are within the provisions set aside for doubtful debts 
and the Council will write off these debts against these provisions. 

(B) Capital Costs

Not Applicable

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

None
Legal Implications:

None
Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Not Applicable

Protect the most vulnerable:

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:

Commission, broker and provide core services:

Place – leadership and influencer:

Drivers of change and reform:

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:

Greater income for social investment: 

Cleaner Greener

Page 234

Agenda Item 11



What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD5975/20) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4158/20) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Not Applicable

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee / Council meeting.

Contact Officer: Mark Barry
Telephone Number: 0151 934 4361
Email Address: mark.barry@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 
 Appendix 1 - Business Rates accounts over £10,000.
 Appendix 2 - Sundry Debt accounts over £10,000.

Background Papers:

Write Off terms of reference that are attached to this report.

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The Council collected income of over £268.32m during 2018/19 which included:

 £146.3m in Council Tax,
 £72.1m in Business Rates,
 £49.2m Sundry Income, and
 £0.72m Housing Benefit overpayment.

For 2019/20, the forecast for collectible debits i.e. billed amounts is £291.8m.  As at 31 
January 2020 this comprises of: 

 £162.1m - Council Tax,
 £72.2m - Business Rates,
 £55m - Sundry Income, and 
 £2.2m – Housing Benefit Overpayment.

Page 235

Agenda Item 11



Whilst the Council seeks to limit the level of debt that is written off, every effort is also 
made to ensure that collection levels remain high.  The table below shows the 
percentage collection rate for Council Tax and Business Rates. As has been previously 
reported to various council committees, these collection rates compare favourably to all 
metropolitan local authorities nationally.

Council Tax Business Rates
Year Collection Rate Year Collection Rate
2011 97.10% 2011 97.80%
2012 97.30% 2012 98.00%
2013 96.20% 2013 97.80%
2014 96.30% 2014 98.40%
2015 96.20% 2015 99.30%
2016 96.30% 2016 99.30%
2017 96.30% 2017 98.70% 
2018 96.00% 2018 99.22%
2019 92.06% @ 

7/2/20
2019 90.38% @ 

7/2/20

1.3 All debts, taxes and rates are actively pursued and, in most instances, are 
collected with little difficulty.  As a result, debts are monitored to ensure they are 
collected in the most efficient and economical manner and are only considered 
for write off where all means of recovery have been exhausted.  This report will 
provide Members with details of those sums that are over £10,000 in value and 
need to be written off as a result of these processes having been completed.

2 Recovery Procedures Undertaken

2.1    For those sums where a payment is outstanding the following recovery actions are 
undertaken: -

 Bill / Invoice sent.
 Reminder sent.
 Final Notice sent.
 Summons sent.
 Liability Order granted at Magistrates Court for NNDR.
 Telephone debt chasing to make arrangements to pay.
 In appropriate cases home visits are made to make arrangements to pay.
 14 Day Warning Letter or Letter before action sent.  
 Cases referred to Enforcement Agents or Debt Collectors.
 Charging Orders and Land Charges are obtained against the property if 

appropriate.  However, the vast majority of businesses in Sefton are in leased 
properties.

 Statutory Demands issued for Bankruptcy proceedings.
 For cases that are at potential committal and Statutory Demand stage, a 

contracted- Enforcement Agent is undertaking further tracing and propensity to 
pay checks. Where a case is identified with a medium or high propensity to pay 
score then a final attempt at debt recovery will be made by the Enforcement 
Agent. 

Page 236

Agenda Item 11



2.2   If a person or business is having difficulty making the payment, special 
arrangements are used to effect recovery, and this may mean extending the 
period to collect the debt.  Only when all options have been explored would a debt 
be considered for write off.

2.3 There are a number of key reasons why a debt is put forward for write off.  These 
include:

 The debt is uneconomical to collect i.e. the cost of collection. 

 The debtor cannot be found despite all reasonable attempts to trace. The 
Revenues service has access to a credit reference agency database which 
is used for tracing absconded debtors.  Each case is checked against the 
system before a decision is taken to put forward the debt for write off. 

 The debtor is deceased and there is no likely settlement from the estate or 
next of kin. 

 Insolvency and personal bankruptcy where there are no assets to claim 
against and there is no/limited likelihood of settlement.

3.  Approach to Debt Write off

3.1 Bad debt provision - Business Rates proposed for write off relating to the current 
year are not met from the existing provision at 31st March 2019 but will be offset 
against the amount for bad debts included in the 2019/20 NNDR1(Government 
Return). There are also specific bad debt provisions for Council Tax, Housing 
Benefit Overpayments and Sundry Debts.

3.2 Assurance checks – The Debtor accounts proposed for write off will be subject to 
post approval assurance sample checks by the Council’s Assurance Team and if 
necessary, the write off will be reversed.

3.3 Whenever an amount is written off it is possible that further sums may be 
recovered in due course as new information is obtained. This would happen in 
the following instances: 

 Where a new address is found for an absconded debtor attempts will be 
made to recover any outstanding sums. 

 Whenever a firm or individual goes into bankruptcy, liquidation, 
receivership etc., the Council's interest is registered with the Receiver, 
Liquidator etc. and the receiver may pay a dividend to creditors; and

 Companies that have ceased trading but have not entered into insolvency 
may restart their business.

3.4 Reconciliation - following approval for the write off of individual cases, the 
Revenues Manager will provide a reconciliation statement identifying any 
discrepancies that have arisen and reasons for discrepancies.   Schedules of 

Page 237

Agenda Item 11



balances actually written off will accompany the statement and be submitted to 
Financial Management for evidence and monitoring of the bad debt provision.

4. Council’s constitution:

4.1 Within the Council’s financial regulations, debts for any single item or group of 
items up to £10,000 are submitted for approval to the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources and Customer Services in conjunction with the Chief Legal 
and Democratic Officer and the relevant Executive and/or Head of Service. 

4.2 Individual debts above this level (£10,000) require the approval of Audit & 
Governance Committee.  

5. Debts of over £10,000 Identified for Write-Off 

5.1 5 individual accounts with balances over £10,000 and totalling £118,544.30 have 
           been identified for write off. 

5.2 The accounts are summarised as follows: -

All Debts - Write offs over £10,000

Write off Reason No. of 
Cases Amount for Write Off

Gone No Trace 1  £                 12,514.66 
Individual Voluntary Arrangement 1  £                 30,353.99
Liquidation 1  £                 46,240.57 
Unable to Collect - Recovery 
Exhausted 1  £                 14,805.29 
Totals 4  £               103,914.51 

All Debts - Write Offs by Debt Year
Year Amount for Write Off
2009  £                             3,970.15 
2010  £                             3,596.00 
2011  £                             3,680.50 
2012  £                             1,268.01

2017  £                           56,800.53
2018  £                             4,245.33
2019  £                           30,353.99     
Total  £                         103,914.51 

Page 238

Agenda Item 11



Business Rates - Write offs over £10,000

Write off Reason No. of 
Cases Amount for Write Off

Gone No Trace 1  £                 12,514.66 
Individual Voluntary Arrangement 1  £                 30,353.99
Unable to Collect - Recovery 
Exhausted 1  £                 14,805.29 
Totals 3  £                 57,673.94 

All Debts - Write Offs by Debt Year
Year Amount for Write Off
2009  £                             3,970.15 
2010  £                             3,596.00 
2011  £                             3,680.50 
2012  £                             1,268.01

2017  £                           10,559.96
2018  £                             4,245.33
2019  £                           30,353.99     
Total  £                           57,673.94 

Sundry Debts - Write offs over £10,000

Write off Reason No. of 
Cases Amount for Write Off

Liquidation 1  £                 46,240.57 
Totals 1  £                 46,240.57 

Sundry Debts - Write Offs by Debt Year
Year Amount for Write Off 
2017  £                               46,240.57 
Total  £                               46,240.57 

Page 239

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 241

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 243

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Debt Write Off – Terms of Reference 

1 
 

Write Off reason Recovery activity undertaken Checks undertaken When is the debt submitted for 
w/off 

Bankruptcy/DRO • All recovery activity 
temporarily ceases at the 
date of bankruptcy 
regardless of what stage 
in recovery we have 
reached whilst engaging 
with the Insolvency 
Practitioner. 

• Evidence of Bankruptcy Order or Debt 
Relief Order (DRO) can be found at 
Insolvency services website  
www.insolvencydirect.bis.gov.uk/eiir/ 

 

• For Bankruptcy - ensure that if an 
Insolvency Practitioner has been 
appointed that a proof of debt 
document is issued to register our 
claim.  

 

• In instances of Bankruptcy where no 
Insolvency Practitioner is appointed 
this means that no dividend will be 
paid and no proof of debt is required.  

 

• Once a person is declared bankrupt 
or made subject to a DRO no further 
recovery action may be taken against 
the debt.  

• In respect of a DRO - 
immediately as there is no 
Insolvency Practitioner 
involved and no future 
dividend will be paid. 

 

• In respect of Bankruptcy 
whilst we may receive some 
dividend in the future the 
debt is also submitted for 
write off immediately.  

 

• If we subsequently receive a 
dividend the credit reduces 
the amount of the original 
write off and these credits are 
reported as part of our year 
end write off reconciliation file 
to accounts. 

P
age 245

A
genda Item

 11

http://www.insolvencydirect.bis.gov.uk/eiir/
http://www.insolvencydirect.bis.gov.uk/eiir/


Debt Write Off – Terms of Reference 

2 
 

Ceased Trading 
No Assets 

• All recovery activity 
ceases when we are 
satisfied that the 
company has ceased 
trading and there are no 
assets available.  

• For a limited company evidence is 
required from Companies House that 
company is no longer trading.  

 

• Check most recently submitted 
audited accounts to determine if the 
company has any assets available. 

 

• Evidence may also be requested 
regarding bank statements to 
determine no company activity.  

 

• In respect of a sole trader we will 
determine if the sole trader has any 
personal assets.  

 

• In absence of assets there is an 
unrealistic possibility of collection. 

• Once evidence received that 
there are either no company 
assets or individual assets 
the case will be passed for 
write off.  

 

• Credit searches will 
determine if there are any 
personal assets available. 

Deceased No 
Assets 

• All recovery activity 
temporarily ceases at the 
date of death regardless 
of what stage in recovery 
we have reached whilst 
enquiries are made as to 
the value of the estate  

• Evidence of death required.  
 

• Probate register will determine if there 
are any assets. In absence of this, a 
letter from the executor to indicate 
that there are no funds available to 
repay our debt. 

• Once we are satisfied that 
the estate has no funds to 
pay debt off. 

Gone No Trace • All recovery activity 
ceases at the date we 
are aware that a case is 
GNT. Recovery activity 
will recommence if 
located. 

• When a gone away case is identified 
we do Internal system checks.  

 

• Credit Reference search is 
undertaken.  

 

• If unsuccessful pend the case for 6 
months when a further credit search is 
undertaken. If unsuccessful again, 
submit the case for write off. 

• 6 months after original gone 
no trace enquiries were 
made, if a forwarding 
address is still not found. 

  

P
age 246

A
genda Item

 11



Debt Write Off – Terms of Reference 

3 
 

Irrecoverable 
CTRS 

• There is no recovery 
activity with this type of 
write off 

• In these cases, we have agreed not to 
collect an amount of Council Tax 
reduction scheme monies which have 
been reclaimed but deemed as 
irrecoverable. 

• Immediately once identified 
by benefits team 

IVA/CVA • All recovery activity  
ceases at the date an 
I.V.A. is approved. 
regardless of what stage 
in recovery we have 
reached.  

• Individual Voluntary Arrangement and 
Company Voluntary Arrangements - 
These schemes may last for up to 5 
years. The debt should be written off 
immediately.  

 

• We are required to submit a proof of 
debt to the Insolvency Practitioner 
overseeing the scheme.  

 

• We will receive a dividend each year 
pro rata to the total indebtedness of 
the customer. These payments are 
then written back on and form part of 
the overall annual reconciliation 
process. 

 

• If the customer fails to maintain 
payments the IVA fails and the 
original full debt outstanding then 
becomes due and the debt is written 
back on. 

• After the IVA/CVA is 
completed (5 years).  

 

• Annual dividends will reduce 
the original balance. If the 
IVA/CVA fails the debt will 
not be written off as it legally 
becomes due. 

P
age 247

A
genda Item

 11



Debt Write Off – Terms of Reference 

4 
 

Liquidation • All recovery activity 
temporarily ceases at the 
date of liquidation 
regardless of what stage 
in recovery we have 
reached whilst engaging 
with the Insolvency 
practitioner  

• Evidence required from Companies 
House that company has gone into 
liquidation (refer to)– 
www.companieshouse.gov.uk  

 

• If an Insolvency Practitioner has been 
appointed a proof of debt form is 
submitted.  

 

• If no Insolvency Practitioner is 
appointed, and there are no company 
assets available, the balance will be 
submitted for write off. 

• Whist we may receive some 
dividend in the future the 
debt is submitted for write off 
immediately.  

 

• If we subsequently receive a 
dividend the credit reduces 
the amount of the original 
write off and these credits are 
reported as part of our year 
end write off reconciliation file 
to accounts. 

Outside 
Jurisdiction 

• There are certain 
circumstances where we 
can commence recovery 
action but alternative 
methods of service may 
be required subject to 
the country of residence.  

 

• Within our enforcement 
agents contract we have 
an option to use a third-
party specialist debt 
recovery team for high 
balance cases.  

• If the debtor resides in a country 
outside our or our agent’s jurisdiction 
a decision must be taken to see if it is 
cost effective to pursue the debt.  

 

• Each case is looked at on its own 
merits and after a recommendation 
has been given by either our own 
legal team or a third-party partner to 
pursue or not.  

• Subject to the outcome of the 
items mentioned in column b 

Receivership • All recovery activity 
temporarily ceases at the 
date of bankruptcy 
regardless of what stage 
in recovery we have 
reached whilst enquiries 
are made with the 
receivers  

• Evidence required from Companies 
House that company has gone into 
receivership (refer to) 
www.companieshouse.gov.uk 

 

• The Receiver is sent a proof of debt 
form outlining the company debt. 

• Whist we may receive some 
dividend in the future the 
debt is submitted for write off 
immediately. If we 
subsequently receive a 
dividend the credit reduces 
the amount of the original 
write off and these credits are 
reported as part of our year 

P
age 248

A
genda Item

 11

http://www.companieshouse.gov.uk/
http://www.companieshouse.gov.uk/
http://www.companieshouse.gov.uk/


Debt Write Off – Terms of Reference 

5 
 

end write off reconciliation file 
to accounts.  

Small Balance • Minimum requirement is 
to issue a bill. 
Uneconomical to issue 
further notices. 

• Balances of £5 or less where it is not 
economical to pursue the debt. 

• Immediately 

Unable to collect 
- recovery 
exhausted 

• Bill / Invoice sent. 
 

• Reminder / Final Notice 
sent. 

 

• Summons sent. 
 

• Liability Order granted at 
Magistrates Court for 
Council Tax and NNDR. 
  

• Wherever possible 
Attachment of Earnings 
for Sundry Debts and 
Council Tax or a Direct 
Earnings Attachment for 
Housing Benefit 
Overpayment will be set 
up.  
 

• Wherever possible an 
Attachment of Benefit is 
set up for Council Tax 

• All reasonable means of collection 
have been considered and proved 
unsuccessful e.g. Enforcement, 
Attachment, Committal, Bankruptcy, 
Charging Order. 

• Once all the steps indicated 
in column b have been 
undertaken and proved to be 
unsuccessful or 
uneconomical to collect P

age 249

A
genda Item

 11



Debt Write Off – Terms of Reference 

6 
 

and Housing Benefit 
Overpayment. 

 

• Telephone debt chasing 
to make arrangements to 
pay. 

 

• Home visits are made to 
make arrangements to 
pay. 

 

• 14 Day Warning Letter / 
Letter before action sent.   

 

• County Court Judgement 
can be obtained for 
Sundry Debt cases if 
appropriate.  

 

• Cases referred to 
Enforcement Agents / 
Debt Collectors. 

 

• Charging Orders and 
Land 

• Charges put against the 
property if appropriate. 

 

• Committal action taken 
on Council Tax debts 
including surgeries at 
both One Stop shops. 

 

• Statutory Demands 
issued for Bankruptcy 
proceedings. 

P
age 250

A
genda Item

 11



Debt Write Off – Terms of Reference 

7 
 

 

• Cases where all 
available methods of 
enforcement have been 
exhausted are being 
returned to an 
enforcement agent for a 
further attempt to trace a 
new address and provide 
a propensity to pay 
score. Those reported 
with high or medium 
propensity to pay 
undergo a final attempt 
to enforce the debt 
before consideration is 
given to write off. 

Unable to collect 
- over 6 years 
old (Sundry 
Debt /Reclaimed 
Housing Benefit 
and 
unsummoned 
Council 
Tax/NNDR) 

• All debts that have a 
limitation of 6 years 
should have a diary 
event when they are 
getting near to limitation.  

 

• All matters over 4 years 
to be looked at to see if 
any further Legal 
enforcement action could 
be taken.    

• All reasonable means of collection 
have been considered and proved 
unsuccessful e.g. County Court 
Judgement and associated recovery 
activities, Bankruptcy, Charging 
Order.  

• 6 years after the issue of the 
original default notice the 
debt becomes statute barred 
and is uncollectable.  

 

• A Liability Order may not be 
applied for 6 years from the 
date of issue of demand. 

Unable to 
establish 
liability 

• Recovery action will 
temporarily cease once 
the debt is disputed.  

 

• In instances where the 
supporting 
documentation is unclear 
or unavailable, we may 

• The enquiries we or the Sundry Debt 
client teams have undertaken have 
not been sufficient to correctly 
determine liability. 

• As soon as practicable.  
 

• In some cases of larger 
balances these cases must 
receive approval for write off 
from the legal team. 

P
age 251

A
genda Item

 11



Debt Write Off – Terms of Reference 

8 
 

have no other alternative 
but to submit for write 
off.  

 

• Liaison with legal 
department before final 
sign off is required.  

 

P
age 252

A
genda Item

 11


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 External Audit Planning Report - 2019/2020
	EY Audit Planning Report - 2019/2020

	5 Financial Procedure Rules
	Enc. 1 for Financial Procedure Rules

	6 Treasury Management Position to January 2020
	7 Internal Audit Charter and the Internal Audit Plan 2020/21
	Enc. 1 for Internal Audit Charter and the Internal Audit Plan 2020/21 for

	8 Corporate Risk Management
	Enc. 1 for Corporate Risk Management

	9 Risk and Audit Performance
	Enc. 1 for Risk and Audit Performance

	11 Write Off of Irrecoverable Debts > £10,000
	Enc. 1 for Write Off of Irrecovereable Debts more than £10,000
	Enc. 2 for Write Off of Irrecovereable Debts more than £10,000
	Enc. 3 for Write Off of Irrecovereable Debts more than £10,000


